Modelling of MMC-HVDC System for EMT Study

Deyang Guo

A thesis presented in fulfilment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy

Department of Electronic and Electrical Engineering

University of Strathclyde

Glasgow, UK

2020

This thesis is the result of the author's original research. It has been composed by the author and has not been previously submitted for examination which has led to the award of a degree.

The copyright of this thesis belongs to the author under the terms of the United Kingdom Copyright Acts as qualified by University of Strathclyde Regulation 3.50. Due acknowledgement must always be made of the use of any material contained in, or derived from, this thesis.

Signed:

Date:

Abstract

The modular multilevel converter (MMC) technology has been a subject of increasing importance for high voltage direct current (HVDC) systems due to its technical advantages in terms of scalability, performance and efficiency. There are already several MMC-HVDC projects in construction and operation worldwide. Offline and real-time simulations of MMC-HVDC systems prior to project construction are important for both power system operators and electrical equipment suppliers. In electromagnetic-transients (EMT) simulations, significant simulation challenges are brought by MMC-HVDC systems since a large number of sub-modules (SMs) in each MMC have to be simulated individually. Therefore, a detailed investigation on MMC-HVDC modelling methods is of great theoretical and engineering values.

In this thesis, the half-bridge (HB) MMC offline (PSCAD) and real-time (RSCAD) models with adjustable number of SMs per arm with generic and customized control functions are developed using different MMC modelling methods, namely, detailed switching, switching function, Thevenin equivalent and averaged models. The developed models are validated against benchmark models from PSCAD software libraries for accuracy during steady-steady operation, and AC and DC short circuit faults. Simulation efficiencies of different HB-MMC models are compared for offline PSCAD simulation. The comprehensive comparison of the offline simulation waveforms proves that the averaged and switching function HB-MMC models produce largely identical results as those from the Thevenin equivalent MMC model in the PSCAD MMC library, but with much greater simulation efficiency.

In this thesis, interoperability of different MMC topologies, namely, the HB, full-bridge (FB) and hybrid MMCs are assessed quantitatively. Based on the aforementioned modelling methods, FB and hybrid MMC simulation models are developed and validated. Offline and real-time three-terminal DC grid models closely resembling the Caithness-Morey-Shetland HVDC system are developed to investigate DC grid power flow control during steady-state and AC faults. Interoperability of different MMC topologies in the DC grid is assessed quantitatively using offline PSCAD and real-time RSCAD simulations.

Furthermore, a frequency-domain small-signal impedance measurement tool in RSCAD is presented to extract the impedances of MMC and connected AC networks for stability assessment. The scenario of a simplified GB AC network connected to an MMC is provided in RSCAD for real-time simulation use. Focusing on grid-connected converter system, the effect of AC cables and MMC time-domain modelling methods on their impedance are investigated. Through impedance measurement and comparison, it has been found that the different time-domain modelling methods of MMC have no significant effect on the impedance of the MMC. Since most frequency-domain analysis for MMC is based on the averaged model, this conclusion provides a theoretical basis for the frequency-domain MMC modelling research.

Acknowledgements

First and foremost, I would like to express my sincerest gratitude to my supervisor, Prof. Lie Xu for the guidance and support, with his patience and erudition. He not only unselfishly shared knowledge and ideas with me, but also set an example for me in terms of professionalism, research attitude, and life attitude. This will always be a fortune of my life.

I also would like to thank Dr. Grain P. Adam, Dr. Rui Li and Dr. Agustí Egea-Àlvarez for their encouragement, assistance and guidance, which helped me overcome one difficulty after another in my research and project work. I also wish to sincerely thank Yin Chen and Md Habibur Rahman for their great support on the project. Our good teamwork has enabled us to achieve a series of achievements in project work. I want to thank my colleagues from the National HVDC Centre, Yash Audichya, Oluwole Daniel Adeuyi, Ian Cowan and Bharath Ponnalagan, not only for their support in the projects but also for the help during my work at the National HVDC Centre.

I would like to extend my thanks to members of the PEDEC research group and band members of The Bedtime for making my PhD life full of joy.

Finally, I am most grateful to my parents for their unconditional support and endless love; and I want to extend the best wishes for their health and happiness.

List of abbreviations and symbols

Abbreviations

AC	Alternating Current
AM	Averaged Model
APR	Active Power Regulator
CCSC	Circulating Current Suppression Controller
CIGRE	Council on Large Electric Systems
DC	Direct Current
DCVR	DC Voltage Regulator
EMTP	Electromagnetic Transient Program
FB	Full Bridge
FBSM	Full Bridge Submodule
FD	Frequency-dependent model
FFT	Fast Fourier Transform
FPGA	Field-Programmable Gate Array
НВ	Half Bridge
HBSM	Half Bridge Submodule
HIL	Hardware In the Loop
HVAC	High Voltage Alternating Current
HVDC	High Voltage Direct Current
IGBT	Insulated Gate Bipolar Transistor
LCC	Line-Commutated Converter
LPF	Low Pass Filter
MIMO	Multiple-Input-Multiple-Output
MLBS	Maximum-Length Binary Sequence

Modular Multi-level Converter
UK National Grid Electricity Ten Year Statement
Point of Common Coupling
Proportional–Integral
Phase Locked Loop
Positive and Negative
Proportional Resonant
Pulse Width Modulation
Root Mean Square
Real Time Digital Simulator
Switching Function Model
Single-Input-Single-Output
Submodule
Thevenin Equivalent Model
Total Harmonic Distortion
Voltage Source Converter

Symbols (in order of appearance)

V _{dc}	MMC DC link voltage
1dc	SM capacitor voltage
V _{CSM}	SM output voltage
v_{ya}	Upper arm voltage of phase A
i _{ua}	Upper arm current of phase A
i _a	AC output current of phase A
v_a	AC output voltage of phase A
Larm	Arm inductance
R _{arm}	Arm resistance

v_{ceq}	Equivalent capacitor voltage
R _C	Equivalent capacitor resistance
v_{th}	Thevenin equivalent voltage
R _{th}	Thevenin equivalent resistance
V _{carm}	Sum of capacitor voltages in one arm
ΔV_{carm}	Ripple of capacitor voltages in one arm
V _{carm}	Rated arm capacitor voltage
m	AC modulation indix
α_d	DC modulation indix
Р	Active power
Q	Reactive power
i _{com}	Common mode current
i_d^a	DC harmonic component of the arm currents
i_h^a	AC harmonic component of the arm currents
V_m	Peak value of the output phase voltage
I _m	Peak value of the output phase current
$\Delta E(t)$	Energy variation on one arm
i_{capUa}	Upper arm equivalent capacitor currents
<i>i_{capLa}</i>	Lower arm equivalent capacitor currents
C _e	Equivalent SM capacitance for each arm
N _{SM}	The number of SMs in each arm
V_h	Historical SM voltage capacitor voltage value
Δt	Simulation time step
V _{mi}	Output voltage of the i^{th} SM of the arm
$I_c(s)$	Norton equivalent current of the converter
$Z_0(s)$	Norton equivalent impedance of the converter
$V_g(s)$	Thevenin equivalent voltage source of the grid
$Z_g(s)$	Thevenin equivalent output impedance of the grid

$V_{per(ABC)}$	Perturbation voltage injected to phase A, B, C
v_{pg}	Measured grid voltage after perturbation injection
i _{pg}	Measured grid current after perturbation injection
Y _{PP}	The "self" admittance of the positive axes
Y _{NN}	The "self" admittance of the negative axes
Y _{PN}	The "cross" admittance from N to P
Y _{NP}	The "cross" admittance from P to N
f_{FD}	Resonance frequency of the FD model
C _{FD}	Equivalent capacitance of the FD model
C_{PI}	Capacitance in pi-section model
f_{PI}	Resonance frequency of the pi-section model

Table of Contents

Abstract .		II
Acknowledg	gements	IV
List of abbr	veviations and symbols	V
List of Figu	res	XIII
List of Tabl	es	XVII
Chanter 1 I	Introduction	1
1 1 Introd	luction of HVDC system	1
1,1 Introt 1,2 Differ	ent converter topologies in VSC-HVDC	
1.2 Differ	n-level VSC	3
1.2.2 Three	ee-level VSC	
1.2.3 Mod	dular multi-level converters (MMC)	5
1.3 Differ	ent SM topologies of MMC	7
1.4 MMC	efficient modelling	9
1.4.1 MM	IC modelling challenges	9
1.4.2 MM	IC efficient modelling methods	9
1.4.2.1	Full physical-based model	9
1.4.2.2	Detailed switching model	10
1.4.2.3	Thevenin equivalent model	10
1.4.2.4	Switching function model	13
1.4.2.5	Averaged model	14
1.5 Real-t	ime digital simulation of MMC	
1.5.1 Bac	kground	15
1.5.2 Rea	l-time simulation of MMC	16
1.5.2.1	Real-time simulation	16
1.5.2.2	Real-time digital simulator (RTDS)	16
1.5.2.3	Simulation of MMC in real-time	17
1.6 Small	-signal stability assessment of grid-connected MMC systems	
1.6.1 Sma	all-signal stability assessment	
1.6.2 Imp	edance acquisition	19

1.6.3 Impedance-based stability assessment of grid-connected MMC sy	ystems 20
1.7 Research scope and contributions	20
1.7.1 Research scope	20
1.7.2 Thesis contributions	21
1.8 Organisation of the thesis	21
Chapter 2 Principles and control of MMC system	
2.1 Half-bridge modular multilevel converter	23
2.1.1 MMC circuit configuration	23
2.1.2 MMC mathematical model	24
2.2 MMC control system	
2.2.1 MMC modelling	29
2.2.2 The capacitor voltage balancing algorithm	
2.2.3 The inner fundamental current controller	
2.2.4 Positive and negative sequence inner current controllers	
2.2.5 Outer loop controllers	34
2.2.6 Circulating current suppression controller (CCSC)	36
2.2.7 Horizontal capacitor voltage balancing (phase energy balancing)	
2.2.8 Vertical capacitor voltage balancing (arm energy balancing)	40
2.2.9 Overall control system	41
2.3 Summary	43
Chapter 3 MMC efficient modelling for electromagnetic	transients
(EMT) digital simulation	1.4
3.1 MMC efficient modelling methods	
3.1 MMC efficient modelling methods3.1.1 Detailed switching model	44 44 44
3.1 MMC efficient modelling methods3.1.1 Detailed switching model3.1.2 Averaged model	44 44 44
 3.1 MMC efficient modelling methods	
 3.1 MMC efficient modelling methods	44 44 46 49 51
 3.1 MMC efficient modelling methods	
 3.1 MMC efficient modelling methods	

3.2.2.1	Validation during normal steady-state operation	56
3.2.2.2	Three-phase-to-ground AC fault	62
3.2.2.3	Pole-to-pole (P2P) DC short circuit fault	65
3.2.2.4	Comparison of simulation speed	68
3.2.3 Real	l-time model development and validation	68
3.2.3.1	Implementation in RTDS	69
3.2.3.2	Single-phase-to-ground AC fault	71
3.2.3.3	Three-Phase-to-Ground AC Fault	73
3.2.3.4	Pole-to-Pole DC short circuit fault	75
3.3 Summ	ary	78
Chapter 1 I	ntaranarability of different VSC tanalogies in UVD	C arida
Chapter 4 1	interoperating of unterent vSC topologies in 11 v D	
•		
4.1 Altern	ative VSC topologies	79
4.1.1 Mod	delling and control of Full-bridge and Hybrid MMCs	
4.1.1.1	Detailed switching model	
4.1.1.2	Switching function model	83
4.1.1.3	Thevenin equivalent model	86
4.1.1.4	Averaged model	
4.2 Model	l validation	91
4.2.1 Imp	lementation in RTDS	91
4.2.2 Test	system	92
4.2.3 Full	bridge MMC model validation	93
4.2.3.1	Normal operation	93
4.2.3.2	Three-phase-to-ground AC fault	95
4.2.3.3	Pole-to-pole DC short circuit fault with converter blocking	97
4.2.3.4	Pole-to-ground DC fault	
4.2.3.5	DC voltage reversal	
4.2.4 Hyb	rid MMC model validation	103
4.3 DC gr	id containing different MMC topologies	105
4.3.1 DC	grid model development	105
4.3.2 Nor	mal operation	

4.3.3 Response during pole-to-pole DC short circuit fault	107
4.4 Summary	
Chapter 5 Extraction of small-signal impedance for stability as	sessment
•••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••	110
5.1 Background of impedance-based stability assessment	
5.2 Impedance measurement in PN frame	112
5.2.1 Impedance measurement method	112
5.2.2 Time-domain RSCAD model formulation and impedance measured	ment 114
5.2.2.1 The time-domain GB network model	115
5.2.2.2 Impedance measurement of the GB network	119
5.2.2.3 Cable modelling and its impact on grid admittance	121
5.2.3 Impedances of MMC with different time-domain modelling metho	ds 128
5.3 Impedance-based stability assessment	
5.4 Summary	
Chapter 6 General conclusions and future work	138
6.1 General conclusions	
6.2 Author's contributions	140
6.3 Suggestions for future research	141
Reference	142
Appendix: List of publications and reports	153

List of figures

Fig. 1.1 A typical structure for the 2-terminal HVDC transmission1
Fig. 1.2 Two-level VSC: basic structure and single phase output voltage
Fig. 1.3 Three-level VSC: basic structure and output voltage
Fig. 1.4 A typical power circuit for the three-phase MMC
Fig. 1.5 Schematic diagram of staircase modulation of MMC6
Fig. 1.6 MMC SM topologies: (a) HBSM, (b) FBSM
Fig. 1.7 Diagram of an arm of the hybrid MMC8
Fig. 1.8 IGBT model in MMC detailed switching model10
Fig. 1.9 Thevenin equivalent modelling of MMC SM: (a) electrical circuit, (b) switch
elements represented by resistances, (c) capacitor represented by equivalent
resistance and voltage source, (d) Thevenin equivalent circuit
Fig. 1.10 Thevenin equivalent modelling of MMC arm: (a) n SMs in one arm, (b)
equivalent circuit of <i>n</i> SMs12
Fig. 1.11 SM equivalent circuit in the switching function model14
Fig. 1.12 Averaged MMC arm model: (a) n SMs in one arm, (b) averaged model of n
SMs, (c) circuit represent energy dynamics of <i>n</i> SMs15
Fig. 1.13 Diagram of RTDS17
Fig. 2.1 A typical power circuit for the three-phase MMC24
Fig. 2.2 The basic structure of a single-phase MMC
Fig. 2.3 A generic block diagram of an Inner Current Controller
Fig. 2.4 A generic block diagram of a Positive Sequence Inner Current Controller34
Fig. 2.5 A generic block diagram of a Negative Sequence Inner Current Controller34
Fig. 2.6 Generic block diagram of an outer controller
Fig. 2.7 Graphical depiction of PR controller [108]
Fig. 2.8 Complete implementation of the circulating current control in s-domain38
Fig. 2.9 Horizontal capacitor voltage balancing40
Fig. 2.10 Vertical capacitor voltage balancing41

Fig. 3.1 A typical power circuit for the three-phase MMC45
Fig. 3.2 Modular multilevel converter averaged model: (a) arm voltage calculation; (b)
auxiliary circuit to present current path; (c) arm presentation; (d) phase
presentation
Fig. 3.3 Depiction of the MMC model based on the Thevenin equivalent circuit of the
half-bridge sub-modules51
Fig. 3.4 Graphical depiction of the MMC switching function model53
Fig. 3.5 Illustrative test system (power, current and voltage polarities in this figure are
assumed to be positive)
Fig. 3.6 Simulation waveforms during normal operation ('PD', 'SF' and 'Avg' stand
for Thevenin equivalent, switching function and averaged models respectively).61
Fig. 3.7 Comparison of simulated phase-A waveforms during symmetrical three-phase
AC fault compare for different developed MMC models64
Fig. 3.8 Comparison of converter AC voltage and current of the developed MMC
models to symmetrical three-phase AC network fault65
Fig. 3.9 Comparison of simulation waveforms during DC short circuit fault with
different MMC models67
different MMC models
 different MMC models

Fig. 4.5 Graphical depiction of SFM of the hybrid MMC
Fig. 4.6 Thevenin equivalent model of the FB-MMC
Fig. 4.7 Thevenin equivalent model of hybrid MMC
Fig. 4.8 Per arm averaged model of the FB and hybrid MMCs90
Fig. 4.9 A single terminal MMC system modelling method in RTDS91
Fig. 4.10 Simulation waveforms with different FB-MMC models during normal
operation: 20-SM SFM, TEM and AM)95
Fig. 4.11 Simulation waveforms with different FB-MMC models during a three-phase-
to-ground AC fault97
Fig. 4.12 Simulation waveforms with different offline and real-time FB-MMC models
(SFM, TEM and AM) during DC short circuit fault when converter blocking
activated 50µs after fault inception98
Fig. 4.13 Simulation waveforms with different offline and real-time FB-MMC models
during pole-to-ground DC fault when a pole restraining is enabled 0.6s after fault
inception
Fig. 4.14 Simulation waveforms that compare the transient behaviours of the user-
defined offline and real-time FB-MMC models (SFM, TEM and AM) during DC
voltage reversal
Fig. 4.15 Simulation waveforms with offline and real-time hybrid MMC AM models
during DC short circuit fault when a DC fault current control is enabled105
Fig. 4.16 Illustrative DC grid with multiple converter topologies
Fig. 4.17 Simulation waveforms during normal operation variation with the PSCAD
and RSCAD models: (a) active powers of the T1, T2 and T3, (b) DC voltage of
the converter terminal T3107
Fig. 4.18 Simulation waveforms during a pole-to-pole DC fault: (a) Pole-to-pole DC
fault measured at the fault point, (b) DC-link current measured at DC terminals
of converters T_1 , T_2 and T_3 , (c) Active powers of the converter terminals T_1 , T_2
and T_3 , and (d), (e) and (f) samples of the upper and lower arm currents of the
converter terminals T_1 , T_2 and T_3
Fig. 5.1 Impedance based Small-signal equivalent circuit
Fig. 5.2 Implementation of the frequency sweep
Fig. 5.3 RSCAD implementation of the AC network and MMC models

Fig. 5.4 (a) Regional map of the UK Electricity Transmission System[69]; and (b)
Simplified 8-bus GB network representation116
Fig. 5.5 The 8-bus network model implemented in RTDS116
Fig. 5.6 Impedance measuring point of the GB network (excluding cable)119
Fig. 5.7 Measured network admittance seen at the network terminal120
Fig. 5.8 AC cable structure
Fig. 5.9 Layout of AC cable model in Cable_V2 tool (RSCAD)
Fig. 5.10 Impedance measuring point of the AC network including HVAC cable123
Fig. 5.11 Grid admittance versus different cable length
Fig. 5.12 Equivalent AC cable model using RLC representation
Fig. 5.13 Comparison of Grid admittances with 60 km HVAC cable using lumped
RLC PI section model and frequency-dependent cable model126
Fig. 5.14 Grid admittance using the revised lumped RLC model127
Fig. 5.15 Impedance measurement of the MMC128
Fig. 5.16 Admittances comparison of averaged model and SFM with different levels 129
Fig. 5.17 Admittances of SFM (20 SMs per arm) with the magnitude of perturbation
voltage increased to 8kV
Fig. 5.18 A grid-connected converter system used for impedance-based stability
assessment
Fig. 5.19 Admittance of the MMC for stability analysis use
Fig. 5.20 Admittance of the AC grid for stability analysis use134
Fig. 5.21 Nyquist diagram of the grid-connected converter system
Fig. 5.22 PCC currents and voltages

List of tables

Table 1: Test system parameters	55
Table 2 MMC system control parameters	55
Table 3 Comparison of simulation speed using different MMC models	68
Table 4 Parameter of the generators (per unit values base on the rated voltage	ge of
13.8kV)	117
Table 5 Parameter of the loads	118
Table 6 Parameters of the transmission lines (at 50 Hz)	118
Table 7 Cable parameters from the PROMOTioN Project	122
Table 8 AC voltage THD of the 3 models when a 167hz perturbation voltage is inj	ected
	130

Chapter 1 Introduction

1.1 Introduction of HVDC system

The first commercial electrical power generator was a direct current (DC) generator, and consequently, the first power transmission system was constructed using DC [1][2]. Although DC had been developed and applied firstly, alternating current (AC) replaced DC for greater uses driven by the emergence of transformers and induction motors in the 1880s and 1890s [1][2]. Transformers make it very convenient to change the voltage level for transmission and distribution of electrical power. Induction motors are rigid and robust but work only with AC system. It is for these reasons that AC become the universal power transmission system [3][4]. However, for some long-distance transmissions, due to the economic, technical and environmental advantages, high voltage DC (HVDC) can be more advantageous than the AC counterpart [5][6].

Generally, in an HVDC system, power is obtained from an AC network, converted to DC in a converter station, transmitted to the receiving point via overhead lines or DC cables, and then is injected into the receiving AC network through another converter station as schematically shown in Fig. 1.1.



Fig. 1.1 A typical structure for the 2-terminal HVDC transmission

In the HVDC system, the power flow can be controlled accurately and quickly given a set power level and direction. There are many reasons to choose HVDC over HVAC for a particular project, and the considerations involved are also complex. Here are some common reasons for choosing HVDC [3]-[6]:

- Highly efficient long-distance power transmission
- Provision of fully controlled power flow in either direction
- Limited short-circuit currents
- Asynchronous interconnections capability
- Lower environmental impact

The first commercial HVDC transmission project in the world (a 20MW, 100kV submarine DC cable transmission project from mainland Sweden to Gotland) was put into operation in 1954 [7], marking the birth of the first generation of DC transmission technology based on mercury arc valves. In the early 1970s, thyristors began to be used in HVDC power transmission systems and soon replaced mercury arc valves, marking the birth of the second generation of HVDC power transmission technology using line commutated converters (LCC). In 1990, voltage source converters (VSC) based HVDC transmission technology was proposed by researchers at McGill University in Canada [8][9]. Since the 1990s, VSC using high-frequency semiconductor switches with fast gate turn-off capabilities and pulse width modulation (PWM) technology have been used in HVDC transmission, marking the birth of the third generation of HVDC transmission technology [8][9].

The use of VSC as opposed to an LCC offers the following advantages [10]:

- Reactive power compensation is not required by VSC. In addition, VSC can dynamically compensate the reactive power to the AC system.
- Independent control of both active and reactive power.
- VSC offers the possibility to supply passive networks, overcoming the fundamental drawback of LCC as it can only connect to active networks.
- The VSC output voltage has a lower harmonic content. This feature of VSC further reduces the filtering requirements.
- Avoidance of commutation failures due to disturbances in the connected AC network.
- VSC converter station has a smaller footprint than that is required by LCC converter station.

Given that VSC has many advantages and broader application prospects than LCC, most of the HVDC projects currently under construction or being planned are VSC-HVDC schemes. Therefore, this thesis is also focused on VSC-HVDC systems.

1.2 Different converter topologies in VSC-HVDC

The development of power-electronic and controllable devices in power systems, especially the improvements in the voltage and current ratings of fully controlled power-electronic devices, is expending the applications of VSC-HVDC systems. There are three main VSC structures used in the existing VSC-HVDC projects, namely, two-level converters, three-level converters and modular multi-level converters (MMC).

1.2.1 Two-level VSC

The two-level converter has the simplest structure. It has six arms, each of which consists of a switch (IGBT switches are used in this thesis as they are the most used technology) and an antiparallel diode, as shown in Fig. 1.2 (a). With reference to the DC neutral point, the two-level converter phase output has two voltage levels, i.e., $+\frac{V_{dc}}{2}$ and $-\frac{V_{dc}}{2}$. By applying PWM techniques, the output two-level voltage resembles a sine wave fundamental with significant harmonics around the switching frequency and multiple of it, as shown in Fig. 1.2 (b).

A number of VSC-HVDC transmission projects developed by ABB in the 1990s used the 2-level topologies, e.g. the Hällsjön HVDC project, the first test transmission with a $3MW \pm 10kV$ link between Hällsjön and Grängesberg, begin to operate in March 1997; the Gotland HVDC project, the first test commercial transmission, started trial operation in 1999 [10][7]. The typical switching frequency used was 1950Hz [10][7].



(a) Basic structure



(b) Single phase output voltage Fig. 1.2 Two-level VSC: basic structure and single phase output voltage

1.2.2 Three-level VSC

Fig. 1.3 (a) shows the basic structure of a 3-level diode clamped VSC [11]. Each phase of the 3-level VSC can generate three voltage levels with reference to the DC neutral point, i.e., $+\frac{V_{dc}}{2}$, 0 and $-\frac{V_{dc}}{2}$. The 3-level VSC can produce better quality output voltage waveforms compared to that from 2-level with reduced harmonic contents, as shown in Fig. 1.3 (b). The Eagle Pass 36MW back-to-back VSC-HVDC Project developed by ABB

used such a 3-level configuration, and harmonic elimination PWM technique was used with switching frequency of 1260 Hz [12][13][14].



Fig. 1.3 Three-level VSC: basic structure and output voltage

1.2.3 Modular multi-level converters (MMC)

VSC-HVDC systems using the Modular Multilevel Converter (MMC) technology was developed in 2003 [15][16] and was first used in the Trans Bay Cable Project (TBC) in the U.S. in 2010 [17]. MMC contains large numbers of submodules (SMs) in each converter arm, as shown in Fig. 1.4. The typical structure of an SM is also shown in Fig. 1.4. By changing the state of the IGBTs in the SM, the SM can generate an output voltage of with 0 or v_{CSM} . This enables the MMC to generate a sinusoidal voltage from a DC

source as shown in Fig. 1.5 by switching in or out of the SMs in each arm to control the voltage of the phase.



Fig. 1.4 A typical power circuit for the three-phase MMC



Fig. 1.5 Schematic diagram of staircase modulation of MMC

Compared with traditional 2- and 3-level VSCs, MMC offers significant advantages:

- Modular realization of its power circuit makes scalability to different power and voltage levels simpler by changing the number of SMs per arms [15][16].
- MMC with a large number of SMs generates a sinusoidal output voltage with very low harmonics [16]-[20].
- Because the SMs are switched sequentially, the operating frequency of each semiconductor switch and the voltage step to be switched are reduced so that the switching loss of MMC is very low, accounting for around 30% of the total semiconductor power loss, compared to about 70% for two-level VSCs [21-28].
- The use of distributed SM capacitors instead of concentrated DC link capacitors as in conventional two-level VSCs prevents the SM capacitors from discharging during DC faults [29]. Thus, the fault current from MMC during pole-to-pole DC short circuits is much smaller than the transient discharge current of the concentrated DC link capacitors from the two-level VSC. This is beneficial in easing the design requirement for DC circuit breakers [29][30].

1.3 Different SM topologies of MMC

According to the converter topology used in the SMs, there are 3 main MMC configurations.

In Fig. 1.6 (a), the typical structure of a half-bridge (HB) SM is shown. The output voltage of an HBSM v_{SM} equals to the capacitor voltage v_{CSM} when inserted (S₁ is ON) and approximately equals to zero when bypassed (S₂ is ON). The switching states of the SMs are determined by the control system. When MMC was first proposed, it is HBSM that was used [15][16]. In this thesis, HB-MMC is used to describe MMC with all SMs using HB topology.

The full-bridge (FB) SM as shown in Fig. 1.6 (b) was introduced in [31]. As shown, the output voltage of FBSM has three states: $v_{SM} \approx v_{CSM}$ when positively inserted; $v_{SM} \approx 0$ when bypassed; $v_{SM} \approx -v_{CSM}$ when negatively inserted. The advantage when compared to HB-MMC is that MMC with FBSM has DC fault blocking capability and greater controllability [32]. However, since the number of semiconductor devices of an FBSM is twice that of an HBSM, the devices cost and power losses of FB-MMC are higher compared to HB-MMC [32].



Fig. 1.6 MMC SM topologies: (a) HBSM, (b) FBSM

By combing FB and HB SMs in each arm, as shown in Fig. 1.7, hybrid MMC was introduced in [33]. As shown, each arm has n SMs, comprising f FBSMs and (n - f) HBSMs. Due to the inclusion of FBSMs (when the number of FBSMs is sufficient), the hybrid MMC can block DC faults while in the same time it has lower losses and capital costs than FB-MMC[34]-[35].

All the three MMC topologies will be studied in this thesis, and detailed descriptions will be provided in the later chapters.



Fig. 1.7 Diagram of an arm of the hybrid MMC

1.4 MMC efficient modelling

1.4.1 MMC modelling challenges

From the above discussions, it is clear that the significant performance improvements and high reliability and availability of the MMC are achieved at the expense of increased complexity of the power circuit and control due to the required large numbers of SMs. Although the use of distributed SM in modular multilevel converter has facilitated the scalability of the converter, it has resulted in the converter with many complex dynamics. There are already several MMC projects in construction and operation worldwide. Simulating MMC prior to project construction is important for both power system operators and electrical equipment suppliers. However, a large number of SM capacitors and switching devices in each MMC present significant simulation challenges, computationally and memory-wise. The challenges of MMC simulation mainly comes from the following two aspects:

- Large numbers of nodes: Due to the large numbers of SMs in each MMC, the electrical node number is very high, which results in large admittance matrix of the converter, and inversing the large-scale matrix is hugely time-consuming during time-domain simulation [36][37][38].
- Internal dynamics of SMs: Switches are switched on and off at high frequency, so the charge and discharge state of each capacitor almost changes at each short simulation step.

1.4.2 MMC efficient modelling methods

Accurate and computational efficient MMC models are therefore required. Many different types of MMC models have been developed in several publications.

1.4.2.1 Full physical-based model

The full physical-based model with semiconductor physics models employed can accurately account for converter losses and approximate the switching devices' non-linear characteristics [39]. However, based on the current conventional computing power, it is more suitable for circuit simulation study considering a limited number of SMs rather

than power system simulation study as it can take a very long time to simulate even a single converter [40].

1.4.2.2 Detailed switching model

In the detailed switching model, the IGBT switches with anti-parallel diodes are modelled using an ideal controlled switch and two non-ideal diodes as shown in Fig. 1.8. The diodes are modelled as nonlinear resistances using the classical diode function with nonlinear characteristics from manufacturer data sheets or real measurements. By simplifying switching elements, the detailed switching model gains higher efficiency compared with the full physical-based model. However, the full detail model is still not competent for the simulation of systems with many MMCs or large DC grid as the simulation efficiency is still not high enough. This model can be used to verify the accuracy of the further simplified models or to analyse the abnormal operation of SMs [40].



Fig. 1.8 IGBT model in MMC detailed switching model

1.4.2.3 *Thevenin equivalent model*

The Thevenin equivalent model proposed in [37] uses two-state resistance $(R_{ON} \text{ and } R_{OFF})$ to represent the IGBTs' switching states and uses Electromagnetic Transient Program (EMTP) theory[41] to calculate the dynamics of the SM capacitance so that a whole arm can be represented by a Thevenin equivalent circuit. The goal of this model is to perform Thevenin equivalent of each SM, so as to algebraically superimpose all the SMs in one arm. There are three modelling steps in the Thevenin equivalent model.

The first step is the simplification of switching elements. Based on the detailed switching model, switch elements shown in Fig. 1.9(a) are further simplified. When the IGBT is on, the resistance value of the switching group is equal to R_{ON} , whereas when the switch

group is off, the resistance value is equal to R_{OFF} [42]. Since the parallel connection of an IGBT and a diode acts as a bidirectional switch and only one device is conducting at a given instance, the pair is considered as a single two-state resistance [37]. In [43], different voltages across the IGBT and diode are considered in order to obtain a more accurate value of resistance. However, this does increase the simulation burden while the gain on improved accuracy is limited [40]. The off-state resistance R_{OFF} is typically set to a very higher value, such as $1 \times e^6 \Omega$ compared with the typical value $1 \times e^{-2} \Omega$ of the on-state resistance R_{ON} [44]. Fig. 1.9 (b) shows the SM model after simplification of the switch elements, where R_1 and R_2 represent the equivalent resistances of upper and lower switching group S_1 and S_2 in the SM respectively. The switching state of each IGBT is determined by the MMC control system which will be discussed in Chapter 2.



Fig. 1.9 Thevenin equivalent modelling of MMC SM: (a) electrical circuit, (b) switch elements represented by resistances, (c) capacitor represented by equivalent resistance and voltage source, (d) Thevenin equivalent circuit

The second step is to model the capacitors. In addition to implementing the simplification of switching devices, the dynamics of the capacitors need to be discretized for use in the Thevenin's equivalent model. The trapezoidal integration method is most commonly used by Electromagnetic Transient Program (EMTP) to solve the system's different equations [40][37]. This method was first applied to MMC in [37] so that the capacitor can be represented as an equivalent voltage source in series with an impedance [38] as shown in Fig. 1.9 (c). In Fig. 1.9, Thevenin equivalent resistance R_c and equivalent capacitor voltage source v_{ceq} which are both time variant are used to mimic the behaviour of capacitor C_{SM} . R_c and v_{ceq} . In the simulation, the arm current is introduced into the calculation to update and iterate the SM equivalent capacitor voltage v_{ceq} at each simulation time step. The calculation process will be shown in detail in Chapter 3.

The third step is applying Thevenin's theorem to the circuit shown in Fig. 1.9 (c) to obtain the Thevenin equivalent circuit of the SM as shown in Fig. 1.9 (d).

As each SM in the arm is simplified into the Thevenin equivalent circuit shown in Fig. 1.9 (d), combining the capacitor voltage information and the switching state of each SM, SMs connected in series in the arm can be represented by an equivalent voltage source in series with an equivalent resistance as shown in Fig. 1.10. Specific calculation details will be given in Chapter 3.



Fig. 1.10 Thevenin equivalent modelling of MMC arm: (a) n SMs in one arm, (b) equivalent circuit of n SMs

In Thevenin equivalent model, each arm is represented by Thevenin equivalent circuit, so that not only the number of electrical nodes is significantly reduced, but also the number of nodes is no longer related to the number of SMs. In [40] and [43], the accuracy of this model has been verified. Variants of the Thevenin equivalent model have also been proposed in [45][46].

1.4.2.4 Switching function model

In the Thevenin equivalent model, the modelling step-3 in which the Thevenin's theorem is applied requires the simulation platform to perform Thevenin equivalent operations for each SM. Although Thevenin's equivalent operation has low mathematical complexity, the amount of this operation increases with the number of SMs, and when the number of SMs is large, it can still lead to significant calculation requirement. Switching function model uses switching-function-based simplification instead of Thevenin's theorem to achieve higher efficiency.

In practice, the off-resistance R_{OFF} of the IGBT is significantly larger than the onresistance R_{ON} ., Thus, the off-state of IGBT can be considered as an open circuit ($R_{OFF} = \infty$) with negligible impact on model accuracy [47].

Using the same simplification of switch elements and capacitor as described in Section 1.4.2.3, the SM circuit as shown in Fig. 1.11 is obtained. When the SM is inserted, SM equivalent resistance R_{sf} equals to IGBT on-state resistance R_{ON} plus capacitor equivalent resistance R_c and the SM equivalent voltage v_{sf} equals to capacitor equivalent voltage v_{ceq} ; when the SM is bypassed, $R_{sf} = R_{ON}$ and $v_{sf} = 0$. So that the calculation of Thevenin equivalent circuit required in the Thevenin equivalent model is avoided, yielding higher computation efficiency.



Fig. 1.11 SM equivalent circuit in the switching function model

1.4.2.5 Averaged model

The generalized averaging method uses simplified functions and controlled sources in order to replicate the average response of the converters [50]. The averaged model has been successfully developed and widely used for modelling wind turbine [51], 3-level VSC [52] and many other areas of power systems [53]. This method was introduced to MMC-HVDC system in [54], and validation against detailed switching models was introduced in [55].

Averaged model maintains the dynamic and steady-state characteristics of the MMC but neglects the individual difference of each SM by assuming that the capacitor voltages are totally balanced among the SMs [55][56][57]. Since IGBTs and diodes are not explicitly modelled and differences of SMs are ignored, dynamics of SM capacitors in one arm are represented by one equivalent capacitor as shown in Fig. 1.12 (c). The controlled current source in Fig. 1.12 (c) is determined by the arm current and the proportion of inserted SMs in the *n* SMs. According to the voltage of the equivalent capacitor v_{C_arm} and the proportion of inserted SMs in arm, v_{arm} of the equivalent voltage source in Fig. 1.12 (b) is obtained. Details will be discussed in Chapter 3.

This model reduces the number of MMC nodes and greatly simplifies the internal dynamics of the SMs, and thus achieves higher efficiency than the other models. However,

the cost is that the differences between the SMs are ignored, which makes it not suitable for SM level study.



Fig. 1.12 Averaged MMC arm model: (a) n SMs in one arm, (b) averaged model of nSMs, (c) circuit represent energy dynamics of n SMs

1.5 Real-time digital simulation of MMC

1.5.1 Background

Simulation is an important and necessary step in the development, design and testing of power generation and transmission system. There is a variety of analogue and digital simulation tools available, and different simulation tools are used at various stages of the system development process [40]. The necessity of simulating the electromagnetic transient phenomena in the power system is that such simulation can study the stress on the device and its influence on the power system under abnormal operating conditions.

The traditional analogue transient research method is to utilize the simulator composed of scaled-down power system components connected in a similar way of the real system. Another method is based on the mathematical representation of the system and its dynamics. This kind of digital electromagnetic transients simulation was first described by H. Dommel in 1969 [58]. While unlike the analogue simulators which operate in real-time, most digital simulation platforms operate in non-real-time and the simulation speed depends on the complexity of the model and the computing power that the simulation platform can schedule.

1.5.2 **Real-time simulation of MMC**

1.5.2.1 Real-time simulation

A digital real-time simulator needs to solve the model equations for one time-step within the same time in the real-world clock [59]. Because of the characteristics of real-time simulation, this kind of simulation can be full digital simulation or hardware in the loop (HIL) simulation. In [60], a digital simulation platform based on a workstation was introduced to realize the real-time digital simulation of a small-scale power system. The HIL simulation refers to the situation that parts of the system are replaced by actual physical components, which means that physical devices and control platforms, such as power system protection and control devices or power electronics devices, can be connected to the simulated system in a closed-loop. The interaction between the network and protection, control, and power devices during system transients can then be studied in detail. Since the HIL test can be widely used for the development and testing of devices without connecting the device to a real system, this provides real-time simulation with a unique advantage over offline simulations [61]. Because of the broad application prospect of real-time simulation, more complicated calculation methods and more powerful processors have been gradually introduced into this field to realize the real-time digital simulation of large-scale power systems [62].

1.5.2.2 Real-time digital simulator (RTDS)

In this thesis, real-time digital simulator (RTDS) developed by RTDS Technologies is used as shown in Fig. 1.13 [62]. RTDS is a combination of real-time operation, flexible I/O, graphical user interface and an extensive library of accurate power system component models allowing engineers to validate the performance of power system devices and derisk deployment[63].

On the user workstation side, the software RSCAD is used to interact with the simulator to complete tasks such as graphical programming, compilation, code transfer, and data reception. In RSCAD, models built by users using graphical programming are compiled and sent to the simulator. In the simulation device, PB5 and GPC processors are used to perform real-time calculations on the codes downloaded from RSCAD. During the real-time simulation process, the simulator can send the calculation results to RSCAD in real-time for users to read and observe. The physical connections between devices under test

and the simulator are detected and reflected in RSCAD. The RTDS simulator can also connect to physical devices, e.g., protective relays, automation controllers, power electronic controls and power hardware, through analogue & digital I/O or ethernet-based I/O to form HIL test platform.



Fig. 1.13 Diagram of RTDS

1.5.2.3 Simulation of MMC in real-time

In order to realize the simulation of MMC on the real-time simulation platform, many methods have been proposed [62]-[68]. The common point of these methods is that the internal dynamics of the SMs and SM capacitor voltage balancing control are processed using the Field Programmable Gate Array (FPGA) devices. FPGA devices are more and more used due to the capacity to execute algorithm in parallel. The real-time simulation platform and FPGA form a HIL heterogeneous computing structure to complete the simulation. However, this method has some limitations, such as:

- Increased costs
- Separate coding and modelling on the FPGA and real-time simulation system limits the usability of the whole system

Due to the above reasons, commercial real-time simulation platforms, such as RTDS, have introduced expansion cards integrated with FPGA to implement MMC simulation specifically [67][68]. However, such expansion cards with built-in MMC models lack user-defined flexibility to some extent. In fact, on the RTDS simulation platform, the FPGA based SM-level MMC models lack user-definability, as the averaged model that can be run is provided as "black-box" models with predefined inputs and outputs and with

no access to the internal converter structure and system control by the users. The restricted access to critical internal converter and control system variables that describe system dynamics may hinder understanding of potential issues that may arise at converter and system levels. Therefore, to aid future network development, and identify potential problems and solutions, it is essential that accurate and high-fidelity converter models are available for system studies.

1.6 Small-signal stability assessment of grid-connected MMC systems

It is expected that in the next ten years, HVDC transmission links and converterinterfaced renewable sources will proliferate in the GB network, for example, the Norway-England HVDC link, the Seagreen offshore wind farm, the Dogger Bank wind farm and other projects [69]. The large-scale adoption of power electronic converters paves the way towards modern power grids with high flexibility, sustainability and improved efficiency. However, it will significantly change the characteristics of the GB grid and posing new challenges to the stability of the power system. Compared to traditional synchronous generators where dynamics are dictated by the characteristics of the machines, converter dynamics are mainly established by the converter control structure and gains. Power converters are commonly equipped with multiple control, and grid synchronisation loops for regulating the current and power exchanged with the AC grid [70]. The wide timescale control dynamics of converters can result in a coupled effect with both electromechanical dynamics of electrical generators and electromagnetic transients of power networks and can lead to oscillations across a wide frequency range.

1.6.1 Small-signal stability assessment

In 1976, Middlebrook first presented the criterion that an electrical system is stable if the Nyquist contour of the product of the source impedance and load admittance remains within the unit circle [71]. Since then, impedance-based stability analysis has been used for the power system, and a number of stability criteria have been proposed that include magnitude and phase of the impedance [72][73]. Recent studies have presented that a grid-connected converter system can be considered as a multiple-input-multiple-output (MIMO) system and related identification techniques and stability assessment methods can be used in this study [74][75]. The impedance-based stability criterion of grid-
connected inverters was proposed in [74]. If the ratio between the grid impedance and the converter impedance satisfies the Nyquist stability criterion, the system will remain stable. In order to ensure stability analysis based on this technology, the potential problem is how to obtain accurate system and converter impedances.

1.6.2 Impedance acquisition

There are two main ways to obtain impedances, one is to build a small-signal frequencydomain model of the system to be studied, and the other is the measuring method. The two approaches have different advantages and are suitable for various application fields.

Many small-signal MMC models have been proposed [76]-[81]. Based on the averaged MMC model without considering the dynamics of the individual SMs in each arm, converter-level internal dynamics and controllers are modelled in detail. From the detailed mathematical model, when applying small-signal stability analysis using impedances calculated from the analytical models, the effects of different control strategies and different controller parameters on system stability can be studied. However, this method is only valid for those power system devices or components whose internal structure is known. Therefore, it is not possible to obtain the impedance of 'black box' or the devices whose manufacturer keeps the internal structure confidential [82].

Impedance can be measured if adequate time-domain system model is available, and the method is much easier than establishing small-signal models. Thus, extraction of impedance has become more and more important in many applications [72][82][83][84]. Methods of extracting impedance by injecting perturbation signals have been widely used for both AC and DC systems [85]-[94]. For the AC system, the injection techniques are usually applied in DQ-frame [87][88][82][83]. Disturbance signals at different frequencies are injected into the system, and the corresponding frequency response can be measured for impedance calculation. In addition, other types of injection signals are proposed for online grid impedance identification, including the impulse signal, maximum-length binary sequence (MLBS) signals [75][90], PWM signals [92]-[94], and so on.

1.6.3 Impedance-based stability assessment of grid-connected MMC systems

Small-signal impedance measurement and impedance-based stability analysis of gridconnected converter systems have been discussed in several publications. However, in [75][76][95], AC grid is modelled as a 3-phase ideal voltage source in series with an RL branch, whereas in [75][76][82][83][91], the connection cable is either modelled as a simple inductance or being ignored. References [76]-[81] focus on MMC impedancebased stability assessment use averaged MMC model directly without considering the influence of using the simplified models on the impedance. These simplifications ignore many details, which can significantly impact on the impedance characteristics and impedance measurement.

1.7 **Research scope and contributions**

1.7.1 Research scope

The main purpose of this research work is to develop and validate detailed and accurate offline and real-time RTDS models of MMC and DC grids. Such models deliver a useful platform for a variety of offline and real-time studies to be carried out with good accuracy for real-time implementation without relying on external FPGAs. Impedance measurement of typical AC grid and MMC are also carried out for stability studies.

The main objectives and scopes of this research are as follow:

- To develop detailed SM-level MMC models that can facilitate testing of MMC control and protection solutions in offline and real-time, offer the users the means to use as a strong basis for explorations of multi-vendor schemes. Different modelling methods are applied and compared.
- To examine the suitability of the developed offline and real-time converter models for a detailed assessment of interoperability of MMCs with different topologies in a meshed DC grid.
- To investigate the impedance measurement from the developed time-domain MMC models and typical AC network for assessing the stability of grid-connected converter systems.

1.7.2 Thesis contributions

The main contributions of the thesis can be summarised as follows:

- Detailed submodule (SM) level half-bridge (HB), full-bridge (FB) and hybrid MMC models with adjustable number of SMs per arm and generic and customized control functions are developed and validated against benchmark models from PSCAD software libraries. The developed MMC models can facilitate testing of MMC control and protection solutions in offline and real-time, offer the users the means to use as a strong basis for explorations of multi-vendor schemes.
- Offline and real-time three-terminal DC grid models closely resembling the Caithness-Morey-Shetland HVDC system are developed to investigate DC grid power flow control during steady-state and AC faults. Interoperability of different MMC topologies in a DC grid is assessed quantitatively using offline PSCAD and real-time RSCAD simulations.
- Development of a RSCAD frequency measurement tool to extract impedances of an MMC and connected AC network for stability assessment. The scenario of GB AC network connected to an MMC is given in RSCAD for RTDS based real-time simulation use. Focusing on the grid-connected converter system, how the AC cable and MMC time-domain models that affect the impedance has been explored.

1.8 **Organisation of the thesis**

This thesis is organised as follows:

Chapter 2 Principles and control of MMC system

The basic principles of MMC systems, including the structure and mathematical model, and the control strategy is presented.

Chapter 3 MMC efficient modelling for electromagnetic transients (EMT) digital simulation

The main modelling methods for simulation of the MMC, namely, detailed switching, switching function, Thevenin equivalent and averaged models are discussed. Focusing on HB-MMC, the aforementioned modelling methods are applied in offline PSCAD and real-time simulator RTDS. Detailed quantitative comparison of HB-MMC modelling

methods are presented offline and real-time considering a normal steady-steady operation, AC and DC short circuit fault. Simulation efficiencies of different HB-MMC models are compared using the offline simulation times.

Chapter 4 Interoperability of different VSC topologies in HVDC grids

The main modelling methods for simulation of the MMC, namely, detailed switching, switching function, Thevenin equivalent and averaged models are developed and validated for FB- MMC and hybrid MMC consisting of 50% FB SMs and 50% HB. The suitability of the developed offline and real-time averaged converter models for the detailed assessment of interoperability of different converters in a meshed DC grid is examined. Interoperability of an HB-MMC, FB-MMC and hybrid MMC are assessed quantitatively using offline PSCAD and real-time RSCAD simulations.

Chapter 5 Extraction of small-signal impedance for stability assessment

In this chapter, an impedance measurement tool in RSCAD is presented to extract the impedances of MMC and connected AC network. A simplified GB AC network is modelled based on real power flow data and is applied in the test system. The impact of AC cables on the AC grid impedance and the influence of MMC modelling methods on the MMC impedance are studied. The method of impedance extraction in time-domain and the impedance-based stability analysis is also shown.

Chapter 5 General conclusions and future work

This chapter draws the conclusions from work presented in the previous chapters and present future work for further investigation in the related subject area.

Chapter 2 Principles and control of MMC system

In this chapter, the basic principles of MMC systems, including the basic structure and mathematical model of MMC and the control strategy is presented. All the discussions in this chapter are based on the half-bridge MMC. Compared with full-bridge MMC and hybrid MMC, half-bridge MMC needs the least total number of power electronic devices and has the lowest cost under the same capacity [32][34]. These advantages obtained by half-bridge MMC are at the expense of DC fault blocking capability [32][34]. The characteristics of full-bridge and hybrid structures, as well as trade-offs among different topologies, will be discussed in detail in Chapter 4.

2.1 Half-bridge modular multilevel converter

2.1.1 MMC circuit configuration

A typical power circuit for the three-phase MMC is shown in Fig. 2.1, and the O point represents the zero potential reference point, i.e., DC middle point. The converter has six bridge arms, each of which is composed of an arm inductor and N numbers of SMs, and the upper and lower bridge arms in the same phase form a phase unit. The total blocking

voltage of the half-bridge SM capacitors in each MMC arm is $V_{carm} = \sum_{j=1}^{N} V_{C,j} \ge V_{dc}$, where

N is the number of half-bridge SMs per arm, $V_{C,j}$ is the capacitor voltage of the jth SM,. Fig. 2.1 also shows the structure of a single half-bridge SM, where v_{SM} is the output voltage of the SM.



Fig. 2.1 A typical power circuit for the three-phase MMC

2.1.2 MMC mathematical model

From Fig. 2.1, the sum of SMs output voltages of the upper and lower arms of phase '*A*' can be expressed as:

$$v_{ua} \approx \frac{1}{2} V_{dc} - R_{arm} \dot{i}_{ua} - L_{arm} \frac{d}{dt} \dot{i}_{ua} - v_a$$

$$\tag{2.1}$$

$$v_{la} \approx \frac{1}{2} V_{dc} - R_{arm} i_{la} - L_{arm} \frac{d}{dt} i_{la} + v_a$$

$$\tag{2.2}$$

Providing the magnitudes of the AC and DC voltage drops in the arm inductors are much smaller than the DC link voltage V_{dc} and AC output voltage, (2.1) and (2.2) can be approximated as:

$$v_{ua} \approx \frac{1}{2}V_{dc} - v_a \approx \frac{1}{2}V_{dc} - \frac{1}{2}mV_{carm}\sin(\omega t + \delta) \approx \frac{1}{2}V_{carm}\left[\alpha_d - m\sin(\omega t + \delta)\right]$$
(2.3)

$$v_{la} \approx \frac{1}{2} V_{dc} + v_a \approx \frac{1}{2} V_{dc} + \frac{1}{2} m V_{carm} \sin(\omega t + \delta) \approx \frac{1}{2} V_{carm} \left[\alpha_d + m \sin(\omega t + \delta) \right]$$
(2.4)

where *m* and α_d represent AC and DC modulation indices, with $v_a = \frac{1}{2}mV_{carm}\sin(\omega t + \delta)$, and $\alpha_d = V_{dc}/V_{carm}$.

Equations (2.3) and (2.4) indicate that the upper and lower arms of each phase of the MMC operate in a complementary manner for their AC outputs.

Subtracting (2.2) from (2.1) yields:

$$v_{la} - v_{ua} = R_{arm}(i_{ua} - i_{la}) + L_{arm}\frac{d}{dt}(i_{ua} - i_{la}) + 2v_a$$
(2.5)

From Fig. 2.1, phase 'a' output current ' i_a ' can be expressed in terms of its upper and lower arm currents ' i_{ua} ' and ' i_{la} ' as:

$$i_a = i_{ua} - i_{la} \tag{2.6}$$

Equation (2.6) indicates that the MMC output phase current represents differential components of the upper and lower arm currents.

After substitution of (2.6) in (2.5), the following equation is obtained:

$$\frac{1}{2}(v_{la} - v_{ua}) = \frac{1}{2}R_{arm}i_a + \frac{1}{2}L_{arm}\frac{d}{dt}i_a + v_a$$
(2.7)

Combined with (2.3) and (2.4), the differential component of the arm voltages represents the MMC output phase voltage ' v_a ', thus:

$$\frac{1}{2}(v_{la} - v_{ua}) = v_a = \frac{1}{2}mV_{carm}\sin(\omega t + \delta)$$
(2.8)

Additionally, (2.7) indicates that the fundamental current flowing in each MMC phase leg is driven by the differential component of the arm voltages $\frac{1}{2}(v_{la} - v_{ua})$.

Similarly, adding (2.1) and (2.2) gives:

$$v_{la} + v_{ua} = V_{dc} - R_{arm}(i_{ua} + i_{la}) - L_{arm}\frac{d}{dt}(i_{ua} + i_{la})$$
(2.9)

The simplified (2.3) and (2.4) ignore the SM capacitor voltage ripples. The commonmode voltage of phase A in (2.9) can be rewritten by adding the SM capacitor voltage ripples to the sum of (2.3) and (2.4) as:

$$\alpha_{d}V_{carm} + \Delta V_{carm} = V_{dc} - R_{arm}(i_{ua} + i_{la}) - L_{arm}\frac{d}{dt}(i_{ua} + i_{la})$$
(2.10)

It is apparent from (2.10) that the common-mode current $i_{com} = \frac{1}{2}(i_{ua} + i_{la})$ comprises of DC component which will be driven by the DC voltage difference between V_{dc} and $\alpha_d V_{carm}$, and AC component which will be driven by the AC voltage ripple in the common-mode voltage, ΔV_{carm} . Introducing common-mode current into (2.10) yields:

$$\alpha_d V_{carm} + \Delta V_{carm} = V_{dc} - 2R_{arm}i_{com} - 2L_{arm}\frac{d}{dt}i_{com}$$
(2.11)

After solving (2.6) and i_{com} for the upper and lower arm currents i_{ua} and i_{la} , and expressing the phase 'a' common-mode current terms of its DC and AC components as $i_{com} = I_d^a + i_h^a$, the MMC upper and lower arm currents ' i_{ua} ' and ' i_{la} ' can be rewritten as:

$$i_{ua} \approx I_d^a + i_h^a + \frac{1}{2}i_a \tag{2.12}$$

$$i_{la} \approx I_d^a + i_h^a - \frac{1}{2}i_a \tag{2.13}$$

where, I_d^a and i_h^a represent the DC and AC harmonic components of the upper and lower arm currents, respectively. The common-mode current of each phase represents the current component of the arm currents that flow from the upper to lower arm or vice versa, without leaking into output AC circuit. The DC component of the common-mode current is reprehensible for DC power exchange between the MMC and DC side, and its magnitude during normal operation under balanced AC grid voltage can be linked to the DC link current ' I_{DC} ' as follows:

$$I_d^a \approx \frac{1}{3} I_{dc} \tag{2.14}$$

Alternatively, the DC component of the arm or common-mode current can be derived using the power balance equation, assuming the MMC is lossless, as:

$$P_{dc} = P_{ac} \Longrightarrow V_{dc} I_{dc} = \frac{2}{3} V_m I_m \cos \varphi$$
(2.15)

where V_m is the peak value of the output phase voltage, I_m is the peak value of the output phase current and φ is the power factor angle. By neglecting the DC voltage drops in the arm inductors and switching devices and assuming the sum of capacitor voltages across each arm is regulated at V_{dc} , the peak phase voltage at the MMC ac terminals (V_m) can be approximated as:

$$V_m = \frac{1}{2}mV_{dc} \tag{2.16}$$

After substituting the expression for V_m in (2.16), the alternative expression for I_d^a in (2.17) is derived.

$$I_d^a \approx \frac{1}{4} m I_m \cos \varphi \tag{2.17}$$

Assuming the arm current is directly controlled with no second-order harmonic circulating current, the upper arm voltage and current of phase 'a' can be given, respectively, as:

$$v_{ua} = \frac{V_{dc}}{2} - V_m \sin \omega t \tag{2.18}$$

$$i_{ua} = \frac{I_{dc}}{3} + \frac{I_m}{2}\sin(\omega t - \varphi)$$
(2.19)

Combining (2.15), (2.16) and (2.19) yields the arm current:

$$i_{ua} = m \frac{I_m}{4} \cos \varphi + \frac{I_m}{2} \sin(\omega t - \varphi)$$
(2.20)

The instantaneous power flowing through the upper arm of phase A can be calculated as:

$$p_{ua} = v_{ua}i_{ua} = \left(\frac{V_{dc}}{2} - V_m \sin \omega t\right)\left(m\frac{I_m}{4}\cos\varphi + \frac{I_m}{2}\sin(\omega t - \varphi)\right)$$
(2.21)

Integrating (2.21), the energy variation $\Delta E(t)$ on the upper arm phase A can be expressed as:

$$\Delta E(t) = \frac{V_m I_m}{8\omega} \sin(2\omega t - \varphi) - \frac{V_{dc} I_m}{4\omega} \cos(\omega t - \varphi) + \frac{V_m^2 I_m}{2\omega V_{dc}} \cos \omega t \cos \varphi \quad (2.22)$$

Considering the sum of the capacitor voltages in one arm, there is:

$$\Delta E(t) = \frac{CV_c^2(t) - CV_{c0}^2(t)}{2}$$
(2.23)

where C is the equivalent arm capacitance. Assuming the initial sum capacitor voltage V_{c0} is balanced at $V_{carm} = \frac{V_{dc}}{\alpha_d}$, the sum of capacitor voltages $v_{carm_ua}(t)$ is

$$v_{carm_ua}(t) = \sqrt{\frac{2\Delta E(t)}{C} + \left(\frac{V_{dc}}{\alpha_d}\right)^2}$$
(2.24)

Combining with (2.22), the sum of capacitor voltages $v_{carm_ua}(t)$ can be calculated as

$$v_{carm_ua}(t) = \sqrt{\frac{V_m I_m}{4\omega C} \sin(2\omega t - \varphi) - \frac{V_{dc} I_m}{2\omega C} \cos(\omega t - \varphi) + \frac{V_m^2 I_m}{\omega V_{dc} C} \cos\omega t \cos\varphi + (\frac{V_{dc}}{\alpha_d})^2}$$
(2.25)

2.2 MMC control system

This section presents the synthesis of different control layers that have been used in this thesis. A simplified per phase representation of a three-phase MMC shown in Fig. 2.2 is used throughout this section where the total voltage generated by each arm is represented using an equivalent voltage source. The current and power flow directions shown in Fig. 2.2 are considered to be positive.



Fig. 2.2 The basic structure of a single-phase MMC

2.2.1 MMC modelling

As shown in Fig. 2.2, the following equations are obtained for phase 'a':

$$\frac{1}{2}V_{dc} - v_{ua} - R_{arm}\dot{i}_{ua} - L_{arm}\frac{d\dot{i}_{ua}}{dt} - v_a = 0$$
(2.26)

$$\frac{1}{2}V_{dc} - v_{la} - R_{arm}i_{la} - L_{arm}\frac{di_{la}}{dt} + v_a = 0$$
(2.27)

Similarly, considering the output circuit relative to the DC link mid-point 'o', the following equations are obtained:

$$v_{ao} = R_T \dot{i}_{ao} + L_T \frac{d\dot{i}_{ao}}{dt} + v_a \tag{2.28}$$

Subtracting (2.26) from (2.27) and merging with (2.28), and with further algebraic manipulations, the following equation is obtained:

$$\frac{1}{2}(v_{la} - v_{ua}) = (\frac{1}{2}R_{arm} + R_T)(i_{la} - i_{ua}) + (\frac{1}{2}L_{arm} + L_T)\frac{d}{dt}(i_{la} - i_{ua}) + v_a$$
(2.29)

From the definitions of the arm currents and voltages established earlier on per phase basis, and after substitution of the definitions into (2.29) and assuming that $R_e = (\frac{1}{2}R_{arm} + R_T)$ and $L_e = (\frac{1}{2}L_{arm} + L_T)$, (2.29) is reduced to:

$$R_{e}i_{ao} + L_{e}\frac{di_{ao}}{dt} + v_{a} = \frac{1}{2}V_{carm}m_{a}$$
(2.30)

where *a* can be replaced by *b* and *c* so (2.30) can be represented as three-phase '*abc*'. After application of variant power or constant amplitude Park transformation, (2.30) is transformed into $_{dq}$ synchronous reference frame as:

$$R_{e}i_{d} + L_{e}\frac{di_{d}}{dt} - \omega L_{e}i_{q} + v_{d} = \frac{1}{2}V_{carm}m_{d}$$

$$R_{e}i_{q} + L_{e}\frac{di_{q}}{dt} - \omega L_{e}i_{d} + v_{q} = \frac{1}{2}V_{carm}m_{q}$$
(2.31)

The last terms of (2.31) can be simplified as: $v_{cd}^* = \frac{1}{2}V_{carm}m_d$ and $v_{cq}^* = \frac{1}{2}V_{carm}m_q$.

2.2.2 The capacitor voltage balancing algorithm

Voltage balancing among SM capacitors in each arm is one of the main challenges for MMC. The capacitor voltage balancing controller receives the reference from the modulator and selects SMs to be inserted or bypassed based on their capacitor voltages. With the periodic change in the arm current direction, the timing of charging and discharging will also take turns. SMs with lower capacitor voltages are preferentially inserted during the charging cycle, whilst SMs with higher capacitor voltages connected during the discharge cycle, so that the capacitor voltages among the SMs in the arm can remain balanced. This is the basic principle of capacitor voltage balancing control.

There are numerous algorithms that have been developed. Some methods focus on minimizing the computational complexity in order to achieve high efficient since the capacitor voltage balancing algorithm becomes the main issue for SM-level MMC models [96][97]. Reducing the switching frequency is another aim of voltage balancing algorithms [98][107]. In [99], a capacitor voltage balancing strategy is proposed to minimize the AC circulating current. However, the sorting algorithm [19][100] is the most widely used method. In each simulation time-step, the SM capacitor voltages of each arm are measured, listed, and sorted in ascending order. SMs with the lowest capacitor voltages will be switched on when charging and SMs with the highest capacitor voltages will be switched on when discharging.

2.2.3 The inner fundamental current controller

An unbalanced three-phase variable with no zero-sequence can be decomposed into the positive and negtive-sequence components, the convetre output voltage is:

$$v_{abc}(t) = v_{abc}^{+}(t) + v_{abc}^{-}(t)$$
(2.32)

Then, the positive and negtive-sequence abc- to dq-frame transformations are defined as

$$v_{dq}^{+}(t) = T(\theta)v_{abc}^{+}(t)$$
(2.33)

$$v_{dq}^{-}(t) = T(-\theta)v_{abc}^{-}(t)$$
 (2.34)

where

$$T(\theta) = \frac{2}{3} \times \begin{bmatrix} \cos(\theta) & \cos(\theta - \frac{2\pi}{3}) & \cos(\theta - \frac{4\pi}{3}) \\ -\sin(\theta) & \sin(\theta - \frac{2\pi}{3}) & -\sin(\theta - \frac{4\pi}{3}) \end{bmatrix}$$
(2.35)

and θ is the angle of V_{abc} , which is provided by a phase-locked loop (PLL). The postiveand negtive-sequence components of the current in dq-frame can be calculated in the same way.

The positive and negative sequence current control of 2-level converters [101][102][103] can be directly applied to MMC. The control scheme is separated into an inner current loop and an outer loop. A brief description will be given in the following sections.

Equition (2.31) is rearranged as:

$$\frac{di_{d}}{dt} = -\frac{R_{e}}{L_{e}}i_{d} + \frac{v_{cd}^{*} - v_{d} + \omega L_{e}i_{q}}{L_{e}}$$

$$\frac{di_{q}}{dt} = -\frac{R_{e}}{L_{e}}i_{q} + \frac{v_{cq}^{*} - v_{d} - \omega L_{e}i_{d}}{L_{e}}$$
(2.36)

To facilitate estimations of v_{cd}^* and v_{cq}^* using proportional-integral (PI) controllers, the terms $v_{cd}^* - v_d + \omega L_e i_q$ and $v_{cq}^* - v_d - \omega L_e i_d$ are replaced by u_d and u_q , which represent the outputs of the PI controllers in the d and q axes. Since u_d and u_q represent the outputs of the current controllers that regulate i_d and i_q , they can be expressed as:

$$u_{d}(t) = K_{p}^{i}(i_{d}^{*} - i_{d}) + K_{I}^{i} \int (i_{d}^{*} - i_{d}) dt$$

$$u_{q}(t) = K_{p}^{i}(i_{q}^{*} - i_{q}) + K_{I}^{i} \int (i_{q}^{*} - i_{q}) dt$$
(2.37)

Thus, v_{cd}^* and v_{cq}^* can be calculated from the PI outputs $(u_d \text{ and } u_q)$ as:

$$v_{cd}^* = u_d + v_d - \omega L_e i_q$$

$$v_{cq}^* = u_q + v_d + \omega L_e i_d$$
(2.38)

On the basis of (2.37) and (2.38), the block diagram in Fig. 2.3 is drawn. The v_{cd}^* , v_{cq}^* and $\omega L_e i_q$ in (2.38) represent the feedforward terms of the current controller.

After merging (2.36), (2.37) and (2.38), and with further algebraic manipulations, where the integral parts of u_d and u_q are replaced by λ_d and λ_q , the following state-space equation is obtained:

$$\frac{d}{dt}\begin{bmatrix} i_{d} \\ \lambda_{d} \\ i_{q} \\ \lambda_{q} \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} -\frac{R_{e} + K_{p}^{i}}{L_{e}} & \frac{1}{L_{e}} & 0 & 0 \\ -K_{I}^{i} & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & -\frac{R_{e} + K_{p}^{i}}{L_{e}} & \frac{1}{L_{e}} \\ 0 & 0 & -K_{I}^{i} & 0 \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} i_{d} \\ \lambda_{d} \\ \lambda_{q} \end{bmatrix} + \begin{bmatrix} K_{p}^{i} & 0 \\ L_{e} & 0 \\ 0 & \frac{K_{p}^{i}}{L_{e}} \\ 0 & K_{I}^{i} \end{bmatrix}$$
(2.39)

Fig. 2.3 A generic block diagram of an Inner Current Controller

$$\frac{i_{d}(s)}{i_{d}^{*}(s)} = \frac{i_{q}(s)}{i_{q}^{*}(s)} = \frac{K_{P}^{i}/L_{e}s + K_{I}^{i}/L_{e}}{s^{2} + (K_{P}^{i} + R_{e})/L_{e}s + K_{I}^{i}/L_{e}}$$
(2.40)

After comparing the denominator of (2.40) with that of the standard transfer function of a 2nd order system, the proportional and integral constants or gains of the current controllers are expressed as: $K_P^i = 2\omega_n \zeta L_e - R_e$ and $K_I^i = \omega_n^2 L_e$, where, the natural frequency ω_n and damping factor ζ can be selected, considering a number of control objectives such as settling time or peak overshoot.

2.2.4 **Positive and negative sequence inner current controllers**

Since the current controller depicted in Fig. 2.3 considers only positive sequence voltages and currents, it is only suitable for balanced operation, where negative and zero sequence components are zeros (as the practical considerations that dictate the grounding arrangement at converter side do not provide zero sequence current path). However, in order to facilitate precisely controlled operation during asymmetric AC network faults, the three-phase unbalanced voltages and currents must be decomposed into balanced sets of positive and negative sequence components and then transformed into two orthogonal planes 'dq+' and 'dq-' that rotate at speeds of ω and $-\omega$ respectively. In this manner, the positive and negative sequence voltages and currents could be controlled independently.

In order to distinguish between the positive and negative sequence variables, the suffix (superscripts '+' and '-') are added to the variables of the positive and negative sequence current controllers. Without repeating the above derivations, the state-space equations that describe the positive and negative sequence current controllers are:

$$\frac{d}{dt} \begin{bmatrix} i_{d}^{\pm} \\ \lambda_{d}^{\pm} \\ i_{q}^{\pm} \\ \lambda_{q}^{\pm} \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} -\frac{R_{e} + K_{p}^{i}}{L_{e}} & \frac{1}{L_{e}} & 0 & 0 \\ -K_{I}^{i} & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & -\frac{R_{e} + K_{p}^{i}}{L_{e}} & \frac{1}{L_{e}} \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} i_{d}^{\pm} \\ \lambda_{d}^{\pm} \\ \vdots_{q}^{\pm} \end{bmatrix} + \begin{bmatrix} \frac{K_{p}^{i}}{L_{e}} & 0 \\ K_{I}^{i} & 0 \\ 0 & \frac{K_{p}^{i}}{L_{e}} \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} i_{d}^{\pm *} \\ \vdots_{q}^{\pm *} \end{bmatrix}$$
(2.41)

Based on the generic current controller shown in Fig. 2.3, the block diagrams in Fig. 2.4 and Fig. 2.5 show the positive and negative sequence current controllers, respectively. Although the setting of the negative sequence current can vary according to operation requirements, maintaining balanced three-phase AC currents is assumed to be the objective in this thesis, which is achieved by setting the negative-sequence current references to zero.



Fig. 2.4 A generic block diagram of a Positive Sequence Inner Current Controller



Fig. 2.5 A generic block diagram of a Negative Sequence Inner Current Controller

2.2.5 **Outer loop controllers**

MMC active and reactive power outputs can be expressed as:

$$P = \frac{3}{2} (v_d^+ i_d^+ + v_q^+ i_q^+)$$

$$Q = \frac{3}{2} (v_d^+ i_d^+ - v_d^+ i_q^+)$$
(2.42)

In steady-state $v_q^* = 0$, (2.42) can be reduced to:

$$P = \frac{3}{2} v_d^+ i_d^+ Q = -\frac{3}{2} v_d^+ i_q^+$$
(2.43)

Thus, the outer controller that exploits d-axis is normally used to define the active power to be imported or exported when the MMC operates as active power regulator (APR) or to set DC voltage level when the MMC operates as DC voltage regulator (DCVR). Thus, these controllers define the d-axis current references. In contrast, the outer controller that exploits the q-axis controls reactive power or AC voltage, and hence, it defines the q-axis current references. Since both components of the negative sequence current are suppressed to zero as stated above, both active and reactive powers are defined in their entireties by positive sequence currents.

Expressions in (2.43) indicating that the references for the direct and quadrature currents can be set directly as:

$$i_d^{+*} = \frac{2}{3} \frac{P^*}{v_d^+}$$
(2.44)

$$i_q^{**} = \frac{2}{3} \frac{Q^*}{v_q^+}$$
(2.45)

where P^* and Q^* are the set-points for the reference active and reactive powers at PCC. Equivalently, the reference currents in (2.44) and (2.45) can be defined empirically, using PI controllers as:

$$i_{d}^{**} = K_{P}^{p}(P^{*} - P) + K_{I}^{p} \int (P^{*} - P)dt$$

$$i_{q}^{**} = K_{P}^{q}(Q^{*} - Q) + K_{I}^{q} \int (Q^{*} - Q)dt$$
(2.46)

Similarly, when the MMC operates as DCVR, the reference of the positive sequence direct axis current can be expressed as:

$$i_{d}^{**} = K_{P}^{dc} \left(V_{dc}^{*} - V_{dc} \right) + K_{I}^{dc} \int \left(V_{dc}^{*} - V_{dc} \right) dt$$
(2.47)

where V_{dc}^* is the reference DC link voltage. Fig. 2.6shows the generic block diagram of the outer P/Q/V_{dc} controllers.



Fig. 2.6 Generic block diagram of an outer controller

2.2.6 Circulating current suppression controller (CCSC)

The circulating currents flow through phases increase the RMS value of arm currents and converter losses [105]. It has been proved that the circulating currents in the MMC are generated by the inner voltage differences among each phase unit [105], and their frequency being twice the fundamental frequency [106]. Increasing the arm inductance can reduce the circulating currents [106], though, a larger voltage drop is also introduced and with increased inductor cost. In [107], a circulating current suppressing controller (CCSC) to minimize the inner circulating current in an MMC is proposed.

After adding equations (2.26) and (2.27), the following equation is obtained:

$$\frac{1}{2}V_{dc} - \frac{1}{2}(v_{ua} + v_{la}) = R_{arm} \frac{1}{2}(i_{ua} + i_{la}) + L_{arm} \frac{d}{dt} \frac{1}{2}(i_{ua} + i_{la})$$
(2.48)

Recall the definition of the common-mode current, $i_{coma} = \frac{1}{2}(i_{ua} + i_{la})$ and the commonmode component of the phase voltage, $v_{ua} + v_{la} = \alpha_d^a V_{carma}$ described earlier, (2.48) can be simplified as:

$$\frac{1}{2}\left(V_{dc} - \alpha_d^a V_{carma}\right) = R_{arm} i_{coma} + L_{arm} \frac{di_{coma}}{dt}$$
(2.49)

It is worth emphasizing that the common-mode capacitor sum, $v_{armUa} + v_{armLa} = \alpha_d^a V_{carma} + \Delta v_{carma}$ being used to describe the synthesis of the arm voltages consists of DC component ' V_{carma} ' that determines the DC component of the commonmode current and AC component ' Δv_{carma} ' which is seen as voltage ripple that drives the circulating current in phase leg. Taking these assertions into account, (2.49) can be rewritten as:

$$\frac{1}{2} \left[V_{dc} - \left(\alpha_d^a V_{carma} + \Delta v_{carma} \right) \right] = R_{arm} i_{coma} + L_{arm} \frac{di_{coma}}{dt}$$
(2.50)

Using the following definition of the common-mode currents of phase '*a*', $i_{coma} = I_d^a + i_h^a$, (2.50) can be separated into two parts, AC and DC components:

$$\frac{1}{2} \left[V_{dc} - \alpha_d^a V_{carma} \right] = R_{arm} I_d^a + L_{arm} \frac{dI_d^a}{dt}$$
(2.51)

$$-\frac{1}{2}\Delta v_{carma} = R_{arm}i_h^a + L_{arm}\frac{di_h^a}{dt}$$
(2.52)

Where, I_d^a represents the DC component of the upper and lower arm currents, and i_h^a is the inherent harmonic current in the upper and lower arm currents.

Equation (2.52) can be used in the design of the AC circulating current controller. After renaming or replacing the term $-\frac{1}{2}\Delta v_{carma}$ by Δv_{cir}^{a} , a proportional-resonant (PR) circulating current controller can be defined as in terms of three-phase quantities as:

$$\Delta v_{cir}^{a} = K_{P}^{cir} (i_{h}^{a^{*}} - i_{h}^{a}) + \int \left[K_{I}^{cir} (i_{h}^{a^{*}} - i_{h}^{a}) - x_{a} \right] dt$$

$$x_{a} = \omega_{n}^{2} \int y_{a} dt$$

$$\Delta v_{cir}^{b} = K_{P}^{cir} (i_{h}^{b^{*}} - i_{h}^{b}) + \int \left[K_{I}^{cir} (i_{h}^{b^{*}} - i_{h}^{b}) - x_{b} \right] dt$$

$$x_{b} = \omega_{n}^{2} \int y_{b} dt$$

$$\Delta v_{cir}^{c} = K_{P}^{cir} (i_{h}^{c^{*}} - i_{h}^{c}) + \int \left[K_{I}^{cir} (i_{h}^{c^{*}} - i_{h}^{c}) - x_{c} \right] dt$$

$$x_{c} = \omega_{n}^{2} \int y_{c} dt$$
(2.53)

The time-domain implementation of an ideal PR controller is depicted in Fig. 2.7. Since the objective is to suppress the circulating currents which are dominantly 2^{nd} order harmonic, the references for the circulating currents must be set to zero and ω_n must be set to twice of the fundamental frequency. Fig. 2.8 shows the complete implementation of the circulating current control in s-domain.



Fig. 2.7 Graphical depiction of PR controller [108]



Fig. 2.8 Complete implementation of the circulating current control in s-domain

2.2.7 Horizontal capacitor voltage balancing (phase energy balancing)

A number of control methods have been proposed to achieve energy balance among each arm [109]-[111]. In this thesis, energy balancing control consists of two controllers including horizontal capacitor voltage balancing control which aims to keep the energies between the 3 phases balanced, and vertical capacitor voltage balancing control for keep energy balanced between the upper and lower arms in each phase.

Starting from the differential equations that describe the dynamics of the equivalent arms described earlier, that is:

$$C_e \frac{d}{dt} v_{ua} = \frac{1}{2} \left[a_d^a - m_a \right] i_{ua}$$
(2.54)

$$C_e \frac{d}{dt} v_{la} = \frac{1}{2} \left[a_d^a + m_a \right] i_{la}$$
(2.55)

Adding (2.54) and (2.55), yields:

$$C_{e} \frac{d}{dt} \frac{1}{2} \left[v_{ua} + v_{la} \right] = \frac{1}{4} a_{d}^{a} \left[i_{ua} + i_{la} \right] - \frac{1}{4} m_{a} \left[i_{ua} - i_{la} \right]$$
(2.56)

After recalling $v_{carm} = \frac{1}{2} [v_{ua} + v_{la}]$, $\frac{1}{2} [i_{ua} + i_{la}] = I_d^a + i_h^a$ and $I_d^a = \frac{1}{4} m I_m \cos \varphi$, (2.56) can be expressed as:

$$C_{e} \frac{d}{dt} \frac{1}{2} \left[v_{ua} + v_{la} \right] = \frac{1}{2} I_{d}^{a} (a_{d}^{a} - 1) + \frac{1}{8} m I_{m} \sin(2\omega t + 2\delta + \varphi)$$
(2.57)

Since the purpose of the common-mode capacitor voltage sum controller is to regulate the DC component of the common-mode current, only DC parts of (2.57) are considered. Thus, (2.57) can be reduced to:

$$C_{e} \frac{d}{dt} \frac{1}{2} \left[v_{ua} + v_{la} \right] = \frac{1}{2} I_{d}^{a} (a_{d}^{a} - 1)$$
(2.58)

Setting the term $\frac{1}{2}I_a^a(a_d^a-1)$ to be the output of the PI controller u_H^a that regulates the common-mode capacitor voltage sums, yields:

$$C_{e} \frac{d}{dt} \frac{1}{2} \left[v_{ua} + v_{la} \right] = u_{H}^{a}$$
(2.59)

where $u_{H}^{a} = \frac{1}{2} I_{d}^{a} (a_{d}^{a} - 1)$.

Thus, u_H^a can be expressed as in terms of three-phase quantities as:

$$u_{H}^{a} = K_{P}^{H} \left[V_{carm}^{*} - \frac{1}{2} \left(v_{ua} + v_{la} \right) \right] + K_{I}^{H} \left[V_{carm}^{*} - \frac{1}{2} \left(v_{ua} + v_{la} \right) \right] dt$$

$$u_{H}^{b} = K_{P}^{H} \left[V_{carm}^{*} - \frac{1}{2} \left(v_{ub} + v_{lb} \right) \right] + K_{I}^{H} \left[V_{carm}^{*} - \frac{1}{2} \left(v_{ub} + v_{lb} \right) \right] dt \qquad (2.60)$$

$$u_{H}^{c} = K_{P}^{H} \left[V_{carm}^{*} - \frac{1}{2} \left(v_{uc} + v_{lc} \right) \right] + K_{I}^{H} \left[V_{carm}^{*} - \frac{1}{2} \left(v_{uc} + v_{lc} \right) \right] dt$$

where, V_{carm}^* is the reference for the common-mode capacitor voltage sums of the threephase legs, and for practical reasons, $V_{carm}^* \ge V_{dc}$.

If the limited influence of the common-mode current controller is neglected, u_H^a can be used directly to modify the modulation waveforms being produced by the fundamental positive and negative sequence current controllers. Fig. 2.9 shows the block diagram of the Horizontal Capacitor Voltage Balancing control. As shown, a low pass filter (LPF) is added to extract the average capacitor volatges by the frequency components higher than the cut-off frequency, thereby reducing interference caused by arm voltage ripple.



Fig. 2.9 Horizontal capacitor voltage balancing

2.2.8 Vertical capacitor voltage balancing (arm energy balancing)

Subtracting (2.54) and (2.55), yields:

$$C_{e} \frac{d}{dt} \left[V_{ua} - V_{la} \right] = \frac{1}{2} a_{d}^{a} \left[i_{ua} - i_{la} \right] - \frac{1}{2} m_{a} \left[i_{ua} + i_{la} \right]$$
(2.61)

After recalling, $i_a = i_{armUa} - i_{armLa}$ and $\frac{1}{2} [i_{armUa} + i_{armLa}] = I_d^a + i_h^a$, equation (2.61) can be rewritten as:

$$C_{e} \frac{d}{dt} \left[V_{carmUa} - V_{carmLa} \right] = \frac{1}{2} a_{d}^{a} i_{ao} - \frac{1}{2} m_{a} \left[I_{d} + i_{h} \right]$$
(2.62)

When the circulating currents of the three-phase legs are well suppressed, i.e. $i_h = 0$, the right side of (2.62) becomes pure sinusoidal with the fundamental frequency. However, since the purpose of vertical capacitor voltage balancing is to force the DC component of the sum of the upper capacitor voltages to be equal to that of the lower capacitor voltages (i.e., $V_{carmLa} = V_{carmLa}$ or $\Delta V_{carma} = V_{carmLa} - V_{carmLa} = 0$), only DC component of (2.62) needs to be considered in the control design.

Therefore, (2.62) can be rewritten assuming that any mismatch between DC components of the upper and lower arms' capacitor voltages of the same phase leg determines the magnitude of the additional modulation u_V^a to be added to the principle modulating signals, as:

$$C_e \frac{d}{dt} \Delta V_{carma} = u_v^a \tag{2.63}$$

If PI regulators are used, u_V^a can be expressed in terms of three-phase quantities as:

$$u_{V}^{a} = K_{P}^{V} (\Delta V_{carm}^{*} - \Delta V_{carma}) + K_{I}^{V} (\Delta V_{carm}^{*} - \Delta V_{carma}) dt$$

$$u_{V}^{b} = K_{P}^{V} (\Delta V_{carm}^{*} - \Delta V_{carmb}) + K_{I}^{V} (\Delta V_{carm}^{*} - \Delta V_{carmb}) dt$$

$$u_{V}^{c} = K_{P}^{V} (\Delta V_{carm}^{*} - \Delta V_{carmc}) + K_{I}^{V} (\Delta V_{carm}^{*} - \Delta V_{carmc}) dt$$
(2.64)

where, $\Delta V_{carm}^* = 0$ represent the reference of the differential capacitor voltages, and the outputs of this controller depicted in (2.64) are synchronized with modulating signals and then added to the principle modulating signals in a manner that they only affect the common quantities, see Fig. 2.10. The vertical capacitor voltage balancing ensures the nullification of the voltage difference between arms.



Fig. 2.10 Vertical capacitor voltage balancing

2.2.9 Overall control system

In summary, Fig. 2.11(a) depicts a generic control block diagram of the MMC. Since the *d*-axis is aligned with the voltage vector at PCC, this means the direct and quadrature currents represent active and reactive power components, respectively. Therefore, the outer controllers that set the active power and DC voltage orders are implemented on *d*-axis. Similarly, the outer controllers that regulate reactive power or AC voltage are implemented on q-axis. Therefore, active power/DC voltage and reactive power/AC voltage set the positive sequence direct and quadrature current orders, respectively. The negative sequence direct and quadrature current orders are set to zeros. The inner current controller regulates both positive and negative sequence currents during normal operation and limits MMC current contribution to AC faults and generates the principle AC modulating signals.

Active circulating current suppression controller is used to suppress the 2nd order harmonic currents in the MMC arm currents in order to reduce semiconductor power losses and SM capacitor voltage ripples. The horizontal capacitor voltage balancing controller facilitates regulation of half-bridge SM capacitor voltages independent of the MMC DC link voltage. This controller also modifies the principle modulation signals, particularly, their DC components. The most inner controller is the implementation of the non-distributed SM capacitor voltage balancing and modulator that ensures the voltage across each arm to be equally shared between the SM capacitors of the arm and generate the desired arm and output voltage, by selecting an appropriate number of SM capacitors to be inserted into power path and bypassed in each instant in time. A detailed block diagram that highlights individual controllers of the MMC employed are summarized in Fig. 2.11(b).



(a)



Fig. 2.11 Control block diagram of the MMC

2.3 Summary

In this chapter, the principles of MMC systems, including the basic structure and mathematical model of MMC is presented. The control systems used in this thesis, including SM capacitor voltage balancing controller, inner and outer current loop controllers, circulating current suppression controller and phase & arm energy balancing controllers, are discussed in detail, which will be applied in the test systems in Chapter 3, Chapter 4 and Chapter 5.

Chapter 3 MMC efficient modelling for electromagnetic transients (EMT) digital simulation

This chapter discusses the main modelling methods for simulation of the MMC, namely, detailed switching, switching function, Thevenin equivalent and averaged models. The aforementioned HB-MMC models are developed and validated by comparing the results of PSCAD offline simulation models (switching function, averaged and Thevenin equivalent MMC models) first, considering a normal steady-state operation, AC and DC short circuit fault. Then, simulation efficiencies of different HB-MMC models are compared. As a follow up of the extensive offline validations of a number of MMC models, the detailed validations of user-defined real-time HB-MMC switching function and averaged MMC models developed in RSCAD against the offline PSCAD MMC switching function models in both platforms (PSCAD and RSCAD) have 20 cells per arm, with identical controllers and parameters. These offline and real-time simulation results show that the developed MMC models are able to replicate the typical behaviour of the MMC under normal operation and AC and DC network faults.

3.1 MMC efficient modelling methods

3.1.1 **Detailed switching model**

The detail switching model of the MMC can be developed based on the circuit shown in Fig. 1.4 where each half-bridge SM is described in detail, with each switching device mimics the conduction pattern and switching characteristics of physical insulated gate bipolar transistor (IGBT) and its freewheeling diode. When the arm currents defined in Fig. 1.4 are assumed to be positive, i.e. positive currents flowing into the SMs, the circuit operation can be explained as follows:

- When T_2 is on and T_1 is off, positive arm current flows through the IGBT part of the switch T_2 , while negative arm current flows through its diode part. The SM capacitor is bypassed and the out voltage is zero.
- When T_2 is off and T_1 is on, positive arm current flows through the diode part of the switch T_1 , while negative arm current flows through its IGBT part. The SM capacitor is inserted and the out voltage is v_c .



Fig. 3.1 A typical power circuit for the three-phase MMC

The detail switching representation may also account for the turn-on and turn-off transients of the switching devices and their on-state resistances and voltage drops. Such detailed representation necessitates the use of stiff solvers with small time steps in order to handle a wide range of time constants which are associated with a large number of dynamics that exist in an MMC. In addition, such detailed switching models contain large numbers of electrical nodes leading to large admittance matrices of which the inversion is computationally expensive. Thus, detail switching models take significantly long

execution time on offline simulation tools such as PSCAD or Matlab/Simulink, and place very high requirements on the processor performance of the real-time simulator, e.g. RTDS.

In summary, the above discussions highlight the need for the development of accurate and computational efficient MMC models.

3.1.2 Averaged model

The development of the MMC average model is promoted by the need to have computation efficient model suitable for a wide range of power system studies where the detailed internal converter behaviour and switching transients are not of interest. To achieve this objective, the following assumptions are made:

The switching voltages being developed across the upper and lower arms of each phase are replaced by their average voltages, which can be expressed as:

$$v_{armUa} = \sum_{j=1}^{N_{SM}} V_{CSMUa} s_{xj} \approx \frac{1}{2} V_{carmUa} \left[1 - m \sin(\omega t + \delta) \right] \approx V_{carmUa} m_{aU}$$
(3.1)

$$v_{armLa} = \sum_{j=1}^{N_{SM}} V_{CSMLa} s_{xj} \approx \frac{1}{2} V_{carmLa} \left[1 + m \sin(\omega t + \delta) \right] \approx V_{carmLa} m_{aL}$$
(3.2)

The inter-SM dynamics in each arm is neglected. Thus, SM capacitor voltages of each arm oscillate together (considering the SM voltages in each of the arm are balanced), with the upper and lower arms present capacitances $C_{armU} = C_{SM} / N_U$ and $C_{armL} = C_{SM} / N_L$, where the numbers of SM capacitors being inserted into power path from the upper and lower arms (N_u and N_L) can be approximated by:

$$N_U \approx \frac{1}{2} N_{SM} \left[1 - m \sin(\omega t + \delta) \right] \approx N_{SM} m_{aU}$$
(3.3)

$$N_L \approx \frac{1}{2} N_{SM} \left[1 + m \sin(\omega t + \delta) \right] \approx N_{SM} m_{aL}$$
(3.4)

Considering the definitions in (3.3) and (3.4), the dynamics of the upper and lower SM capacitors can be approximated as:

$$\frac{C_{SM}}{N_U} \times \frac{d}{dt} V_{carmUa} \approx i_{armUa}$$

$$\frac{C_{SM}}{N_{SM}} \times \frac{d}{dt} V_{carmUa} \approx \frac{1}{2} [1 - m \sin(\omega t + \delta)] i_{armUa}$$

$$C_e \times \frac{d}{dt} V_{carmUa} \approx m_{aU} i_{armUa}$$

$$\frac{C_{SM}}{N_L} \times \frac{d}{dt} V_{carmLa} \approx i_{armLa}$$

$$\frac{C_{SM}}{N_{SM}} \times \frac{d}{dt} V_{carmLa} \approx \frac{1}{2} [1 + m \sin(\omega t + \delta)] i_{armLa}$$

$$C_e \times \frac{d}{dt} V_{carmLa} \approx m_{aL} i_{armLa}$$
(3.6)

where $C_e = C_{SM} / N_{SM}$ represents the equivalent SM capacitance for each arm and N_{SM} is the number of SMs in each arm.

From (3.5) and (3.6), the upper and lower arms equivalent capacitor currents are:

$$i_{capUa} \approx C_e \times \frac{d}{dt} V_{carmUa} \approx m_{aU} i_{armUa}$$
 (3.7)

$$i_{capLa} \approx C_e \times \frac{d}{dt} V_{carmLa} \approx m_{aL} i_{armLa}$$
 (3.8)



Fig. 3.2 Modular multilevel converter averaged model: (a) arm voltage calculation; (b) auxiliary circuit to present current path; (c) arm presentation; (d) phase presentation

Equations (3.1) to (3.8) can be used to calculate the average voltage and the total SM capacitor voltage of each arm when the MMC is in operation, as graphically shown in Fig. 3.2(a) for an upper arm. However, to accurately mimic the typical MMC behaviour when all its switches are blocked, i.e. all the IGBTs in the SMs are switched off (e.g. after receiving signal from protection system during a DC fault), additional considerations are required to ensure all the possible current paths are included in the model. Considering the current paths in the upper MMC arm with a detailed representation of the switching devices as shown in Fig. 3.2 (b), when the gating signals to the all the IGBTs are inhibited (or referred to as MMC blocked), the positive arm current (when i_{armU} is pointing

downward) flows through the diodes D_{xU} and the SM capacitor and thus, the arm voltage will be the combined DC voltages of the SM capacitors. Whilst the negative arm current (when i_{armU} is pointing upward) flows through the freewheeling diode D_{mU} of each SM and the SM capacitors are bypassed. Thus, the arm voltage is considered to be zero. Fig. 3.2 (c) shows the averaged model with additional IGBTs and diodes devices providing the necessary conduction path to facilitate the recreation of the MMC typical behaviour during blocked states. It is worth emphasizing that during normal operation, the switch S_x of the averaged MMC arm must remain permanently in on-state, and as the generated arm voltage V_{arm} is always positive, it forces the diode D_m to be reverse biased. Thus, the modified MMC average arm presents identical to those shown in Fig. 3.2 (a). Also, when converter blocking is activated, the switch S_x must be turned off and *m* is set to 1 to mimic the MMC behaviour stated above.

3.1.3 **Thevenin equivalent model**

This modelling method adopts the electromagnetic transient program (EMTP) simulation approach originally proposed by Dommel in [37][58][112] and has become the dominant modelling method in commercial power system software for modelling a wide range of electrical components. This method was first applied to MMC in [37], and other variants were later developed [46][48][113][114]. This modelling method treats the switch devices of the SMs as two-state switched resistances, with on-state and off-state resistances R_{ON} and R_{OFF} respectively, and each SM capacitance is replaced by its electromagnetic transient equivalent circuit. For a generic SM shown in Fig. 3.3 (a), the SM capacitor dynamic can be expressed as:

$$\frac{dV_{CSMi}(t)}{dt} = \frac{I_{ci}(t)}{C_{SM}}$$
(3.9)

The electromagnetic transient simulation pre-solves all differential equations using wellestablished numerical integration methods, with Backward Euler and Trapezoidal integration methods being widely used. For example, after solving (3.9) using trapezoidal integration method, the following equations are obtained:

$$V_{CSMi}(t) = V_{CSMi}(t - \Delta t) + \frac{1}{2} \frac{\Delta t}{C_{SM}} \left[I_{ci}(t) + I_{ci}(t - \Delta t) \right]$$
(3.10)

$$V_{CSMi}(t) = V_{CSMi}(t - \Delta t) + R_c I_{ci}(t - \Delta t) + R_c I_c(t) = V_h + R_c I_c(t)$$
(3.11)

where Δt is the simulation time step, $V_h = V_{CSMi}(t - \Delta t) + R_c I_{ci}(t - \Delta t)$ and $R_c = \frac{\Delta t}{2C_{SM}}$

represents the equivalent resistance of the SM capacitance equivalent circuit.

Fig. 3.3 (b) depicts the equivalent circuit of the half-bridge SM with Backward Euler and Trapezoidal integration methods. The circuit can be further simplified using Thevenin theory, where the Thevenin voltage and resistance per SM are:

$$V_{mi}(t) = \frac{R_{mi}}{R_{ci} + R_{xi} + R_{mi}} \times V_h$$
(3.12)

$$R_{thi} = \frac{R_{mi}(R_{ci} + R_{xi})}{R_{ci} + R_{xi} + R_{mi}}$$
(3.13)

The switched voltage to be developed across each arm can be calculated by:

$$V_{arm} = \sum_{i=1}^{N_{SM}} V_{mi}$$
(3.14)

Fig. 3.3(c) shows the block diagram of one MMC phase-leg, where the arm is modelled using the Thevenin equivalent circuit and modified to be able to mimic the typical MMC behaviour during blocking and de-blocking in a similar way as that of the averaged HB-MMC model described earlier in Section 3.1.2.



Fig. 3.3 Depiction of the MMC model based on the Thevenin equivalent circuit of the half-bridge sub-modules

3.1.4 Switching function model

This modelling method represents the MMC switching devices using ideal switches, where the on and off states are denoted by 1 and 0 respectively. Considering Fig. 3.4 (a)

and (b), the output voltage of a single half-bridge SM can be expressed in terms of its SM capacitor voltage and switching state of the auxiliary switch S_{xi} as:

$$v_{mi}(t) = s_{xi} V_{CSMi}(t) \tag{3.15}$$

Similarly, the SM capacitor current of each SM can be related to the MMC arm current by:

$$i_{ci}(t) = s_{xi}I_{arm}(t)$$
 (3.16)

The SM capacitor voltage can be calculated at each time step as

$$V_{CSMi}(t) = \frac{1}{C_{SM}} \int \dot{i}_{ci}(t) dt$$
 (3.17)

Equation (3.17) is transformed into discrete from using Tustin (trapezoidal integration method) as shown in (3.10) and (3.11).

Thus, the total switching voltage across each arm can be calculated as:

$$V_{arm} = \sum_{i=1}^{N_{SM}} V_{mi}$$
(3.18)

The graphical representation of the MMC switching function model is shown in Fig. 3.4 (c). Similar to previously described models, further modifications are also necessary to represent the behaviour during MMC blocking state. The composite switches S_{xU} and S_{xL} , and diodes D_{mU} and D_{mL} as shown in Fig. 3.4 (c) are thus included and all the S_{xi} in the arms are set to 1 after the blocking of the converter.





(c)

Fig. 3.4 Graphical depiction of the MMC switching function model

3.2 Development and validation of MMC offline and real-time models

3.2.1 Test system

This section uses the MMC based HVDC converter station shown in Fig. 3.5 for a wide range of studies in order to validate the accuracy of different models. The converter station in Fig. 3.5 is equipped with controllers shown in Fig. 2.11, and for ease of illustration, active power control mode is used throughout this chapter. Detailed system parameters and control parameters are depicted in Fig. 3.5 and listed in Table 1 and Table 2. The SM capacitances for the 20-SM and 350-SM MMC models and averaged MMC model to be considered are calculated assuming 30kJ/MVA [22][55]. The values of coefficient for the proportional K_P and coefficient for the integral K_I are adjusted by tuning. Parameters of all the PI controllers in this thesis are determined by tuning.



Fig. 3.5 Illustrative test system (power, current and voltage polarities in this figure are assumed to be positive)
Paramet			
MMC rated apparent pow	1265MVA		
MMC rated active power	1200MW		
MMC rated reactive pow	±400MVAr		
MMC nominal DC Volta	640kV (±320kV)		
MMC rated AC output voltage (line-to-line)		360kV	
Arm inductance (<i>L</i> _{arm})	0.13pu		
SM capacitance (<i>C</i> _{SM})	20-SM MMC	628µF	
	350-SM MMCs	11mF	
	Average model	31.4µF	
Nominal Frequency	50Hz		
Transformer rated apparent power		1265MVA	
Interfacing transformer voltage ratio		400/360kV	
Transformer leakage reactance		0.18pu	
Transformer resistance		0.004452pu	

Table 1: Test system parameters

Table 2 MMC system control parameters

MMC Controller	Control Parameters		
Outer Controller	Proportional Gain (K _p)	Integral Time Constant (T _i)	
Active Power Controller	1×10^{-3}	8	
Reactive Power Controller	10×10^{-3}	10	
AC Voltage Controller	1×10^{-3}	5	
DC Voltage Controller	15×10^{-3}	2.5	
Inner Current Controller			
Positive Sequence Inner Controller	1.5×10^{3}	7.03×10^{-6}	
Negative Sequence Inner Controller	2.26×10^{3}	7.03×10^{-6}	
Auxiliary Controller			
Circulating Current Suppression Controller	1.5×10^{3}	1×10^{3}	
Vertical Capacitor Voltage Balancing	3	6×10^{-3}	
Horizontal Capacitor Voltage Balancing	3	6×10^{-3}	

3.2.2 Offline validation and efficiency comparison

This section validates the performance of the averaged and switching function based MMC models against the Thevenin equivalent model of the PSCAD library. The performance of the MMC model with a reduced number of sub-modules per arm is also compared to that with a large number of sub-modules per arm, considering the test case of solid three-phase AC short circuit fault. The MMC models used in this validation are: 20-SM and 350-SM PSCAD library Thevenin Equivalent (PD), 350-SM switching function (SF) and averaged (Avg) models.

In [115], accuracy validation among MMC models are made by calculating the mean absolute error (MAE) of the waveforms. However, in this thesis, developed RTDS models are validated against offline PSCAD models, which introduces errors produced by different simulators. Another more widely used MMC models accuracy validation criterion is the overlap of waveforms [37][45][49][55][56][57][96][116]. By superimposing the waveforms generated by different models, the differences between the waveforms reflect the differences between the different models. The degree of coincidence of the waveforms reflects the similarity of the two models under that case. In this thesis, overlap method will be used for all the accuracy validation.

3.2.2.1 Validation during normal steady-state operation

The system operation conditions during this illustration are summarized as follows.

- The converter station regulates its reactive power output at zero throughout the simulation.
- Initially, the active power of the converter station is regulated at zero and is ramped up from 0 to 1200MW at t=1s.
- In this illustration, the sum of the SM capacitor voltages of each arm is regulated at 640kV.

Simulation waveforms of the averaged, Thevenin equivalent (20 and 350 SM per arm), switching function (350 SM) HB-MMC models superimposed on each other are shown in Fig. 3.6. As shown, Fig. 3.6(a), (b) compare the active power of the HB-MMC models measured at PCC_1 (with the positive power flow is from AC to DC side), and DC link current (1.875kA corresponding to rated active power of 1200MW), respectively. The

waveforms in Fig. 3.6 (a) and (b) indicate that all the HB-MMC models produce identical results in terms of magnitudes and dynamics. Samples of the upper and lower arm currents and their zoomed versions displayed in Fig. 3.6 (c), (d), (e) and (f) indicate coexistence of the DC component I_d^a and fundamental current $\frac{1}{2}i_{ao}$ in the MMC arm currents as theoretically stated in (2.12) and (2.13), with circulating current component i_h^a , is well suppressed. From the simulation waveforms in Fig. 3.6 (c) and (d), and (e) and (f), it can be concluded that the simplifications introduced during the development of the HB-MMC averaged model, it is able to reproduce all the dynamics associated with both fundamental and DC components of the arm currents, and with the same accuracy of the Thevenin equivalent and switching function models. The plot for the common-mode current, $i_{com} = \frac{1}{2}(i_{armUa} + i_{armLa})$ and its zoomed version in Fig. 3.6 (g) and (h) show that after proper suppression of the circulating current, the common-mode current of each phase becomes a pure DC component ' I_d^a ' and equals to one-third of the DC link current ' I_{dc} ', which is in line with the theoretical expression in (2.14). It is worth emphasizing that all the HB-MMC models being compared produce practically identical common-mode currents and in line with theoretical value as described earlier. Fig. 3.6 (i) and (j), and (m) and (n) confirm that the differential arm current and voltage of each phase leg represent output phase current and voltage as theoretically expressed by (2.6) and (2.9). The plots for the common-mode voltage ' $(v_{armUa} + v_{armLa})$ ' and its zoomed version in Fig. 3.6 (k) and (l) show that after the suppression of the voltage components that drive the circulating current in each phase, the common-mode voltage $(v_{armUa} + v_{armLa})$ becomes dominantly DC component and its value is slightly larger than the DC link voltage ($V_{dc} = 640kV$) in order to allow the power flow from AC to DC side as illustrated by (2.11). The plots in Fig. 3.6 (k) and (l) show the common-mode voltage of the 20-SM MMC exhibits higher high-frequency voltage ripples compared to 350-SM MMCs, and this is due to its larger mismatch between ' V_{dc} ' and ' $(v_{armUa} + v_{armLa})$ ' as a result of larger switching voltage (reduced number of SMs). Fig. 3.6 (o)-(q) and (r) show phase 'a' upper and lower capacitor voltage sums. The plots in Fig. 3.6 (s) and (t), and (u) and (v) indicate that the common-mode capacitor voltage sums of the MMC are dominantly DC component plus 2nd order harmonic voltage, while the differential-mode capacitor voltage sums are mainly fundamental voltage.

These indicate that all the HB-MMC models being compared are able to reproduce the inter-dynamics between the MMC arms and between the SMs of the same arm with identical accuracies and in line with theoretical discussions presented in Section 3.1. From the theoretical analysis presented in Section 3.1 and the above discussions and simulation waveforms presented in Fig. 3.6, it can be concluded that the 20-SM Thevenin equivalent, 350-SM Thevenin equivalent, 350-SM Thevenin equivalent, and averaged MMC models being studied exhibit the typical behaviour of the MMC and adhere to well established theoretical equations that govern the operation of the MMC.

Since the comparisons include SM-level MMC models and converter-level model, SM internal behaviour and SM-level comparisons are not considered.









Fig. 3.6 Simulation waveforms during normal operation ('PD', 'SF' and 'Avg' stand for Thevenin equivalent, switching function and averaged models respectively)

3.2.2.2 Three-phase-to-ground AC fault

Further studies during AC faults are carried out using the 4 different models, and system operating conditions are summarised as follows:

- In pre-fault conditions, the MMC exports 1200MW from AC grid to the DC side at unity power factor.
- At t=2s, a temporary three-phase-to-ground AC short circuit fault (fault resistance equals 0.01 Ω) with 140ms fault duration is applied at the point of commoncoupling.
- The MMC active power set-point remains at 1200MW (unchanged) during fault and post-fault.

The AC fault location is at the PCC point as shown in Fig. 3.5. The temporary fault duration is set to be 140ms. Simulation waveforms that compare the responses of the above models are summarised in Fig. 3.7 and Fig. 3.8. The plots for the sum of the phase 'a' capacitor voltages and their snapshots in Fig. 3.7 (a)-(d) show that the capacitor voltages of the 20-SM MMC exhibit slightly larger oscillation compared to the rest of the models. The traces of the phase 'a' arm currents and their zoomed versions displayed in Fig. 3.7 (e)-(h) indicate that all the MMC models being compared are largely equivalent, with MMC having a reduced number of sub-modules per arm occasionally exhibits slightly larger ripple than the rest of the models during fault period, with the worst-case error of less than 0.5%. The waveforms for the other two phases are similar and thus are not included here. Fig. 3.8 (a)-(f) display the three-phase fault, measured at the 400kV side of the interfacing transformer. These plots show no noticeable differences between the models being compared. Similarly, the plots for the grid voltages in Fig. 3.8 (g) to (h) are almost identical for all MMC models.





Fig. 3.7 Comparison of simulated phase-A waveforms during symmetrical three-phase AC fault compare for different developed MMC models





Fig. 3.8 Comparison of converter AC voltage and current of the developed MMC models to symmetrical three-phase AC network fault

3.2.2.3 Pole-to-pole (P2P) DC short circuit fault

System operating conditions for studies during a DC pole-to-pole faults are summarised as follows:

- In pre-fault conditions, the MMC exports 1200MW from AC grid to DC side at unity power factor.
- At t=3s, a permanent pole-to-pole DC short circuit fault (short circuit resistance equals to 0.005 Ω) is applied and converter blocking is activated after 50µs from fault inception.

In [117], a hardware demonstration with the DC fault protection operation process time equals to 41.31µs is given. 50µs is chosen in this case as DC fault protection operation process time. Fig. 3.9 compares the responses of the aforementioned MMC models to a solid pole-to-pole DC short circuit fault. The pole-to-pole DC link voltages and DC links

currents displayed Fig. 3.9 (a) and (b) indicate that the models exhibit almost identical behaviours during the DC fault transient. Fig. 3.9 (c) to (e) show that when the DC fault is detected and converter blocking is activated, the upper arm currents become unipolar and negative. These mean that the two components of arm currents during DC fault period flow through the freewheeling diodes of the main switches that bypass the SM capacitors, with the AC current in-feeds flow from the AC grid towards the DC side, and the DC fault current flows from the negative DC pole to positive DC pole through the MMC lower and upper arms. The lower arm currents have similar behaviour as the upper arm one s and thus not shown here. These typical MMC behaviours have been reproduced exactly by all MMC models. The plots in Fig. 3.9 (f) to (h) show that the upper arm SM capacitor voltages produced by all models are also similar, with the sum of the SM capacitor voltages of the MMC with 20 sub-modules per arm exhibit slightly different behaviours than the rest during normal operation, with the worst-case margin of error of less than 2%. Similar errors are observed in the sum of the capacitor voltages of the averaged and 20-SM MMC models when the converter is blocked during DC fault. Some of these observed small differences could be referred to several factors such as:

- The 20-SM MMC has much higher SM capacitor voltage than that with 350-SM MMC, and this may slightly affect the inter-SM and inter-arm dynamics, and final settling voltage for the SM capacitor following converter blocking.
- Larger switching voltage of the 20-SM MMC increases the errors between the input DC link voltage and common-mode voltage MMC presents at its DC terminal. As a consequence, for the same arm inductor, the MMCs with 20-SM per arm exhibit low-quality arm currents compared to that with a large number of sub-modules per arm.
- The assumptions made in the development of the MMC averaged model such as the SM capacitor voltages of the entire arm oscillate together (ignorance of individual SM capacitor dynamics) can slightly affect the internal dynamics of the MMC averaged model.

In general, from the results shown in Fig. 3.9 it can be concluded that all the MMC models are able to reproduce the expected MMC behaviour during pole-to-pole DC short circuit fault, with sufficient accuracies and efficiencies.



Fig. 3.9 Comparison of simulation waveforms during DC short circuit fault with different MMC models

3.2.2.4 Comparison of simulation speed

Simulation efficiencies of different HB-MMC models are summarized in Table 3, when all the models are configured as a single terminal, with all controllers stated earlier are incorporated, for 1-second simulations. These simulations were conducted using PSCAD 4.6 on HP computer with Intel(R) Core (TM) i7-6700 CPU @ 3.4GHz, 16GB RAM and 64-bit Windows 10 Enterprise system.

From the results displayed in Table 3, it is clear that the averaged HB-MMC model is the most efficient one and is followed by the switching function and then Thevenin equivalent, while detailed switching model is the slowest due to the largest number of electrical nodes.

Types of MMC Model	No. of Sub- modules (N)	Simulation Run Time (10Sec)	Simulation Time Step (µs)	Channel Plot Step (µs)
Averaged Model	350	25s	50	50
Switching Function Model	350	57s	50	50
PSCAD Thevenin equivalent	350	166s	50	50
PSCAD Thevenin equivalent	20	87s	50	50
Switching Function Model	20	34s	50	50
Detail Switching Model	20	39minutes and 54s	50	50

 Table 3 Comparison of simulation speed using different MMC models

3.2.3 Real-time model development and validation

It has been proven that the MMCs with a reduced number of SMs per arm (20 SMs Thevenin equivalent model) and the averaged MMC model are capable of reproducing the typical behaviour of MMCs with a large number of SMs per arm (350 SMs Thevenin equivalent and switching function models) in Section 3.2.2, with negligible errors. It has also been established that the average and switching function MMC models offer the fastest simulation times, without significant sacrifice in the accuracy of the results in a wide range of system-level studies including AC and DC faults. Therefore, this section presents a detailed development of the real-time MMC simulation models, namely, the

20-SM switching function and averaged models, and their validation against offline PSCAD 20-SM switching models.

The operating conditions for all fault cases in this section are summarised as follows:

- The orders for the rated active and reactive powers exchange between the MMC and AC grid are 1200 MW and 400 MVAr respectively, under all operating conditions. The power flow from AC toward the converter is defined as positive.
- All fault studies are performed as successive events as summarized below:
 - At t=2s, a 300ms temporary solid single-phase-to-ground AC fault is applied at the point of common-coupling (PCC₁).
 - At *t*=4s, a 300ms temporary solid symmetrical three-phase-to-ground AC fault is applied at PCC₁.
 - At t=6s, a permanent pole-to-pole DC short circuit fault is applied in the DC side, and converter blocking is activated 50µs after fault inception.
 - In another case at t=3s, a permanent pole-to-ground DC short circuit fault is applied in the DC side, and converter blocking is activated 50µs after fault inception.

3.2.3.1 Implementation in RTDS

Fig. 3.10 depicts a generic layout of the developed MMC model using real-time digital simulation (RTDS) dual time step technique. The MMC models with the requirements of high switching frequency are built in small time step (i.e. $1.4-2.5\mu$ s), whilst the AC grid source is modelled in a larger time step (i.e. 50μ s).



Fig. 3.10 A single terminal MMC system modelling method in RTDS

On the basis of detailed discussions of the MMC modelling presented in Section 3.1, realtime user-defined 20-SM switching function and averaged half-bridge MMC models are developed using RSCAD in RTDS simulation platform. The developed models are validated against an offline 20-SM half-bridge MMC switching function model developed in PSCAD. The number of SMs in the developed RTDS model can be easily scaled and modified if more details are required and sufficient RTDS modelling hardware capacity is available.

The RTDS switching function and averaged HB-MMC models as shown in Fig. 3.4 and Fig. 3.2 consist of two parts:

- The power circuit part which includes controllable voltage sources, arm inductors and IGBTs and diodes being used to mimic the half-bridge MMC blocking state.
- The calculation part that simulates the half-bridge MMC SM dynamics and generates the upper and lower arm voltages V_{armU} and V_{armL} .

In RTDS platform, the power circuit part of the MMC switching function and averaged HB-MMC models and its associated components such as the DC side circuit and interfacing transformer are placed in a dedicated small time step template called "VSC bridges" available in RSCAD library with time step ranging from 1.4µs to 2.5µs. While the part that calculates the SM capacitor dynamics and control systems are placed in a dedicated large time-step template of $50\mu s$. The user-defined components that implement the calculations of SM capacitor dynamics and voltage balancing are realised in MATLAB-SIMULINK and then converted to RSCAD using the real-time embedded code generation that can optimise the generated code for a number of objectives such as code efficiency, RAM usage, traceability, etc. The whole real-time simulation model of the test system is implemented on one RTDS rack, with a PB5 card containing two processors and three GPC cards. Both processors on the PB5 card are assigned to solve the power circuit that operates at a small-time step, with the calculation part of each of the three-phase on a separate GPC processor. Since the aim is to validate the MMC behaviours under a number of operating conditions, the DC side of the half-bridge MMC is modelled by stiff DC voltage source and one pi-section per DC cable. The connection between the AC system that operates at large time-step and the MMC power circuit and its DC side components which operate at small time-step is realised by using a VSC interface transformer from the RSCAD small time-step library.

3.2.3.2 Single-phase-to-ground AC fault

Fig. 3.11 displays simulation waveforms for a single-phase-to-ground AC fault (fault resistance equals 0.01Ω). The controllers in the models regulate the converter negative sequence currents to be zero. The acronyms P, R, S and A displayed in the legends attached to simulation waveforms stand for offline PSCAD, RTDS, SFM and averaged model respectively. Fig. 3.11(a), (b), (c), (d), (e) and (f) show full-scaled and zoomed simulation waveforms for three-phase PCC voltages, AC currents MMC injects into PCC, and converter side AC currents. The zoomed waveforms are captured around the instant of fault inception. These waveforms show that the real-time waveforms of the 20-SM switching function and average models are identical, and both exhibit negligible errors in the first few peaks of the AC side currents (grid and converter sides). It can also be seen from Fig. 3.11 (e) and (f) that the converter three-phase currents are balanced event during the single-phase fault. Similarly, the plots for the upper arm currents displayed in Fig. 3.11 (g) and (h) also show that there are small errors in the first few peaks of the arm current following AC fault inception, but quickly disappeared. The plots for the sums of the upper SM capacitors of the three models in Fig. 3.11 (i) to (j) again indicate good match between the real-time and offline simulations. The lower arm currents and SM capacitor voltages show similar trends as those of the upper arm one and thus are not shown. Fig. 3.11(k)-(m) show that the real-time and offline simulation waveforms for the active and reactive powers, and DC link current during the single-phase AC fault are similar, with small errors appear in the reactive power during fault period. Detailed investigation of the errors observed between the reactive powers of the PSCAD and RTDS reveals that the interfacing transformer model in RSCAD is the main cause. For the same transformer parameters, the measured reactive power consumptions of the interfacing transformers are different in the two platforms (PSCAD and RSCAD), with PSCAD exhibiting a slightly higher reactive power consumption. Further investigation at control system level also shows that during the steady-state condition, the PSCAD and RSCAD achieve the same reactive power of 400MVAr by slightly different quadrature currents (i_q) , with magnitudes of the errors between the two platforms being less than 20A.

The results of the detailed validation of the real-time and offline simulation shown in Fig. 3.11 confirm the suitability of the presented real-time user-defined MMC models (20-SM switching function and averaged) for studying single-phase-to-ground AC faults.





Fig. 3.11 Simulation waveforms comparing the transient behaviours of 20-SM offline and RTDS switching function models and averaged RTDS model during a single-phaseto-ground AC fault

3.2.3.3 Three-Phase-to-Ground AC Fault

Fig. 3.12 displays simulation waveforms for a three-phase-to-ground AC fault (fault resistance equals 0.01Ω). Fig. 3.12 (a), (b), (c) and (d), show a full-scaled and zoomed simulation waveforms for the three-phase PCC voltages and three-phase MMC converter currents. All zoomed waveforms are captured around the instant of fault inception. These waveforms show that the real-time waveforms of the 20-SM switching function and

average models are largely indistinguishable, with both exhibit negligible errors relative to that of the offline simulation. Similarly, the plots for the upper arm currents displayed in Fig. 3.12(e) and (f), and the sums of the upper SM capacitors voltage in Fig. 3.12 (g) and (h) also show a good match with negligible errors. Fig. 3.12 (i)-(k) show that the realtime and offline simulation waveforms for the active and reactive powers and DC link current during the three-phase-to-ground AC fault are similar with extremely small errors around the instants of fault inception and clearance.

Detailed corroboration of the real-time and offline simulation results shown in Fig. 3.12 confirm the suitability of the presented real-time used defined MMC models (20-SM switching function and averaged) for studying three-phase-to-ground AC faults.





Fig. 3.12 Simulation waveforms comparing the transient behaviours of 20-SM offline and RTDS switching function models and averaged RTDS model during a three-phaseto-ground AC fault

3.2.3.4 Pole-to-Pole DC short circuit fault

Fig. 3.13 presents simulation waveforms for a solid pole-to-pole DC fault (short circuit resistance equals to 0.005 Ω) right at MMC DC terminals. Fig. 3.13 (a) and (b), and (c) and (d) show simulation waveforms for the three-phase PCC voltages and MMC converter side currents, including the expanded snapshots around the instant of fault inception. These traces show that all the real-time and offline simulations waveforms are

identical (real-time simulation waveforms of the 20-SM switching function and average models superimposed on that of the 20-SM offline PSCAD waveforms). Also, the upper arm currents and the sums of the upper arm SM capacitors from the real-time and offline simulations displayed in Fig. 3.13 (e) and (f), and (g) and (h) do not exhibit any visible errors in steady-state and during the DC fault. Fig. 3.13 (i)-(l) show that the real-time and offline simulation waveforms for the active and reactive powers and DC link current and voltage during the DC short circuit are similar, with a small difference in the active powers during fault period. The differences observed in the fault current path, due to the implementation of the parts that mimicking the blocking of physical MMC (recall that the two platforms, PSCAD and RSCAD have different implementation of the IGBTs and diodes). These differences are exacerbated during DC short circuit fault by the significant increase in the magnitude of the fault currents relative to rated currents.

Results of detailed validation displayed in Fig. 3.13 confirm the appropriateness of the presented real-time user-defined MMC models (20-SM switching function and averaged) for studying pole-to-pole DC short circuit faults.





Fig. 3.13 Simulation waveforms comparing the transient behaviours of 20-SM offline and RTDS switching function models and averaged RTDS model during DC short circuit fault

Further validations during AC phase-to-phase fault and DC pole-to-ground fault have also been carried out and the results show a good match among the three different models. Due to their similarity to the previously presented results, they are not shown here.

3.3 Summary

This chapter has presented a number of modelling methods of the HB-MMC, including the theoretical basis that underpins each modelling method, and basic assumptions made in the development of each method. The comprehensive comparison of the offline simulation waveforms reveals that the averaged and switching function HB-MMC models produce practically the same results as that of the Thevenin equivalent MMC model of the PSCAD MMC library, but with much greater simulation efficiency. This conclusion is valid for a wide range of studies, including normal steady-state operation and faults. Similar voltage and current stresses are observed on the MMC active and passive components. The detailed validation of real-time user-defined switching function and averaged HB-MMC models against an offline validated PSCAD switching function model shows that the offline and real-time simulation waveforms are in good agreement during normal operation, symmetrical and asymmetrical AC faults, and DC faults.

Chapter 4 Interoperability of different VSC topologies in HVDC grids

In the last decade, a number of MMC topologies have been proposed for HVDC applications. The half-bridge (HB) and full-bridge (FB) MMCs have emerged as the preferred topologies for commercial application. In the meantime, several hybrid MMC converters have been proposed as alternatives that offer important trade-offs between footprint, semiconductor loss, resiliency to AC and DC network faults and control range, when compared to the HB-MMC and FB-MMC [34]-[35].

Although the construction of large-scale DC grids using different converter topologies is important from both practical and market point of view, particularly for prevention of monopoly in supply chains, ensuring safe and reliable operation of DC grids with such diversity, present significant technical challenges; especially, during fault conditions. Meaningful assessments of the interoperability of such complex DC grids, with equipment supplied by multiple vendors, require converter models with steady-state and transient behaviours that accurately resemble the typical behaviour of physical systems.

This chapter examines the suitability of the developed offline and real-time averaged converter models for a detailed assessment of interoperability of different converters in a meshed DC grid. Interoperability of a few selected representative converter topologies, namely, the HB and FB MMCs and hybrid MMC consisting of 50% FB SMs and 50% HB will be assessed quantitatively using offline PSCAD and real-time RSCAD simulations.

4.1 Alternative VSC topologies

The development of the FB-MMC and hybrid MMC with 50% FB SMs and 50% HB in PSCAD and RSCAD are detailed here.

4.1.1 Modelling and control of Full-bridge and Hybrid MMCs

Fig. 4.1 shows a generic power circuit of a three-phase MMC converter that consists of six arms, with each arm comprising of an inductor and a stack of FB SMs, or combination of the HB and FB SMs as displayed in Fig. 4.2. Similar to HB-MMC, each arm of the MMC in Fig. 4.1 and 4.2 must be capable of blocking the rated pole-to-pole DC voltage. Complementary operation of the arms that constitute the same phase-leg is necessary to ensure that each phase-leg inserts an appropriate number of SM capacitors (from the upper and lower arms) into the power path in order to build-up the needed instantaneous common-mode voltage to counter the DC link voltage. For each MMC phase leg containing 2N SMs, only N_x SMs could be selected for insertion into the power path, and the remaining 2N- N_x must be bypassed. The exact number of SMs could be inserted into power path depends on several factors such as the designed rated voltage per SM, and the type of SMs being employed in each MMC arm (HB, FB etc.) [26][118].



Fig. 4.1 Basic circuit of the three-phase modular multilevel converter



Fig. 4.2 Phase-legs of half-bridge, full-bridge and hybrid modular converters

As already being expressed in Chapter 2, the upper and lower arm voltages (V_{armU} and V_{armL}) for one phase of the generic MMC in Fig. 4.1 can be approximated as:

$$V_{armU} \approx \frac{1}{2} V_{carmU} \left[\alpha - m \sin(\omega t + \delta) \right] \approx V_{carmU} m_{U}$$
(4.1)

$$V_{armL} \approx \frac{1}{2} V_{carmL} \left[\alpha + m \sin(\omega t + \delta) \right] \approx V_{carmL} m_L$$
(4.2)

where V_{carmU} and V_{carmL} are the sums of the upper and lower arm capacitor voltages, which must be regulated such that $V_{carmU} = V_{carmL} = V_{carm}^* \ge V_{dc}$ (V_{carm}^* is the rated arm capacitor voltage). The DC modulation index is defined as $\alpha = V_{dc}/V_{carm}^*$, and m_U and m_L are the upper and lower arm modulation functions, respectively. For FB MMC, the DC modulation indexes ' α ' can vary widely in the range of $-1 \le \alpha \le 1$.

Similar to HB-MMC, controlling the sums of the upper and lower arm capacitor voltages at $V_{carmU} = V_{carmL} = V_{carm}^* \ge V_{dc}$ means the existence of redundant SMs in the MMC arms. Apart from reliability improvement in HB-MMC, these redundant SMs do not offer any added value because of the well-known limitations of the unipolar HB SMs [26][118]. However, in FB and hybrid MMCs, the redundant SMs in their arms can offer additional features such as over-modulation (ability to generate or operate with higher AC side voltage than the HB-MMC). Although hybrid MMC can offer such features during normal operation, sustaining such feature during operation with extremely low DC voltage such as active control during DC short circuit faults requires the number of FB SMs in the arms to be increased, as during such operations, FB SMs alone will be responsible for the synthesis of the negative arm voltages [27][119][120]. Apart from the aspects highlighted above, the fundamental operation and control of the FB and hybrid MMCs remain the same as that of the HB-MMC which has been extensively discussed in Chapter 2. These differences will be articulated and emphasized throughout this chapter where appropriate.

4.1.1.1 *Detailed switching model*

Typical detailed switching models of the FB and hybrid MMCs use in-depth representations of the FB and HB SMs (SM capacitors and switching devices), where each power electronics switch mimics the conduction pattern and switching characteristics of its physical equivalent (such as the IGBT and anti-parallel diode). For instance, when the arm current defined in Fig. 4.3(a) is assumed to be positive; the basic operation of the FB SM can be summarised as follows:

- Switching devices S₁ and S₂, and S₃ and S₄ represent two complementary pairs operating as two independent legs.
- When S₁ is on and S₃ is off, the FB SM in Fig. 4.3(b) generates an output voltage $V_{sm}=V_{CSM}$, where V_{CSM} represents the SM capacitor voltage. In this switching state, a positive arm current ($I_{arm}>0$) charges the SM capacitor, while the negative arm current ($I_{arm}<0$) discharges the SM capacitor. Additionally, each switching device in off-state such as S₂ and S₃ experiences voltage stress equal to capacitor voltage V_{CSM} .
- When S₁ is off and S₃ is on, the FB SM in Fig. 4.3(c) generates an output voltage V_{sm} =- V_{CSM} . In this switching state, a positive arm current (I_{arm} >0) discharges the SM capacitor, and negative arm current (I_{arm} <0) charges the SM capacitor. Also, both switching devices in off-state such as S₁ and S₄ experience voltage stress equal to V_{CSM} .

- When both switches S_1 and S_3 are on (or off), the FB SM in Fig. 4.3(d) and (e) generates an output voltage $V_{sm}=0$. In this switching state, both positive and negative arm currents do not affect the SM capacitor voltage.
- When all switching devices (S₁, S₂, S₃ and S₄) are gated off during blocking state as shown in Fig. 4.3(f), both positive and negative arm currents shown in red and blue find path through the anti-parallel diodes of the switches S₁, S₂, S₃ and S₄ and charge the SM capacitor.

As in HB-MMC case described in Chapter 3, DSM accounts for each IGBT turn-on and turn-off times and its on-state resistance and voltage drop. Such exhaustive representation necessitates the use of stiff solvers with small time steps leading to very longer simulation times, high computation burden, and large memory requirement.

4.1.1.2 Switching function model

As stated in section 3.1.4, the switching function modelling methods represent each IGBT and its anti-parallel diode by an ideal switch that denotes the on and off states by 1 and 0 respectively. Considering Fig. 4.3 (a) as the i^{th} FB SM in the MMC arm, its output voltage (V_{smi}) can be expressed in terms of the SM capacitor voltage (V_{CSMi}) and switching states of the two upper (or lower) switches S₁ and S₃ as:

$$v_{smi}(t) = (S_{i1} - S_{i3})V_{CSMi}(t)$$
(4.3)

Similarly, the SM capacitor current of each SM can be related to the MMC arm current by:

$$\dot{I}_{csmi}(t) = (S_{i1} - S_{i3})I_{arm}(t)$$
(4.4)

And the SM capacitor voltage can be calculated at each time step as

$$V_{CSMi}(t) = \frac{1}{C_{SM}} \int i_{csmi}(t) dt$$
(4.5)

Equation (4.5) is transformed into discrete from using Tustin (trapezoidal integration method) as:



Fig. 4.3 (a) FB SM, and (b) to (f) depict its different switching states.

The total generic arm voltage is obtained by summing individual SM output voltage as:

$$V_{arm} = \sum_{i=1}^{N} v_{smi}(t)$$
 (4.7)

Equations (4.6) and (4.7) are used to construct the FB-MMC switching function model shown in Fig. 4.4 (b) and (c). Similar to HB MMC, the realization of blocking state in FB-MMC model in Fig. 4.4 (c) is achieved by gating off all the IGBTs S_1 , S_2 , S_3 and S_4 , and setting the upper and lower arm modulation functions $m_U = m_L = 1$. In contrast, during an operation state, the upper and lower arm voltages are realized as:

$$V_{armU} \approx V_{carmU} \left| m_{U} \right| \tag{4.8}$$

$$V_{armL} \approx V_{carmL} \left| m_L \right| \tag{4.9}$$

In addition, when $sign(m_U) \ge 0$ the switches S_1 and S_4 are turned on and S_2 and S_3 are turned off, and the opposite is true for $sign(m_U) < 0$. The former scenario arises when FB-MMC arm synthesizes positive voltages, and the latter scenario occurs when the FB-MMC arm synthesizes negative voltages.

Since each arm of the hybrid MMC consists of FB and HB stacks, its switching function model is obtained simply by combining the HB-MMC and FB-MMC SFM into one which as shown in Fig. 4.5. Blocking and de-blocking states of the HB stacks can be realized as described in Section 3.1 and that of the FB stacks can be realized as described above.



Fig. 4.4 (a) FB SM, (b) voltage calculation of one FB SM, and (c) Graphical depiction of SFM of FB-MMC



Fig. 4.5 Graphical depiction of SFM of the hybrid MMC

4.1.1.3 *Thevenin equivalent model*

In a similar way to Section 3.1.3, this section presents the Thevenin equivalent models for FB and hybrid MMCs, where the switching devices of the SMs are treated as two-state switched resistances, R_{ON} and R_{OFF} respectively, and each SM capacitance is replaced by its electromagnetic transient equivalent circuit.

For a generic SM shown in Fig. 4.6 (a), the SM capacitor dynamic can be expressed as:

$$\frac{dV_{CSMi}(t)}{dt} = \frac{I_{csmi}(t)}{C_{SM}}$$
(4.10)

After solving (4.10) using trapezoidal integration method, the following equations are obtained:

$$V_{CSMi}(t) = V_{CSMi}(t - \Delta t) + \frac{1}{2} \frac{\Delta t}{C_{SM}} \left[I_{csmi}(t) + I_{csmi}(t - \Delta t) \right]$$
(4.11)

$$V_{CSMi}(t) = V_{CSMi}(t - \Delta t) + R_{csm}I_{csmi}(t - \Delta t) + R_{csm}I_{csmi}(t) = V_h + R_{csm}I_{csmi}(t)$$
(4.12)

where $V_h = V_{CSMi}(t - \Delta t) + R_{cSM}I_{cSMi}(t - \Delta t)$, and $R_{cSM} = \Delta t / 2C_{SM}$.

Fig. 4.6 (b) shows the equivalent circuit of the FB SM when Backward Euler and Trapezoidal integration methods are employed. This equivalent circuit can be further simplified using Thevenin theory, where the Thevenin voltage and resistance per SM are:

$$V_{th}(t) = \frac{R_{i2}R_{i3} - R_{i1}R_{i4}}{R_{ci}(R_{i1} + R_{i2} + R_{i3} + R_{i4}) + (R_{i1} + R_{i2})(R_{i3} + R_{i4})} \times V_h$$
(4.13)

$$R_{thi} = \frac{(R_{i1} + R_{ix})(R_{i2} + R_{iz})}{(R_{i1} + R_{ix} + R_{i2} + R_{iz})} + R_{iy}$$
(4.14)

where
$$R_{ix} = \frac{R_{i3}R_{csmi}}{R_{i3} + R_{i4} + R_{csmi}}$$
, $R_{iy} = \frac{R_{i3}R_{i4}}{R_{i3} + R_{i4} + R_{csmi}}$ and $R_{iz} = \frac{R_{i4}R_{csmi}}{R_{i3} + R_{i4} + R_{csmi}}$

The switched voltage to be developed across each arm can be calculated by:

$$V_{arm} = \sum_{i=1}^{N} V_{smi} \tag{4.15}$$

Fig. 4.6 (c) summarises per phase implementation of the Thevenin equivalent model of FB-MMC, where the SM capacitor dynamics and full converter behaviours during blocking and de-blocking are fully accounted for. Handling of blocking state during DC fault in the Thevenin equivalent FB-MMC model is similar to that of the SFM described earlier.

The Thevenin equivalent model of the hybrid MMC shown in Fig. 4.7 is obtained by combining the HB and FB MMC Thevenin equivalent models.



Fig. 4.6 Thevenin equivalent model of the FB-MMC



Fig. 4.7 Thevenin equivalent model of hybrid MMC

4.1.1.4 Averaged model

Since the HB, FB and hybrid MMCs adhere to the same operating principle during normal operation, the same assumptions made in the development of the HB-MMC averaged model also apply to the FB and hybrid MMCs. In other words, the systematic derivations of the averaged models of the FB and hybrid MMCs from the first principles are identical to that of the HB-MMC. The added features of the FB and hybrid MMCs are realizable by incorporating additional power electronics switches to mimic their physical behaviours during converter blocking and when their arms require to generate negative voltages. Fig. 4.8 depicts per arm averaged models of the FB MMCs [56][121][122][123], where the upper and lower arm voltages v_{armU} and v_{armL} and equivalent upper and lower arm capacitor currents i_{capU} and i_{capL} are approximated by:

$$v_{armU} \approx \frac{1}{2} V_{carmU} \left[\alpha - m \sin(\omega t + \delta) \right] \approx V_{carmU} m_U$$
(4.16)

$$v_{armL} \approx \frac{1}{2} V_{carmL} \left[\alpha + m \sin(\omega t + \delta) \right] \approx V_{carmL} m_L$$
(4.17)

$$i_{capU} \approx \frac{1}{2} i_{armU} \left[\alpha - m \sin(\omega t + \delta) \right] \approx i_{armU} m_{U}$$
(4.18)

$$i_{capL} \approx \frac{1}{2} i_{armL} \left[\alpha + m \sin(\omega t + \delta) \right] \approx i_{armL} m_L$$
(4.19)



Fig. 4.8 Per arm averaged model of the FB and hybrid MMCs.

Similar to that in the FB-MMC SFM and Thevenin equivalent model, blocking state is realized by gating off all IGBTs S_1 , S_2 , S_3 and S_4 , and setting the upper and lower arm modulation functions $m_U=m_L=1$. The upper and lower arm voltages during the de-block state are realized as:

$$V_{armU} \approx V_{carmU} \left| m_U \right| \tag{4.20}$$

.....

$$V_{armL} \approx V_{carmL} \left| m_L \right| \tag{4.21}$$

In conjunction with (4.20) and (4.21), the auxiliary switches S_1 through S_4 are operated as follows:

- a) When sign $(m_U) \ge 0$, the switches S_1 and S_4 must be turned on, and S_2 and S_3 must be turned off.
- b) When sign(m_U)<0, the switches S_1 and S_4 must be turned off, and S_2 and S_3 must be turned on.

The scenario in (a) arises when the FB-MMC arm synthesizes positive voltages during normal operation with rated DC voltage, while the scenario in (b) occurs when the FB-
MMC arm synthesizes negative voltages as required during operation with extremely low DC voltage and operation with negative DC voltage.

It is worth to recall that the hybrid MMC facilitates normal and reduced DC link voltage operation and active control of DC fault current during pole-to-pole DC fault (zero DC voltage) by inserting the same number of SM capacitors with positive and negative polarities as that of the FB-MMC. Also, with the assumption that the HB and FB SMs of the hybrid MMC have same capacitances, insertion of the FB SM capacitors with positive polarities will exhibit the same behaviours at SM and arm levels as that of the HB SMs. This fact justifies the use of per arm averaged model depicted in Fig. 4.8 to represent the hybrid MMC, provided that the DC modulation control range is restricted as described above $(-\frac{1}{2} \le \alpha \le 1)$, and the upper and lower arm modulation functions m_U and m_L are set to 0.5 during converter blocking.

4.2 Model validation

4.2.1 Implementation in RTDS

Fig. 4.9 shows a generic layout of the real-time models of the FB and hybrid MMC models implemented in RSCAD using dual time steps (multi-rate). Parts of the FB and hybrid MMC models that operate at high switching frequency are built in small time-step (i.e. $1.4-2.5\mu$ s), whilst the AC grid source and control system is modelled in a larger time step (i.e. 50μ s).



Fig. 4.9 A single terminal MMC system modelling method in RTDS

On the basis of detailed discussions of the FB and hybrid MMCs modelling presented in previous Sections 4.1, real-time user-defined 20-SM FB-MMC SFM and AM, and hybrid MMC AM are built in RSCAD-RTDS simulation platform. The developed models are validated against a number of offline models developed in PSCAD:

- FB-MMC: 20-SM SFM, Thevenin equivalent, and AM.
- Hybrid MMC: AM.

The number of SMs in the developed RSCAD-RTDS model can be easily scaled and modified if more details are required and sufficient RTDS modelling hardware capability is available.

In RTDS platform, the power circuit part of the FB and hybrid MMC models (SFM and AM) and their associated components such as the DC side circuit and interfacing transformer are modelled in the small-time step of 2.5µs. While the parts that calculate the SM capacitor dynamics and control systems are placed in a large time-step of 50µs. The user-defined components that implement the calculations of SM capacitor dynamics and voltage balancing are realised in MATLAB-SIMULINK and then converted to RSCAD using code generation. Same as for the HB-MMC described in Chapter3, the whole real-time simulation model of the test system is implemented on one RTDS rack, with a two-processor PB5 card and three GPC cards. One processor on the PB5 card is assigned for total network solution, whilst the other is assigned for the control system. Each converter requires one GPC processor to solve the power circuit that operates at the small time-step. Since the aim is to validate the MMC behaviours under a number of operating conditions, the DC side of the half-bridge MMC is modelled by a stiff DC voltage source connected to two 50km short DC cables each modelled by one pi-section. The AC side is placed at large time-step of 50µs, and the connection between the AC system at large time-step and the MMC power circuit and its DC side components at small time-step is realised through the VSC interface transformer.

4.2.2 Test system

This section uses one MMC converter terminal as shown in Section 3.2.1 to validate the real-time and offline FB and hybrid MMC models. The different models are:

• FB-MMC

Offline: SFM, averaged model, and Thevenin equivalent model (TEM) provided by PSCAD.

Real-time: SFM and averaged model

• Hybrid MMC

Offline: averaged model Real-time: averaged model

A single terminal MMC-HVDC system is modelled in PSCAD and RTDS, with full sets of controllers described in Chapter 2, and detailed system parameters listed in Table 1. The SM capacitances of the FB and hybrid MMC models are the same as that for the HB-MMC. High impedance AC side grounding is adopted in the model.

As the previous study in Section 3.2 has shown that the numbers of SMs in the MMC arms have negligible impacts on MMC dynamic behaviours, this section presents the detailed validation of the real-time FB-MMC models (20-SM SFM and AM) and AM of hybrid against offline FB-MMC models (20-SM SFM, TEM and AM) and AM of the hybrid MMC respectively. The validation scenarios are listed below:

- 1) Full-bridge MMC validations
 - Normal operation
 - Three-phase symmetrical AC fault
 - Pole-to-pole DC short circuit fault with converter blocking
 - Pole-to-ground DC fault
 - DC voltage reversal
- 2) Hybrid MMC validations
 - Pole-to-pole DC short circuit fault with active control of fault current

4.2.3 Full bridge MMC model validation

4.2.3.1 Normal operation

Fig. 4.10 summarises simulation waveforms of the offline and real-time user-defined FB-MMC when it operates as a power controlling converter using the control systems depicted in Fig. 2.11. The acronyms PA, PS and PP, and RS and RA displayed in the legends attached to simulation waveforms stand for offline PSCAD AM, SFM and TEM, and real-time SFM and AM respectively. During 0 to 1s, the FB-MMC controls both its

active and reactive power at zeros. At t=1s, active power is ramped from 0 to 1200MW at a rate of 2400MW/s, while reactive power is maintained at zero.

Fig. 4.10 (a)-(f) show the full-scale and zoomed offline and real-time simulation waveforms of the three-phase converter currents, and phase A upper and lower arm currents. These waveforms show the waveforms obtained from the offline and real-time simulation models are identical, while arm currents exhibit very small and diminishing differences during power ramps, with all arm current waveforms become identical as the system settles. The plots for the sums of the capacitor voltages displayed in Fig. 4.10 (e) and (f) show similar behaviour observed in the arm currents. The traces of the active powers, and DC link voltages and currents displayed in Fig. 4.10 (g)-(i) are almost identical, including during transition between two operating points.





Fig. 4.10 Simulation waveforms with different FB-MMC models during normal operation: 20-SM SFM, TEM and AM)

In summary, Fig. 4.10 shows all the offline and real-time simulation models being compared are capable of reproducing the dynamics of the FB-MMC as it varies its power set-points, with negligible errors.

4.2.3.2 Three-phase-to-ground AC fault

Fig. 4.11 displays simulation waveforms during a three-phase-to-ground AC fault (fault resistance equals 0.01Ω), with results of the real-time simulations (20-SM SFM and AM) superimposed on that of the PSCAD offline simulations (20-SM SFM, TEM and AM). In the pre-fault, during fault and post-fault conditions, active and reactive powers set-points are maintained at 1200 MW and 0 MVAr respectively. At *t*=4s, a temporary solid symmetrical three-phase-to-ground AC fault is applied at PCC1, with 300ms fault duration.

The AC voltage and converter current waveforms shown in Fig. 4.11 (a) and (b), and (c) and (d), prove that the different real-time and offline models having the same behaviours in terms of trend and magnitude during the three-phase AC fault. Likewise, the plots for the phase A upper and lower arm currents, and the sums of the upper and lower capacitor



voltages in Fig. 4.11 (e)-(h) also show negligible errors. The same can be observed for the active power, DC link voltage and current during the three-phase-to-ground AC fault in Fig. 4.11 (i)-(k).



Fig. 4.11 Simulation waveforms with different FB-MMC models during a threephase-to-ground AC fault

4.2.3.3 Pole-to-pole DC short circuit fault with converter blocking

Fig. 4.12 presents simulation waveforms when a solid pole-to-pole DC short circuit fault (short circuit resistance equals to 0.005Ω) is applied at FB-MMC DC terminals at *t*=5s, as shown in Fig. 3.5, and the converter is blocked 50µs after fault inception.

Fig. 4.12 (a), (b) and (c) show simulation waveforms for the three-phase PCC voltages converter AC currents. These traces show that all the AC side waveforms (currents and voltages) of the real-time and offline simulations are identical. Similarly, the real-time and offline upper and lower arm currents, and the sums of the upper and lower arm SM capacitor voltages of phase A displayed in Fig. 4.12 (d) and (e) do not exhibit any visible errors in steady state and during the DC fault, and the same can be observed for the active powers, and DC link currents and voltages as shown in Fig. 4.12 (f), (g) and (h).



Fig. 4.12 Simulation waveforms with different offline and real-time FB-MMC models (SFM, TEM and AM) during DC short circuit fault when converter blocking activated 50µs after fault inception

4.2.3.4 Pole-to-ground DC fault

Fig. 4.13 shows simulation waveforms when a pole-to-ground DC fault (fault resistance equals to 0.005 Ω) occurs at t=2s, and the DC voltage is controlled to be half of the rated value 0.6s after the fault inception in order to reduce the DC voltage stress on the healthy pole.

Fig. 4.13 (a)-(d) show offline and real-time simulation waveforms for the pole-to-pole and pole-to-ground DC voltages and DC link currents. The plots for DC voltages and current exhibit brief disturbances which are associated with the discharge of the faulted pole and charging of the healthy pole, and with both simulation platforms and different models show almost identical behaviours. Observed that halving of the pole-to-pole DC link voltage 0.6s from fault inception reduces the voltage stress on the healthy pole to the rated design value of 320kV. The post-fault DC current remains the same as the pre-fault value and system now transmits half of the rated power as seen in Fig. 4.13 (k).

The three-phase converter side voltages shown in Fig. 4.13 (e) and (f) indicate that the pole shift during pole-to-ground DC fault affects the converter side voltage leading to 320kV DC offshore. However, this has no impact on the converter currents as seen in Fig. 4.13 (g) and (h). The reduction of the DC link voltage also helps to reduce the DC voltage stress being exposed to insulations of the low-voltage windings of the transformer and converter side equipment. All the behaviours described above are reproduced accurately in the results of the offline and real-time simulations.

Fig. 4.13 (i) and (j) show that the arm currents of the FB-MMC remain well-controlled during pole-to-ground DC fault when pole restraining (halving of the DC voltage) is enabled, with all the offline and real-time use defined models are able to reproduce almost identical results.





Fig. 4.13 Simulation waveforms with different offline and real-time FB-MMC models during pole-to-ground DC fault when a pole restraining is enabled 0.6s after fault inception

4.2.3.5 *DC* voltage reversal

Fig. 4.14 presents offline and real-time simulation waveforms when the FB-MMC initiates its DC voltage reversal at t=2.6s, from 640kV to -640kV, within 0.4s. Prior to the DC voltage reversal, at t=2.15s, the FB-MMC reduces its active power exchange with the AC grid from 1200MW to 0 within 0.25s. At t=3s, the FB-MMC starts the restoration of its active power exchange with the AC grid from 0 to 1200MW within 0.5s (during this period the FB-MMC operates with rated DC voltage of -640kV). During the entire operating period, the FB-MMC maintains its reactive power exchange with the AC grid constant at 300MVAr.

Fig. 4.14 (a) and (b), (c) and (d) show the simulation waveforms for the positive and negative pole DC voltages, DC current, and active and reactive powers the FB-MMC injects into PCC1. These waveforms show that different offline and real-time models of the FB-MMC produce the same responses. The results confirm the ability of these models to reproduce the bipolar operation of FB-MMC and uninterruptable STATCOM functionality, independent of the DC link voltage. Similarly, the plots for the upper and lower arm voltages shown in Fig. 4.14 (e) and their zoomed version when the FB-MMC operates with -640kV displayed in Fig. 4.14 (f) show identical results, with the DC modulation index $\alpha = -1$ (equivalent to $-\frac{1}{2}V_{DC}$) as anticipated. Same can also be observed for the currents the FB-MMC injects into AC grid and the upper and lower arm currents displayed in Fig. 4.14 (g) and (h), and (i) and (j). The sums of the upper and lower SM capacitor voltages of different offline and real-time models of the FB-MMC being



compared in Fig. 4.14 (k) and (m) also indicate a good match for the results produced by the models during steady-state and transients.



Fig. 4.14 Simulation waveforms that compare the transient behaviours of the userdefined offline and real-time FB-MMC models (SFM, TEM and AM) during DC voltage reversal

4.2.4 Hybrid MMC model validation

The operation of the hybrid MMC is similar to that of the FB-MMC, and thus, only selected results during a solid pole-to-pole DC short circuit fault with active fault current control is presented here. Test system is the same with the system shown in Section 3.2.1.

Fig. 4.15 presents simulation waveforms when a solid pole-to-pole DC short circuit fault is applied at the DC terminals of the hybrid MMC at t=3s, and fault control is enabled 50µs after fault inception. Fig. 4.15 (a) and (b) show pole-to-pole DC link voltage and DC current in the positive pole. These waveforms show the offline and real-time simulation models produce identical results during the DC short circuit fault, with the hybrid MMC is able to control the DC fault at zero. Fig. 4.15 (c) and (d) and (h) and (i) show the upper and lower arm currents, and three-phase currents the hybrid MMC injects into PCC1 at grid side. These waveforms show while the hybrid MMC controls DC fault current at zero during the DC fault, it retains full control over the reactive exchange with the AC grid, see Fig. 4.15 (k). The AC currents observed in the arms and output circuits of the hybrid MMC are associated with the reactive power being exchanged with the AC grid, operating as a STATCOM. Fig. 4.15 (f) and (g) display the sums of the SM capacitor voltages of the hybrid MMC, and these plots indicate that the hybrid MMC retains full control over its SM capacitors. Fig. 4.15 (j) shows the active power that the hybrid MMC exchanges with the AC grid, which drops to zero during DC fault as expected. The results shown in Fig. 4.15 confirm that the hybrid MMC is able to control fault current during pole-to-pole DC short circuit fault.

In summary, simulation waveforms presented in Fig. 4.15 confirm the validity of both offline and real-time user-defined AMs of the hybrid MMC to perform detailed studies of DC short circuit fault when fault current control is enabled.





Fig. 4.15 Simulation waveforms with offline and real-time hybrid MMC AM models during DC short circuit fault when a DC fault current control is enabled

4.3 DC grid containing different MMC topologies

4.3.1 DC grid model development

Fig. 4.16 shows an example test system being used to assess the interoperability of HB, FB and hybrid MMCs in a generic DC grid. Converters T1, T2 and T3 are hybrid MMC, FB-MMC, and HB-MMC, respectively. All converters are represented in PSCAD and RTDS-RSCAD by their averaged models described in Section 4.1.1 and shown in Fig. 4.8. The control system depicted in Fig. 2.11 is incorporated into each converter station. Simulation parameters of the test systems are shown in Fig. 4.16.

The DC grid shown in Fig. 4.16 is implemented in RTDS using the concept of multi-rate, with two distinct sampling times as previously used. The power circuits of the three converters and DC cables are placed in 3 processors on GPC cards that operate at 2.5µs time step, whilst the three AC grids, control systems and part of the averaged model that calculates the capacitor voltage dynamics operate at 50µs time step placed in 2 processors on GPC card. The AC sides of the three converter models that operate at 2.5µs (small) time-steps are interfaced to the AC grids that operate at 50µs (large) time-step via three

interfacing transformers as previously described. The DC side of the converter model and associated DC cable operated at small time-step but in different processors are linked together through very short T-lines to form a DC grid.

It is worth emphasizing that the uses of T-lines for connecting converter models and DC cables that operate on different processors and the interfacing transformers for connecting system components that operate with different sample times have a negligible impact on the accuracy of the real-time simulation, which will be demonstrated later.



Fig. 4.16 Illustrative DC grid with multiple converter topologies

4.3.2 Normal operation

Fig. 4.17 displays RSCAD simulation waveforms superimposed on their PSCAD equivalents, where PS and RT subscripts stand for PSCAD and RTDS simulations respectively. In the simulations of the DC grid in Fig. 4.16, converter T_3 controls the DC grid voltage at 640kV, whilst T_1 and T_2 are operated as follows:

- At t=2s, T₂ ramps its active power from 0 to 600MW at a rate of 1200MW/s;
- At t=2.5s, T₁ ramps its active power output from 0 to 600MW at the same rate whereas within t=4-5s it reverses power from 600MW to -1000MW.

Throughout the simulation, converters T_1 , T_2 and T_3 maintain their reactive power outputs at zero.

The active power and DC voltage in Fig. 4.17 (a) and (b) show that the DC voltage controlling converter T_3 (HB-MMC) regulates its DC link voltage tightly around 640kV and adjust its active power exchange with the AC grid G_3 as the power controlling converters T_1 (hybrid MMC) and T_2 (FB-MMC) vary their active power set-points. These expected behaviours are replicated accurately by both the offline PSCAD and real-time RTDS simulation waveforms, see Fig. 4.17 (a) and (b).



Fig. 4.17 Simulation waveforms during normal operation variation with the PSCAD and RSCAD models: (a) active powers of the T1, T2 and T3, (b) DC voltage of the converter terminal T3.

4.3.3 **Response during pole-to-pole DC short circuit fault**

This section presents DC fault simulation waveforms when a permanent pole-to-pole DC short circuit (fault resistance equals to 0.005Ω) is applied at the main DC fault node (F₂) at t=4s whilst both converters T₁ and T₂ control their active powers at 600MW prior to the fault. All converters are blocked 50µs after fault inception. Fig. 4.18 (a) and (b) show the pole-to-pole DC voltage at F₂ and DC link currents of the three converters, with the DC link currents of the T₁ (hybrid MMC) and T₂ (FB-MMC) drop to zero after the activation of the converters blocking, while converter T₃ (HB-MMC) continues to feed current into the DC fault through its AC supply. The plots in Fig. 4.18 (c) show the active

powers of converters T_1 and T_2 drop to zero immediately after blocking, while T_3 continues to draw reduced active power from AC grid G_3 due to the high fault current. Similar behaviour can be observed from the DC current as Fig. 4.18 (d), (e) and (f) show the arm currents of T_1 and T_2 drop to zero, and that of the T_3 reverses direction and is fed from the AC side.

The DC voltages and currents, active powers and arm currents shown in Fig. 4.18 (a) through (f) are well matched between the offline and real-time simulation waveforms in terms of different dynamics and magnitudes during transients associated with the DC faults.





4.4 Summary

The modelling methods for full-bridge and hybrid MMCs are presented in this chapter. Switching function model and averaged model of full-bridge and hybrid MMCs are developed and implemented in RTDS as user-defined real-time models. These models are validated against offline PSCAD FB and hybrid MMC models. Results of comprehensive comparisons of the simulation waveforms show that the offline and real-time simulation waveforms are in full agreement during normal operation and various AC and DC faults conditions. It has shown that the FB and hybrid MMCs can provide full control of DC and AC current during DC faults conditions. The developed models can be used for a variety of system studies with high computational efficiency and accuracy examining the enhanced control and operation provided by FB and hybrid MMCs. Based on the userdefined real-time FB and hybrid MMC models developed and validated in this chapter and HB model validated in Chapter 3, a summary of detailed quantitative study that assesses the interoperability of different converter topologies that operate side-by-side in a multi-terminal DC grid has been presented. Detailed examinations of the presented results, with the simulation waveforms of the real-time models superimposed on that of the offline PSCAD, reveal that both models being compared produce practically identical results during normal and abnormal conditions. It can be concluded that the offline and real-time simulation models employed in this chapter are well-suited for a wide range of DC grid studies such as normal operation, and AC and DC faults.

Chapter 5 Extraction of small-signal impedance for stability assessment

The large-scale adoption of power electronic converters paves the way towards modern power grids with high flexibility and efficiency. However, this will significantly change the characteristics of the AC grid and pose new challenges to the stability of the power system. In 1976, Middlebrook first presented the criterion that an electrical system is stable if the Nyquist contour of the product of the source impedance and load admittance remains within the unit circle [71]. Since then, impedance-based stability analysis has been used for power systems. The impedance-based stability criterion of grid-connected inverters was proposed in [74] and if the ratio between the grid impedance and the converter impedance satisfies the Nyquist stability criterion, the system will remain stable.

In this chapter, small-signal impedances are measured from time-domain RSCAD models for stability assessment of an HVDC system. Firstly, a small signal impedance extraction method in the positive/negative (PN) frame is introduced. The scenario of a simplified GB AC network connected with an MMC is given in RSCAD for real-time simulation use. The simplified GB network contains 8 buses and 5 regions with connections and power flow mainly based on the National Grid Electricity Ten Year Statement [69]. The proposed measurement method is applied to extract the impedance of the AC grid itself. In order to explore factors that affect the terminal impedance of the AC network, HVAC cables of different lengths are included between the AC network and the MMC. In addition, a method based on curve fitting is introduced to simplify the frequency-dependent cable model into a lumped parameter model that can be used by analytical analysis and stability assessment. The impact of different MMC modelling methods on the impedance of the MMC is also studied. Finally, the impedance-based stability assessment is presented using the measured AC system and MMC impedances.

5.1 **Background of impedance-based stability assessment**

The essence of the impedance method for stability assessment was published in 1979 [124]. The method divides the system under study into two parts: a source and a load subsystem. In this study, the AC network represents the source, and the MMC converter represents the load subsystem. As shown in Fig. 5.1, the source is modelled by its Thevenin equivalent circuit containing an output impedance in series with an ideal voltage source, while the converter, which is modelled as a controlled current source, is presented by the impedance in parallel with a current source by its Norton equivalent. The advantage of such representation is the possibility of applying SISO control theory. This linear representation cannot represent the nonlinear power electronic circuits, and thus, it is only valid for the small-signal analysis of converter circuits.



Fig. 5.1 Impedance based Small-signal equivalent circuit

The impedance-based stability criterion discussed in [74] is used in the study. Based on the equivalent circuit, the converter output current is:

$$I(s) = \frac{I_c(s)Z_0(s) - V_g(s)}{Z_0(s) + Z_g(s)}$$
(5.1)

which can be rearranged to:

$$I(s) = \left[I_{c}(s) - \frac{V_{g}(s)}{Z_{0}(s)}\right] \cdot \frac{1}{1 + \frac{Z_{g}(s)}{Z_{0}(s)}}$$
(5.2)

According to [74], a grid-connected converter will remain stable if the ratio of the grid impedance to the converter output impedance, $\frac{Z_s(s)}{Z_0(s)}$, satisfies the Nyquist criterion [74].

The main advantage of this method is that the stability assessment of the system only needs the equivalent impedances of the AC network and the converter without details of the inside parameters and control structures.

5.2 Impedance measurement in PN frame

Impedance-based stability analysis can be performed based on two measured impedances or based on a combination of the measured impedance and the impedance obtained from analytical models. Therefore, when making impedance measurements, consideration should be given to how to make the measured impedance more widely applicable.

Many analytical MMC models have been proposed. In [76] a harmonic-state-space MMC analytical model is proposed based on abc-frame. However, the PLL is not taken into account in this model, nor is the usually adopted dq-frame control loop. The dq-frame controllers can generate frequency coupling (positive and negative sequence) which is difficult to be reflected in abc-frame. In [80], MMC analytical model is proposed based on positive and negative (pn) frame (positive and negative sequence) with positive and negative sequence coupling considered. Due to the advantages of modelling impedances in pn frame including full consideration of frequency coupling, increased VSC analytical models are now being developed in pn-frame [125][126][127]. With this trend in mind, the impedance measurements in this chapter will be based on pn-frame.

5.2.1 Impedance measurement method

Frequency sweep is used to extract the network and MMC admittances using RSCAD simulation at the point of common coupling (PCC). Fig. 5.2 shows an example in which frequency sweep is applied to measure the impedance of the AC grid. As shown in Fig. 5.2, a three-phase voltage source $V_{per(ABC)}$ is connected in series to the measuring point, and frequency sweep is carried out. The voltage source is set to create a voltage magnitude at variable frequency. The frequency sweep is realized by continuous changes of fixed

frequency step. The steady-state time-domain voltage and current waveforms, i.e. $v_{pg(ABC)}$ and $i_{pg(ABC)}$ are measured in RSCAD.



Fig. 5.2 Implementation of the frequency sweep

The measured grid voltage and current are then exported to MATLAB where Fourier analysis is carried out to calculate the voltage and current magnitudes and phases for each of the injected frequencies in the pn-frame. Due to the possible coupling between the P and N axes components, the admittances of the network at one specific frequency can be given as

$$\begin{bmatrix} i_{pgP} \\ i_{pgN} \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} Y_{pp} & Y_{pn} \\ Y_{np} & Y_{nn} \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} v_{pgP} \\ v_{pgN} \end{bmatrix}$$
(5.3)

where Y_{pp} and Y_{nn} are the "self" admittances of the P and N axes, respectively. Y_{pn} and Y_{np} are the "cross" admittances from N to P and from P to N, respectively. v_{pgP} and v_{pgN} are the measured positive and negative sequence voltage at the specific frequency, respectively, whereas the i_{pgP} and i_{pgN} are the corresponding currents.

To extract the 4 admittances, two sets of voltage and current measurements for each frequency are required, and the admittances are calculated using

$$\begin{bmatrix} Y_{pp} & Y_{pn} \\ Y_{np} & Y_{nn} \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} i_{P1} & i_{P2} \\ i_{N1} & i_{N2} \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} v_{P1} & v_{P2} \\ v_{N1} & v_{N2} \end{bmatrix}^{-1}$$
(5.4)

where subscripts 1 and 2 refer to the first and second injections.

When a positive sequence perturbation voltage $V_{perP(s)}$ is injected to the system as the first injection, the measured response voltage and current contain the positive sequence component of frequency S ($v_{Pl(s)}$ and $i_{Pl(s)}$) and the negative sequence component of

frequency $s - 2\omega_0(v_{N1(s-2\omega_0)})$ and $i_{N1(s-2\omega_0)}$), where ω_0 is the fundamental frequency of the system. In order to solve (5.4), the corresponding negative sequence perturbation voltage of frequency $s - 2\omega_0$ is used as the second injection. When the second injection is applied, the measured responding voltage and current consist of components of frequency $S(v_{P2(s)})$ and $s - 2\omega_0(v_{N2(s-2\omega_0)})$ and $i_{N2(s-2\omega_0)})$. The frequency sweep range is from 1Hz to 300Hz as the typical frequency of interest for MMC stability assessment ranges a few tens of Hertz to a few hundreds Hertz. When $s - 2\omega_0 < 0$, the corresponding second measurement actually injects equivalent positive sequence perturbation voltage of frequency $2\omega_0 - s$ instead of negative frequency voltage. Considering all the conditions mentioned above, (5.4) can be rewritten as:

$$\begin{bmatrix} Y_{pp(s)} & Y_{pn(s)} \\ Y_{np(s-2\omega_0)} & Y_{nn(s-2\omega_0)} \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} i_{P1(s)} & i_{P2(s)} \\ i_{N1(s-2\omega_0)} & i_{N2(s-2\omega_0)} \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} v_{P1(s)} & v_{P2(s)} \\ v_{N1(s-2\omega_0)} & v_{N2(s-2\omega_0)} \end{bmatrix}^{-1} (s \ge 2\omega_0)$$

$$\begin{bmatrix} Y_{pp(s)} & Y_{pn(s)} \\ Y_{np(2\omega_0-s)} & Y_{nn(2\omega_0-s)} \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} i_{P1(s)} & i_{P2(s)} \\ i_{N1(2\omega_0-s)} & i_{N2(2\omega_0-s)} \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} v_{P1(s)} & v_{P2(s)} \\ v_{N1(s-2\omega_0-s)} & v_{N2(s-2\omega_0-s)} \end{bmatrix}^{-1} (s < 2\omega_0)$$
(5.5)

5.2.2 Time-domain RSCAD model formulation and impedance measurement

In order to measure the network admittance at a specific operating point, the simplified GB AC network model is developed and connected to an MMC model in RSCAD as shown in Fig. 5.3. The DC side of the MMC model is connected to a DC source. The MMC transfers 1000MW active power to the AC grid at unity power factor. The HVAC cable connects the network model and MMC model which are implemented in two different RTDS racks. The HVAC cable is modelled by a frequency-dependent model with physical parameters and the length of the cable can be varied to represent the different connection distances of the converter from the network.



Fig. 5.3 RSCAD implementation of the AC network and MMC models

5.2.2.1 The time-domain GB network model

The existing simplified GB AC grid model is based on real power flow data of the eight areas as presented in the Electricity Ten Year Statement (ETYS) of the UK National Grid (NG) [69]. The AC grid model includes 5 regions of the UK, as shown in Fig. 5.4 (a) and (b), where each region is represented by an AC generator and a dynamic load. The model is developed in RTDS as a simplified 8-bus aggregated dynamic model representing key generation and load areas, as shown in Fig. 5.5. Each AC generator is modelled as an aggregated large synchronous machine with a step-up transformer (13.8kV/400kV) to represent the generation at the related area. The rating of each generator is set according to the UK 2019 load flow [69].



Fig. 5.4 (a) Regional map of the UK Electricity Transmission System[69]; and (b) Simplified 8-bus GB network representation

The AC overhead transmission lines of the AC grid are modelled using PI-section line models with lumped resistance (R), capacitance (C), and inductance (L). The line parameters (R, C and L) are calculated from the power flow data (P, Q, |V| and voltage angle) provided by the NG ETYS for 2019 [69]. The same methodology for modelling the UK transmission system as presented in [128] is used, which calculates the line parameters based on the required power flow at each bus.



Fig. 5.5 The 8-bus network model implemented in RTDS

The parameters of the generators, loads and transmission lines of the model shown in Fig. 5.5 are listed in Table 4, Table 5 and Table 6, respectively. The loads in the RTDS model are modelled as constant power loads whose P and Q are pre-specified. Thus, the simulation calculates the admittance of each load at every time step, considering the voltage magnitude at the load terminal. The data used in this test is a simplification from the power flow data (P, Q, |V| and voltage angle) provided by the NG ETYS for 2019 [69] by merging areas together into 5 regions.

	Rated MVA	Xa	X _d	X _d '	Xq	X _q '	Ra	T _{d0} '	T _{d0} "
G1	11000	0.20	2.3	0.4	2.3	١	0.001	10	0.05
G2	20000	0.20	2.3	0.4	2.3	١	0.001	10	0.05
G3	9160	0.20	2.3	0.4	2.3	١	0.001	10	0.05
G4	14980	0.11	2.3	0.4	2.3	١	0.005	10	0.05
G5	5500	0.20	2.3	0.4	2.3	\	0.005	10	0.05

Table 4 Parameter of the generators (per unit values base on the rated voltage of 13.8kV)

Table 5	Parameter	of the	loads
---------	-----------	--------	-------

Regions	SG active power	Load			
Regions	setting (MW)	Active power (MW)	Reactive power (MVar)		
Region 1	9350	8486	4110		
Region 2	14200	12548	6077		
Region 3	8794	8398	4067		
Region 4	14530	17852	10005		
Region 5	5500	4150	1041		

Table 6 Parameters of the transmission lines (at 50 Hz)

т.	Desistance (ahma)	Inductive reactance at	Capacitive reactance	
Lines	Resistance (onms)	50Hz (ohms)	at 50 Hz (Mega ohms)	
Line 1	2.030	25.024	0.078	
Line 2	0.838	11.222	0.037	
Line 3	0.007	6.232	0.007	
Line 4	4.800	48.500	1.000	
Line 5	0.007	6.232	0.007	
Line 6	0.007	4.232	0.080	
Line 7	2.816	26.122	0.080	



Fig. 5.6 Impedance measuring point of the GB network (excluding cable)

Fig. 5.6 shows the location of the frequency injection for impedance measurement of the GB AC network and Fig. 5.7 (a) shows the corresponding measured positive sequence admittance Ypp which appears largely inductive. As the negative sequence admittance $Y_{NN}(s - 2j\omega_0)$ includes a 100Hz frequency shift, $Y_{NN}(s - 2j\omega_0)$ shown in Fig. 5.7 (d) for frequency range over 100Hz has a similar shape as the $Y_{PP}(s)$ from 0Hz, whereas the shape of $Y_{NN}(2j\omega_0 - s)$ _magnitude between 0 to 100Hz is similar to the mirror shape of $Y_{PP}(s)$ _magnitude in the same frequency range. Equally, the shape of $Y_{NN}(2j\omega_0 - s)$ _phase between 0 to 100Hz is similar to the injected frequency closes to the nominal operation frequency of 50Hz during frequency sweep, the nominal operating condition affects the measurement accuracy of the injected voltage and current at such frequency and consequently, leads to some errors of the measured admittance. As can be seen, for the specific AC network model investigated, the measured admittances are largely inductive.



Fig. 5.7 Measured network admittance seen at the network terminal

Fig. 5.7 (b) and (c) show the measured coupling admittances Y_{PN} and Y_{NP} . It can be seen that the magnitudes of Y_{PN} and Y_{NP} are much smaller than those of Y_{PP} and Y_{NN} indicating weak admittance cross-coupling between the P and N axes of the AC network. The large phase variations of Y_{PN} and Y_{NP} as shown in Fig. 5.7 (b) and (c) are due to the fact that the introduced coupling voltages and currents are all small and thus even a very small measurement error can lead to large phase variation.

From the admittance shown in Fig. 5.7, it can be observed that the dynamics of the synchronous generators and their controls do not affect the admittances of the system seen at the connection point. This is largely due to the fact that their impact frequency (below

ten hertz) is much lower than the frequency of interest for converter stability (from tens hertz to hundreds hertz). The AC network admittance appears similar to a purely inductive network.

5.2.2.3 Cable modelling and its impact on grid admittance

In the previous section, the grid impedance measured at the AC connection point was obtained. As the natural resonant frequencies of typical AC cables are in the frequency range of interest for converters, the existence of AC cables close to HVDC converters can potentially have a significant impact on system stability. In this section, various cable modelling methods are explored, and their impact on network impedance is assessed considering different cable lengths.

To capture the dynamics of AC cables, the frequency-dependent model is used as a benchmark. The structure and detailed parameters of the HVAC cables are given in Fig. 5.8 and Table 7, which are provided by industrial partners in PROMOTioN project funded by the European Union's Horizon 2020 scheme and will be published in the project report Deliverable 3.7: Compliance evaluation results using simulations. Based on these physical parameters and materials, the AC cable is modelled in RSCAD using Cable_V2 tool, as depicted in Fig. 5.9. It should be noted that the RTDS Cable model is limited to model the capacitive and inductive coupling within one single-phase concentric cable. Modelling of the electromagnetic coupling between parallel cables is not supported.



Fig. 5.8 AC cable structure

Parameters	Value		
Power	1000 MW		
Frequency	50 Hz		
Rated voltage	220 kV		
Maximum admissible voltage	245 kV		
Conductor cross-section	1000 mm ²		
Conductor material	Copper		
Insulation material	XLPE		
Armour material	Steel		
Diameter of conductor	37.9 mm		
Insulation thickness	23.0 mm		
Diameter over insulation	87.3 mm		
Lead sheath thickness	3.1 mm		
Outer diameter of the cable	241.0 mm		
Capacitance	0.19 µF/km		
Charging current per phase at 50 Hz	7.4 A/km		
Inductance	0.38 mH/km		

Table 7 Cable parameters from the PROMOTioN Project



(a) Cable data

Pipe Data					
Preview All Pipes			Preview Pipe 1		
		Specify X,Y	Manually		
Manual		Specify Inner Insulator Radius	Manually		
ovennae		Specify Conductor (Pipe) Radius	Manually		
	Xi	X-Coordinate (m)	0.0		
General	Yi	Y-Coordinate (m) (negative distance in ground)	-1.0725		
	r1	Outer Radius (mm)	110.5		
Inner	Eİ	Relative Permittivity	2.4 💌		
moulator	μi	Relative Permeability	1.0		
	r2	Outer Radius (mm)	115.5		
Conductor	ρc	Resistivity (Ω-m)	1.8e-7 💌		
(Pipe)	μc	Relative Permeability	100.0 🔻		
	÷	Ground Pipe	Yes 🔻		
		Has Outer Insulation	Yes 🔻		
Outer Insulator	r3	Outer Radius (mm)	120.5		
	80	Relative Permittivity	2.4 💌		
	μο	Relative Permeability	1.0		
	0				
	0				
	3				

(b) Pipe data

Fig. 5.9 Layout of AC cable model in Cable_V2 tool (RSCAD)



Fig. 5.10 Impedance measuring point of the AC network including HVAC cable

After moving the impedance measuring point to include the AC cable in the simplified GB network as shown in Fig. 5.10, the AC grid admittance at the MMC connection terminal is measured. The admittance Y_{PP} measured at this point varies with the length of the connecting cable between the GB network and the converter as shown in Fig. 5.11 (a)-(d). When a 20km cable is applied, the measured admittance remains largely inductive as the previous case shown in Fig. 5.7(a). However, resonance appears at around 230Hz when a 60km cable is used. The resonant frequency is reduced to 170 Hz for a 100km cable and further to 118Hz with a 180km cable. Such resonant frequencies are in the typical frequency ranges of MMC converter responses and thus it potentially can significantly impact on system stability.



Fig. 5.11 Grid admittance versus different cable length

Therefore, it is necessary to consider AC cables when analysing the stability of HVDC systems. However, it is difficult to implement frequency-dependent model of AC cable in analytical studies. The underlying problem is thus how to simplify AC cable models whilst retaining accurate cable dynamic characteristics.

According to CIGRE guidebook [129], a simplified pi-section model is established for a 60km AC cable based on the physical parameters, as shown in Fig. 5.12. This lumped parameter model takes the following into account:

- Data related to the construction characteristics of the cable: layout (parallel singlecore cables and pipe type cables), geometry and properties of the conducting and insulating materials (conducting and insulating layers).
- Data related to the surrounding conditions (in air, buried directly underground, in ducts, troughs or in steel pipes).
- Skin and proximity effects for the calculation of AC resistance of conductors.
- Dielectric losses, screen and armour losses, losses in steel pipes, etc.



Fig. 5.12 Equivalent AC cable model using RLC representation

According to the parameters listed in Table 7 and Fig. 5.8, the measured grid admittances Y_{PP} with the 60km HVAC cable using lumped PI section model calculated using the CIGRE guidebook and frequency-dependent model are compared in Fig. 5.13.



Fig. 5.13 Comparison of Grid admittances with 60 km HVAC cable using lumped RLC PI section model and frequency-dependent cable model

From Fig. 5.13, it can be observed that the lumped RLC model doesn't fit the frequencydependent model well. The resonance frequency of the AC grid using the lumped model is 174.5Hz compared to 226.8Hz using the frequency-dependent model. The error is largely caused by using simplified formulas with approximations in the RLC model, e.g. the depth of cable and actual cross-bonded configuration are not considered in the manual calculation [129]. Additional measurements with increased PI sections using the calculated RLC model provide similar results as that of the single PI section model.

In order to obtain the lumped parameter model which can accurately represent the resonance frequency for analytical studies, the curve fitting method is applied to the RLC calculation method. Considering the resonance in the grid caused by *LC* oscillations, the resonance frequency f_{FD} of the frequency-dependent model can be approximated as:

$$f_{FD} = \frac{1}{2\pi\sqrt{LC_{FD}}}$$
(5.6)

Similarly, the resonance frequency f_{PI} of the AC grid using the pi-section model can be approximated as,
$$f_{PI} = \frac{1}{2\pi\sqrt{LC_{PI}}} \tag{5.7}$$

where the value of C_{PI} is calculated according to the CIGRE method [129] as

$$C_{PI} = 2\pi\varepsilon_r \varepsilon_0 / \ln(\frac{D}{d})$$
(5.8)

Dividing (5.7) by (5.6) and applying further algebraic manipulations, the revised capacitance used in the simplified PI section model is thus determined by:

$$C_{PI(new)} = C_{FD} = C_{PI} \left(\frac{f_{PI}}{f_{FD}}\right)^2$$
(5.9)

Using the measured resonant frequencies of 174.5Hz and 226.8Hz for the original PI section model and frequency-dependent model, the new equivalent $C_{PI(new)}$ is thus calculated using (5.9). Without changing the L and R values, the measured admittance using the revised lumped RLC model is depicted in Fig. 5.14. As can be observed, the resonance frequency shown by the new pi-section model is almost in accordance with that from the frequency-dependent model, and thus can be used for analytical system stability studies if required.



Fig. 5.14 Grid admittance using the revised lumped RLC model

5.2.3 Impedances of MMC with different time-domain modelling methods

Different time-domain MMC models have been developed and validated in PSCAD and RSCAD in Chapter 3 and Chapter 4. So far, many researchers have investigated the modelling methods of MMC, but hardly on the terminal characteristics of those models from the small-signal stability aspect [36]-[57]. A lot of publications have proposed frequency-domain analytical MMC models considering the effect of internal dynamics on the terminal impedance characteristics; however, all of them are based on averaged MMC model without a comparison of other time-domain modelling methods[76]-[81]. Therefore, the impact of different MMC modelling methods on the AC-side terminal impedance of the MMC remains to be studied. In the MMC topologies discussed in the previous chapters, the performance of each topology under steady-state operation has been validated. Therefore, the half-bridge topology which has the simplest structure among those topologies is used for steady-state impedance measurement and stability analysis in this section. A single terminal MMC-HVDC system is modelled in PSCAD as shown in Fig. 3.4, with full sets of controllers as shown in Fig. 2.11, and detailed system parameters listed in Table 1. The impedance measuring method as described in Section 5.2.1 is applied at MMC AC terminal as shown in Fig. 5.15 with a magnitude of the perturbation voltage equals to 3kV (around 0.8% of the converter-side rated AC voltage). The disturbance is injected at the frequency range of interest(3-287Hz) with 4Hz constant interval.



Fig. 5.15 Impedance measurement of the MMC

By applying the same impedance measurement method, the impedances of the MMC using the averaged model, SFM with 350 SMs per arm and SFM with 20 SMs per arm are compared in Fig. 5.16.







(b) Y_{nn}

Fig. 5.16 Admittances comparison of averaged model and SFM with different levels

It can be observed that in comparison, the admittance of the averaged model overlaps that of the SFM with 350 SMs per arm in both magnitude and phase, and the admittance of the SFM (20 SM per arm) is also similar to those of the other two models, but with a larger magnitude. The phenomenon observed in Y_{nn} is similar to that in Y_{PP} .

In order to find out the reason why the admittance of SFM (20sm) is different from that of other models, the total harmonic distortion (THD) of the AC voltages of the three models being compared are calculated. Taking the waveforms when a 167Hz perturbation voltage is injected as an example, FFT analysis of the positive sequence phase A output voltages of the three models are carried out in MATLAB. With 50Hz as the fundamental frequency and 300Hz as the maximum frequency, FFT analysis results are shown in Table 8. According to Table 8, the AC voltage THD of SFM (20 SMs per arm) THD_{s20} is significantly higher than those of other two models. Large harmonics may affect the accuracy of the measurement and FFT analysis of the response after the injection of the perturbation voltage.

	 	-	

Table 8 AC voltage THD of the 3 models when a 167hz perturbation voltage is injected

Model	THD
AVG	$THD_a = 1.92\%$
SFM (350SM)	$THD_{s350} = 2.05\%$
SFM (20SM)	$THD_{s20} = 3.06\%$

In order to minimize the interference of harmonics on the impedance measurement, magnitude of the perturbation voltage injected into the SFM (20SMs per arm) is increased from 3kV to 8kV. The newly measured admittance of the SFM (20 SMs per arm) is added to the comparison as shown in Fig. 5.17. It can be observed that the admittance of SFM (20 SMs per arm) is now almost the same as those of the other models.







(b) *Y*_{nn}

Fig. 5.17 Admittances of SFM (20 SMs per arm) with the magnitude of perturbation voltage increased to 8kV

Therefore, it can be concluded that:

- MMC Averaged model and switching function model can present almost the same external impedance on the AC side. This comparison not only validates the developed MMC models have identically same AC side impedance characteristics but also provides theoretical support for various small-signal MMC analytical models developed based on the averaged model [76]-[81].
- SFM with 20 SMs per arm and 350 SMs per arm present practically the same impedance. Given that there is already a large span between 20 and 350, this comparison also illustrates the number of SMs per arm for SFM has little effect on the AC-side impedance of the converter within a specific frequency range.
- The magnitude of the injected perturbation voltage can influence the extraction of small-signal impedance, especially when the THD of the MMC output voltage is high. Relatively high magnitude perturbation voltage will be required when the number of SM is low in the SFM in order to improve the accuracy of the impedance measurement.

5.3 Impedance-based stability assessment

A system model with an MMC connected to the simplified GB AC network is developed in RSCAD, as shown in Fig. 5.18. An averaged model MMC is connected to the GB AC network presented in Section 5.2.2.1 through a 20km frequency-dependant HVAC cable. The MMC is modelled with full sets of controllers as shown in Fig. 2.11 and detailed system parameters listed in Table 1. The frequency-domain HVAC cable with parameters and modelling details given in Table 7 and Fig. 5.9 is implemented.



Fig. 5.18 A grid-connected converter system used for impedance-based stability assessment

The admittances of the MMC and the AC grid are measured in PN-frame, as shown in Fig. 5.19 and Fig. 5.20, using the method presented in Section 5.2.1. Frequency scan is applied from 3 Hz to 575Hz with 4Hz constant interval. The magnitude of the injected perturbation voltage is 8kV.





Fig. 5.19 Admittance of the MMC for stability analysis use



Fig. 5.20 Admittance of the AC grid for stability analysis use

The MMC in the grid-connected converter system has the same parameters as that in Section 5.2.3, however, the measured admittances differs, which due to different operating points caused by changes of the AC side. It can be observed from Fig. 5.19 and Fig. 5.20 that, the coupling admittances Y_{pn} and Y_{np} of the grid and the MMC are much smaller than Y_{pp} and Y_{nn} . The extracted admittances are used for stability assessment of the system. After applying the impedance-based stability criterion proposed in [74], Fig. 5.21 depicts the Nyquist diagram of the ratio of the grid impedance to the converter output impedance in the range 3-575Hz. According to the Nyquist criterion, the grid-connected converter system is stable due to the curve is not encircling the critical point (-1,0) [74]. The voltage and current in Fig. 5.22 are measured at the point of common coupling (PCC) in time-domain, and the system stability can also be observed in the time domain simulation, which is consistent with the conclusion of the impedance-based stability analysis.



Fig. 5.21 Nyquist diagram of the grid-connected converter system



(a) 3-phase AC current at the connection point



(b) 3-phase PCC voltages Fig. 5.22 PCC currents and voltages

5.4 Summary

In this chapter, impedance measurement of the AC network and MMC has been performed. The method of impedance extraction in time-domain and the impedancebased stability analysis were described. The effects of AC cable and MMC time-domain modelling methods on the impedances have also been studied. The results of the impedance measurement show that the AC cable connected to the converter has a significant impact on the AC grid impedance, the longer the AC cable, the lower the resonance frequency of the AC system. When the length reaches a certain level, the resonance frequency is in the typical frequency ranges of MMC converter responses and potentially this can significantly impact on system stability. In order to accurately reflect the resonance point introduced by the cable, a lumped parameter model optimization method that can be used in the frequency domain analytical model has been proposed, which address the problem that models using detailed physical parameters such as the frequency-dependant model are difficult to be applied to analytical models. This method enables the lumped parameter model to accurately reflect the frequency-domain characteristics within a certain frequency range required for research while at the same time, the simplification makes it suitable for application in analytical models.

Through impedance measurement and comparison, it has been found that the different time-domain modelling methods of MMC have no significant effect on the impedance of the MMC providing the inject disturbance is sufficiently large to mitigate the generated harmonics due to the use of a low number of SM in the switching function model. Since a large number of frequency-domain analysis for MMC are based on the averaged model, this conclusion provides a theoretical basis for the frequency-domain MMC modelling research.

Chapter 6 General conclusions and future work

6.1 General conclusions

The main purpose of this research work is to develop and validate detailed and accurate offline and real-time RTDS models of MMC and DC grids. Such models deliver a useful platform for a variety of offline and real-time studies to be carried out with good accuracy for real-time implementation without relying on external FPGAs.

In this thesis, detailed switching, switching function, Thevenin equivalent and averaged models of HB-MMC have been discussed including the theoretical basis that underpins each modelling method, and basic assumptions made in the development of each method. The aforementioned HB-MMC models were developed and validated by comparing the results of PSCAD offline simulation models (switching function, averaged and Thevenin equivalent MMC models) first, considering steady-steady operation, AC and DC short circuit faults. Then, simulation efficiencies of different HB-MMC models were compared. The comprehensive comparison of the offline simulation waveforms proves that the averaged and switching function HB-MMC models produce largely identical results as those from the Thevenin equivalent MMC model in the PSCAD MMC library, but with much greater simulation efficiency. This conclusion is valid for a wide range of studies, including normal steady-state operation and faults. Similar voltage and current stresses are observed on the MMC active and passive components. As a follow up of the extensive offline validations of a number of MMC models, the detailed validations of user-defined real-time HB-MMC switching function and averaged MMC models developed in RSCAD against the offline PSCAD MMC switching function models were presented, which shows good agreement between the offline and real-time simulation waveforms during normal operation, symmetrical and asymmetrical AC faults, and DC faults.

Switching function model and averaged model of FB and hybrid MMCs have been developed and implemented in RTDS as user-defined real-time models. These models

were validated against offline PSCAD FB and hybrid MMC models. Results of the comprehensive comparisons of the simulation waveforms show that the offline and realtime simulation waveforms are in full agreement during normal operation and various AC and DC faults conditions. The developed models can be used for a variety of system studies with high computational efficiency and accuracy in examining the enhanced control and operation provided by FB and hybrid MMCs. Based on the user-defined real-time HB, FB and hybrid MMC models, a summary of detailed quantitative study that assesses the interoperability of different converter topologies that operate side-by-side in a multi-terminal DC grid closely resembling the Caithness-Morey-Shetland HVDC system was presented. Detailed examinations of the presented results reveal that both models being compared produce practically identical results during normal and abnormal conditions.

Impedance measurement of a simplified GB AC network model and MMC has been performed. The method of impedance extraction in time-domain and the impedancebased stability analysis were described. The effects of AC cable and MMC time-domain modelling methods on the impedances were studied. The results of the impedance measurement show that the AC cable connected to the converter has a significant impact on the AC grid impedance. There is potential resonance in AC network impedance with a long cable and the longer the AC cable, the lower the resultant resonance frequency of the AC system. When the length reaches a certain level, the resonance frequency of the AC system falls in the typical frequency ranges of MMC converter responses and potentially this can significantly impact on system stability. In order to accurately reflect the resonance point introduced by the cable, a lumped parameter model optimization method that can be used in the frequency domain analytical model was proposed, which address the problem that models using detailed physical parameters such as the frequency-dependent cable model are difficult to be applied to analytical models. This method enables the lumped parameter model to accurately reflect the frequency-domain characteristics within a certain frequency range required for study while at the same time, the simplification makes it suitable for application in analytical models. Through impedance measurement and comparison, it has been found that the different timedomain modelling methods of MMC have no significant effect on the impedance of the MMC providing the inject disturbance is sufficiently large to mitigate the generated harmonics due to the use of a low number of SMs in the switching function model. Since most frequency-domain analysis for MMC is based on the averaged model, this conclusion provides a theoretical basis for the frequency-domain MMC modelling research.

6.2 Author's contributions

The thesis contains the following main contributions:

- Detailed submodule (SM) level half-bridge (HB), full-bridge (FB) and hybrid MMC models with adjustable number of SMs per arm and generic and customized control functions are developed and validated. The developed MMC models can facilitate testing of MMC control and protection solutions in offline and real-time, offer the users the means to investigate further potential performance improvement and use as a strong basis for explorations of multi-vendor schemes. The developed models are introduced as open-access MMC models by the National HVDC Centre and available to download at www.hvdccentre.com/projects/open-access-converter-models/ . The developed models have been used in a number of projects by the National HVDC Centre.
- Offline and real-time three-terminal DC grid models closely resembling the Caithness-Morey-Shetland HVDC system are developed to investigate DC grid power flow control during steady-state and AC faults. Interoperability of different MMC topologies in a DC grid is assessed quantitatively using offline PSCAD and real-time RSCAD simulations. The models provide platforms for further investigation into DC grid operations with different DC voltage control and power dispatch strategies, the interaction of AC and DC grids including voltage and/or frequency stability, system protection, integration of renewables etc.
- Development of a RSCAD frequency measurement tool to extract impedances of an MMC and connected AC network for stability assessment. The scenario of GB AC network connected to an MMC is provided in RSCAD for RTDS based realtime simulation use. Focusing on the grid-connected converter system, how do the AC cable and MMC time-domain models affect the impedance has been explored.

6.3 Suggestions for future research

Potential areas for future research include:

- The developed lumped parameter HVAC cable model has only been validated against the frequency-dependent cable model in the frequency range of 1-300Hz. The higher frequency range can be considered for optimization of lumped parameter cable model.
- Investigate the impact of different SM capacitor voltage balancing strategies on the internal harmonics and output impedance of the MMC.
- Optimize the impedance extraction process for shorter injecting time by applying different perturbation voltage injection methods, for example, maximum-length binary sequence (MLBS) signal.
- Investigate the development of RTDS MMC models in hardware-in-the-loop test with MMC assigned in RTDS processor and part of the control system implemented in hardware.
- Implement the MMC models in FPGA devices for real-time simulation.
- Investigate the impact of different voltage balancing strategies on the time-domain simulation efficiency and MMC output impedance.
- Optimize the fault validation with protection system considered.

Reference

- E. W. Kimbark, "Direct Current Transmission," John Wiley & Sons, Inc., vol. 1, 1971, ISBN 0-471-47580-7.
- [2] R. Moran, "Executioner's current Thomas Edison, George Westinghouse, and the invention of the electric chair, Chapter: The Battle of the Currents," New York: Vintage Books, 2003, ISBN 037572446X.
- [3] S. Shah, R. Hassan, S. Jian, "HVDC transmission system architectures and control
 A review", *Control and Modeling for Power Electronics 2013 IEEE 14th* Workshop, pp. 1-8, 2013.
- [4] N. M. Kirby, "HVDC system solutions", *Transmission and Distribution Conference and Exposition T&D IEEE PES*, pp. 1-3, 2012.
- [5] M. H. Okba, M. H. Saied, M. Z. Mostafa and T. M. Abdel- Moneim, "High voltage direct current transmission - A review, part I," 2012 IEEE Energytech, Cleveland, OH, 2012, pp. 1-7.
- [6] O. E. Oni, I. E. Davidson and K. N. I. Mbangula, "A review of LCC-HVDC and VSC-HVDC technologies and applications," 2016 IEEE 16th International Conference on Environment and Electrical Engineering (EEEIC), Florence, 2016, pp. 1-7.
- [7] "HVDC Light® reference list," ABB [Online]. Available: https://new.abb.com/systems/hvdc/references, [Accessed 17 March. 2020], (2020).
- [8] B. T. Ooi and X. Wang, "Voltage angle lock loop control of the boost type PWM converter for HVDC application," in *IEEE Transactions on Power Electronics*, vol. 5, no. 2, pp. 229-235, April 1990.
- [9] B. T. Ooi and X. Wang, "Boost-type PWM HVDC transmission system," in *IEEE Transactions on Power Delivery*, vol. 6, no. 4, pp. 1557-1563, Oct. 1991.
- [10] N. Flourentzou, V. G. Agelidis and G. D. Demetriades, "VSC-Based HVDC Power Transmission Systems: An Overview," in *IEEE Transactions on Power Electronics*, vol. 24, no. 3, pp. 592-602, March 2009.
- [11] A. Nabae, I. Takahashi and H. Akagi, "A New Neutral-Point-Clamped PWM Inverter," in *IEEE Transactions on Industry Applications*, vol. IA-17, no. 5, pp. 518-523, Sept. 1981.
- [12] L. Paulsson *et al.*, "High-frequency impacts in a converter-based back-to-back tie; the Eagle Pass installation," in *IEEE Transactions on Power Delivery*, vol. 18, no. 4, pp. 1410-1415, Oct. 2003.

- [13] D. Kidd, B. Mehraban, B. Ekehov, J. Ulleryd and A. Edris, "Eagle pass back to back VSC installation and operation," 2003 IEEE Power Engineering Society General Meeting (IEEE Cat. No.03CH37491), Toronto, Ont., 2003, pp. 1829-1833 Vol. 3.
- [14] A. Petersson and A. Edris, "Dynamic performance of the Eagle Pass back-to-back HVDC Light tie," *Seventh International Conference on AC-DC Power Transmission*, London, UK, 2001, pp. 220-225.
- [15] A. Lesnicar and R. Marquardt, "An innovative modular multilevel converter topology suitable for a wide power range," in Power Tech Conference Proceedings, 2003 IEEE Bologna, 2003, p. 6 pp. Vol.3.
- [16] M. Glinka and R. Marquardt, "A new AC/AC-multilevel converter family applied to a single-phase converter," in *Power Electronics and Drive Systems*, 2003. *PEDS 2003. The Fifth International Conference on*, 2003, pp. 16-23 Vol.1.
- [17] Westerweller T. et al, "Trans bay cable world's first HVDC system using multilevel voltage-sourced converter", CIGRE Paper B4_101_2010, CIGRE Conference, Paris August 2010.
- [18] S. Allebrod, R. Hamerski and R. Marquardt, "New transformerless, scalable Modular Multilevel Converters for HVDC-transmission," in *Power Electronics Specialists Conference, 2008. PESC 2008. IEEE*, 2008, pp. 174-179.L.
- [19] M. Glinka and R. Marquardt, "A new AC/AC multilevel converter family," *Industrial Electronics, IEEE Transactions on*, vol. 52, pp. 662-669, 2005..
- [20] S. Li, F. Xingang, E. Alonso, M. Fairbank and D. C. Wunsch, "Neural-network based vector control of VSCHVDC transmission systems," in 2015 International Conference on Renewable Energy Research and Applications (ICRERA), 2015, pp. 173-180.
- [21] B. Jacobson;, P. Karlsson;, G.Asplund;, L.Harnnart; and a. T. Jonsson, "VSC-HVDC Transmission with Cascaded Two-level Converters," presented at the CIGRE 2010, 2010.
- [22] U. Astrom, B. Westman, V. Lescale and G. Asplund, "Power transmission with HVDC at voltages above 600 kV," in 2005 IEEE Power Engineering Society Inaugural Conference and Exposition in Africa, 2005, pp. 44-50.
- [23] G. Asplund, "Application of HVDC Light to power system enhancement," in Power Engineering Society Winter Meeting, 2000. IEEE, 2000, pp. 2498-2503 vol.4.
- [24] D. A. N. Jacobson, P. Wang, M. Mohaddes, M. Rashwan and R. Ostash, "A preliminary look at the feasibility of VSC HVdc in Manitoba," in *Electrical Power* and Energy Conference (EPEC), 2011 IEEE, 2011, pp. 80-85.
- [25] Asplund, Gunnar, Kjell Eriksson, and Birger Drugge. "Electric power transmission to distant loads by HVDC Light." *Distribution 2000*. 1997.

- [26] G. P. Adam, I. Abdelsalam, J. E. Fletcher, G. M. Burt, D. Holliday, and S. J. Finney, "New Efficient Submodule for a Modular Multilevel Converter in Multiterminal HVDC Networks," *IEEE Transactions on Power Electronics*, vol. 32, pp. 4258-4278, 2017.
- [27] P. Li, G. Adam, D. Holliday and B. Williams, "Controlled Transition Full-bridge Hybrid Multilevel Converter with Chain-links of Full-bridge Cells," *IEEE Transactions on Power Electronics*, vol. PP, pp. 1-1, 2016.
- [28] Y. Zhang, G. P. Adam, T.C.Lim, S. J. Finney and a. B. W. Williams, "Voltage Source Converter in High Voltage Applications: Multilevel versus Two-level Converters," in *IET*, the 9th International Conference on AC and DC Power Transmission, London, UK, 2010.
- [29] G. P. Adam, I. A. Gowaid, S. J. Finney, D. Holliday and B. W. Williams, "Review of dc-dc converters for multi-terminal HVDC transmission networks," *IET Power Electronics*, vol. 9, pp. 281-296, 2016.
- [30] G. P. Adam, S. J. Finney, K. Bell and B. W. Williams, "Transient capability assessments of HVDC voltage source converters," in *Power and Energy Conference at Illinois (PECI), 2012 IEEE*, 2012, pp. 1-8.
- [31] M. Glinka and R. Marquardt, "A new AC/AC-multilevel converter family applied to a single-phase converter," *The Fifth International Conference on Power Electronics and Drive Systems, 2003. PEDS 2003.*, Singapore, 2003, pp. 16-23 Vol.1.
- [32] R. Marquardt, "Modular Multilevel Converter: An universal concept for HVDC-Networks and extended DC-Bus-applications," *The 2010 International Power Electronics Conference - ECCE ASIA -*, Sapporo, 2010, pp. 502-507.
- [33] R. Zeng, L. Xu, L. Yao and B. W. Williams, "Design and Operation of a Hybrid Modular Multilevel Converter," in *IEEE Transactions on Power Electronics*, vol. 30, no. 3, pp. 1137-1146, March 2015.
- [34] A. Nami, J. Liang, F. Dijkhuizen and G. D. Demetriades, "Modular Multilevel Converters for HVDC Applications: Review on Converter Cells and Functionalities," in *IEEE Transactions on Power Electronics*, vol. 30, no. 1, pp. 18-36, Jan. 2015.
- [35] R. Zeng, L. Xu and L. Yao, "DC/DC Converters Based on Hybrid MMC for HVDC Grid Interconnection," 11th IET International Conference on AC and DC Power Transmission, Birmingham, 2015, pp. 1-6.
- [36] S. P. Teeuwsen, "Simplified dynamic model of a voltage-sourced converter with modular multilevel converter design," 2009 IEEE/PES Power Systems Conference and Exposition, Seattle, WA, 2009, pp. 1-6.

- [37] U. N. Gnanarathna, A. M. Gole and R. P. Jayasinghe, "Efficient Modeling of Modular Multilevel HVDC Converters (MMC) on Electromagnetic Transient Simulation Programs," in *IEEE Transactions on Power Delivery*, vol. 26, no. 1, pp. 316-324, Jan. 2011.
- [38] K. Strunz and E. Carlson, "Nested Fast and Simultaneous Solution for Time-Domain Simulation of Integrative Power-Electric and Electronic Systems," in *IEEE Transactions on Power Delivery*, vol. 22, no. 1, pp. 277-287, Jan. 2007.
- [39] A. G. M. Strollo, "A new IGBT circuit model for SPICE simulation," PESC97. Record 28th Annual IEEE Power Electronics Specialists Conference. Formerly Power Conditioning Specialists Conference 1970-71. Power Processing and Electronic Specialists Conference 1972, Saint Louis, MO, USA, 1997, pp. 133-138 vol.1.
- [40] CIGRE WG B4-57, "Guide for the development of models for HVDC converters in a HVDC grid," WG brochure, 2014.
- [41] *Electromagnetic Transient Program (EMTP) Rule Book*, Bonneville Power Administration.
- [42] PSCAD X4 User's Guide. Winnipeg, MB, Canada, Manitoba HVDC Res. Ctr., 2009.
- [43] H. Saad, C. Dufour, J. Mahseredjian, S. Dennetière, S. Nguefeu, "Real Time simulation of MMCs using the State-Space Nodal Approach", *International Conference on Power Systems Transients*, Vancouver, BC, Canada, July 2013
- [44] F. Yu, W. Lin, X. Wang and D. Xie, "Fast Voltage-Balancing Control and Fast Numerical Simulation Model for the Modular Multilevel Converter," in *IEEE Transactions on Power Delivery*, vol. 30, no. 1, pp. 220-228, Feb. 2015.
- [45] J. Xu, C. Zhao, W. Liu and C. Guo, "Accelerated Model of Modular Multilevel Converters in PSCAD/EMTDC," in *IEEE Transactions on Power Delivery*, vol. 28, no. 1, pp. 129-136, Jan. 2013.
- [46] G. P. Adam and B. W. Williams, "Half- and Full-Bridge Modular Multilevel Converter Models for Simulations of Full-Scale HVDC Links and Multiterminal DC Grids," in *IEEE Journal of Emerging and Selected Topics in Power Electronics*, vol. 2, no. 4, pp. 1089-1108, Dec. 2014.
- [47] F. B. Ajaei and R. Iravani, "Enhanced Equivalent Model of the Modular Multilevel Converter," in *IEEE Transactions on Power Delivery*, vol. 30, no. 2, pp. 666-673, April 2015.
- [48] H. Saad, K. Jacobs, W. Lin and D. Jovcic, "Modelling of MMC including halfbridge and Full-bridge submodules for EMT study," 2016 Power Systems Computation Conference (PSCC), Genoa, 2016, pp. 1-7.

- [49] G. P. Adam, *et al.*, "Generalized switching function model of modular multilevel converter," in 2015 IEEE International Conference on Industrial Technology (ICIT), 2015, pp. 2702-2707.
- [50] S. R. Sanders, J. M. Noworolski, X. Z. Liu and G. C. Verghese, "Generalized averaging method for power conversion circuits," in *IEEE Transactions on Power Electronics*, vol. 6, no. 2, pp. 251-259, April 1991.
- [51] J. G. Slootweg, H. Polinder and W. L. Kling, "Representing wind turbine electrical generating systems in fundamental frequency simulations," in *IEEE Transactions on Energy Conversion*, vol. 18, no. 4, pp. 516-524, Dec. 2003.
- [52] A. Yazdani and R. Iravani, "Dynamic model and control of the NPC-based backto-back HVDC system," in *IEEE Transactions on Power Delivery*, vol. 21, no. 1, pp. 414-424, Jan. 2006.
- [53] S. Chiniforoosh *et al.*, "Definitions and Applications of Dynamic Average Models for Analysis of Power Systems," in *IEEE Transactions on Power Delivery*, vol. 25, no. 4, pp. 2655-2669, Oct. 2010.
- [54] S. P. Teeuwsen, "Simplified dynamic model of a voltage-sourced converter with modular multilevel converter design," *2009 IEEE/PES Power Systems Conference and Exposition*, Seattle, WA, 2009, pp. 1-6.
- [55] J. Peralta, H. Saad, S. Dennetiere, J. Mahseredjian and S. Nguefeu, "Detailed and Averaged Models for a 401-Level MMC–HVDC System," in *IEEE Transactions* on *Power Delivery*, vol. 27, no. 3, pp. 1501-1508, July 2012.
- [56] J. Xu, A. M. Gole and C. Zhao, "The Use of Averaged-Value Model of Modular Multilevel Converter in DC Grid," in *IEEE Transactions on Power Delivery*, vol. 30, no. 2, pp. 519-528, April 2015.
- [57] A. Beddard, C. E. Sheridan, M. Barnes and T. C. Green, "Improved Accuracy Average Value Models of Modular Multilevel Converters," in *IEEE Transactions* on *Power Delivery*, vol. 31, no. 5, pp. 2260-2269, Oct. 2016.
- [58] H. W. Dommel, "Digital Computer Solution of Electromagnetic Transients in Single-and Multiphase Networks," in *IEEE Transactions on Power Apparatus* and Systems, vol. PAS-88, no. 4, pp. 388-399, April 1969.
- [59] P. M. Menghal and A. J. Laxmi, "Real time simulation: Recent progress & challenges," 2012 International Conference on Power, Signals, Controls and Computation, Thrissur, Kerala, 2012, pp. 1-6.
- [60] J. R. Marti and L. R. Linares, "Real-time EMTP-based transients simulation," in *IEEE Transactions on Power Systems*, vol. 9, no. 3, pp. 1309-1317, Aug. 1994.
- [61] R. S. Whitehouse, C. D. M. Oates, J. Maneiro and N. M. MacLeod, "A new simulator laboratory for research and development of VSC HVDC topologies and control algorithms," 9th IET International Conference on AC and DC Power Transmission (ACDC 2010), London, 2010, pp. 1-5.
- [62] C. Yang, Y. Xue, X. Zhang, Y. Zhang and Y. Chen, "Real-Time FPGA-RTDS Co-Simulator for Power Systems," in *IEEE Access*, vol. 6, pp. 44917-44926, 2018.

- [63] R. Kuffel, J. Giesbrecht, T. Maguire, R. P. Wierckx and P. McLaren, "RTDS-a fully digital power system simulator operating in real time," Proceedings 1995 International Conference on Energy Management and Power Delivery EMPD '95, Singapore, 1995, pp. 498-503 vol.2, doi: 10.1109/EMPD.1995.500778.
- [64] T. Ould-Bachir, H. Saad, S. Dennetière and J. Mahseredjian, "CPU/FPGA-Based Real-Time Simulation of a Two-Terminal MMC-HVDC System," in *IEEE Transactions on Power Delivery*, vol. 32, no. 2, pp. 647-655, April 2017.
- [65] H. Saad, T. Ould-Bachir, J. Mahseredjian, C. Dufour, S. Dennetière and S. Nguefeu, "Real-Time Simulation of MMCs Using CPU and FPGA," in *IEEE Transactions on Power Electronics*, vol. 30, no. 1, pp. 259-267, Jan. 2015.
- [66] M. Matar and R. Iravani, "FPGA Implementation of the Power Electronic Converter Model for Real-Time Simulation of Electromagnetic Transients," in IEEE Transactions on Power Delivery, vol. 25, no. 2, pp. 852-860, April 2010.
- [67] W. Li and J. Belanger, "An FPGA-based real-time HIL test bench for full-bridge modular multilevel STATCOM controller," 2015 17th European Conference on Power Electronics and Applications (EPE'15 ECCE-Europe), Geneva, 2015, pp. 1-10.
- [68] R. Wierckx and S. Elimban, "Real-time performance of FPGA-based MMC valves for HVDC systems," *IECON 2015 - 41st Annual Conference of the IEEE Industrial Electronics Society*, Yokohama, 2015, pp. 004506-004512.
- [69] "National Grid Electricity Ten Year Statement," National Grid Electricity Transmission plc. [Online]. Available: <u>https://www.nationalgrideso.com/publications/electricity-ten-year-statement-</u> <u>etys</u>, [Accessed 19 Feb. 2020], (2019).
- [70] B. Kroposki *et al.*, "Achieving a 100% Renewable Grid: Operating Electric Power Systems with Extremely High Levels of Variable Renewable Energy," in *IEEE Power and Energy Magazine*, vol. 15, no. 2, pp. 61-73, March-April 2017.
- [71] R. D. Middlebrook, "Input filter considerations in design and application of switching regulators", *Proc. IEEE Ind. Appl. Soc. Conf.*, pp. 91-107, 1976-Oct.
- [72] Xiaogang Feng, Jinjun Liu and F. C. Lee, "Impedance specifications for stable DC distributed power systems," in *IEEE Transactions on Power Electronics*, vol. 17, no. 2, pp. 157-162, March 2002.
- [73] R. E. Serrano-Finetti and R. Pallas-Areny, "Output Impedance Measurement in Power Sources and Conditioners," 2007 IEEE Instrumentation & Measurement Technology Conference IMTC 2007, Warsaw, 2007, pp. 1-5.
- [74] J. Sun, "Impedance-Based Stability Criterion for Grid-Connected Inverters," in *IEEE Transactions on Power Electronics*, vol. 26, no. 11, pp. 3075-3078, Nov. 2011.
- [75] R. Luhtala, T. Roinila and T. Messo, "Implementation of Real-Time Impedance-Based Stability Assessment of Grid-Connected Systems Using MIMO-Identification Techniques," in *IEEE Transactions on Industry Applications*, vol. 54, no. 5, pp. 5054-5063, Sept.-Oct. 2018.

- [76] J. Lyu, X. Zhang, X. Cai and M. Molinas, "Harmonic State-Space Based Small-Signal Impedance Modeling of a Modular Multilevel Converter With Consideration of Internal Harmonic Dynamics," in *IEEE Transactions on Power Electronics*, vol. 34, no. 3, pp. 2134-2148, March 2019.
- [77] Y. Zhang, X. Chen and J. Sun, "Sequence Impedance Modeling and Analysis of MMC in Single-Star Configuration," in *IEEE Transactions on Power Electronics*, vol. 35, no. 1, pp. 334-346, Jan. 2020.
- [78] Z. Xu, B. Li, S. Wang, S. Zhang and D. Xu, "Generalized Single-Phase Harmonic State Space Modeling of the Modular Multilevel Converter With Zero-Sequence Voltage Compensation," in *IEEE Transactions on Industrial Electronics*, vol. 66, no. 8, pp. 6416-6426, Aug. 2019.
- [79] Y. Ma, H. Lin, Z. Wang and Z. Ze, "Stability analysis of modular multilevel converter based on harmonic state-space theory," in *IET Power Electronics*, vol. 12, no. 15, pp. 3987-3997, 18 12 2019.
- [80] J. Sun and H. Liu, "Sequence Impedance Modeling of Modular Multilevel Converters," in *IEEE Journal of Emerging and Selected Topics in Power Electronics*, vol. 5, no. 4, pp. 1427-1443, Dec. 2017.
- [81] Ö. C. Sakinci and J. Beerten, "Generalized Dynamic Phasor Modeling of the MMC for Small-Signal Stability Analysis," in *IEEE Transactions on Power Delivery*, vol. 34, no. 3, pp. 991-1000, June 2019.
- [82] B. Wen, D. Boroyevich, R. Burgos, P. Mattavelli and Z. Shen, "Small-Signal Stability Analysis of Three-Phase AC Systems in the Presence of Constant Power Loads Based on Measured d-q Frame Impedances," in *IEEE Transactions on Power Electronics*, vol. 30, no. 10, pp. 5952-5963, Oct. 2015.
- [83] B. Wen, D. Boroyevich, R. Burgos, P. Mattavelli and Z. Shen, "Analysis of D-Q Small-Signal Impedance of Grid-Tied Inverters," in *IEEE Transactions on Power Electronics*, vol. 31, no. 1, pp. 675-687, Jan. 2016.
- [84] Jinjun Liu, Xiaogang Feng, F. C. Lee and D. Borojevich, "Stability margin monitoring for DC distributed power systems via perturbation approaches," in *IEEE Transactions on Power Electronics*, vol. 18, no. 6, pp. 1254-1261, Nov. 2003.
- [85] J. Sun, K. J. Karimi, "Input impedance modeling of line-frequency rectifiers for aircraft power system stability analysis", *IEEE Trans. Aerosp. Electron. Syst.*, vol. 44, no. 1, pp. 217-226, Jan. 2008.
- [86] Y. A. Familiant, J. Huang, K. A. Corzine, M. Belkhayat, "New techniques for measuring impedance characteristics of three-phase AC power systems", *IEEE Trans. Power Electron.*, vol. 24, no. 7, pp. 1802-1810, Jul. 2009.
- [87] V. Valdivia, A. Lzaro, A. Barrado, P. Zumel, C. Fernandez, M. Sanz, "Impedance identification procedure of three-phase balanced voltage source inverters based on transient response measurements", *IEEE Trans. Power Electron.*, vol. 26, no. 12, pp. 3810-3816, Dec. 2011.
- [88] J. Huang, K. A. Corzine and M. Belkhayat, "Small-Signal Impedance Measurement of Power-Electronics-Based AC Power Systems Using Line-to-Line Current Injection," in *IEEE Transactions on Power Electronics*, vol. 24, no. 2, pp. 445-455, Feb. 2009.

- [89] Xiaogang Feng, Jinjun Liu and F. C. Lee, "Impedance specifications for stable DC distributed power systems," in *IEEE Transactions on Power Electronics*, vol. 17, no. 2, pp. 157-162, March 2002.
- [90] Z. Staroszczyk, "A method for real-time, wide-band identification of the source impedance in power systems," *IEEE Trans. Instrum. Meas.*, vol. 54, pp. 377-385, 2005.
- [91] T. Roinila, T. Messo, E. Santi, "MIMO-identification techniques for rapid impedance-based stability assessment of three-phase systems in dq domain", *IEEE Trans. Power Electron.*, vol. 33, no. 5, pp. 4015-4022, May 2018.
- [92] M. Sumner, B. Palethorpe, D. W. P. Thomas, P. Zanchetta, and M. C. Di Piazza, "A technique for power supply harmonic impedance estimation using a controlled voltage disturbance," *IEEE Trans. Power Electron.*, vol. 17, pp. 207-215, Mar 2002.
- [93] D. Martin, E. Santi, and A. Barkley, "Wide bandwidth system identification of AC system impedances by applying perturbations to an existing converter," in Proc. 2011 IEEE ECCE, pp. 2549-2556, Sept. 2011.
- [94] M. Jordan, H. Langkowski, T. Do Thanh, and D. Schulz, "Frequency dependent grid-impedance determination with pulse-width-modulation signals," in Proc. IEEE 7th Int. Conf.-Workshop CPE 2011, pp. 131-136, Jun. 2011.
- [95] T. Messo, R. Luhtala, T. Roinila, D. Yang, X. Wang and F. Blaabjerg, "Real-time impedance-based stability assessment of grid converter interactions," 2017 IEEE 18th Workshop on Control and Modeling for Power Electronics (COMPEL), Stanford, CA, 2017, pp. 1-8.
- [96] F. Yu, W. Lin, X. Wang and D. Xie, "Fast Voltage-Balancing Control and Fast Numerical Simulation Model for the Modular Multilevel Converter," in *IEEE Transactions on Power Delivery*, vol. 30, no. 1, pp. 220-228, Feb. 2015.
- [97] D. Siemaszko, "Fast Sorting Method for Balancing Capacitor Voltages in Modular Multilevel Converters," in *IEEE Transactions on Power Electronics*, vol. 30, no. 1, pp. 463-470, Jan. 2015.
- [98] K. Wang, Y. Deng, W. Li, H. Peng, G. Chen and X. He, "Fundamental frequency sorting strategy for capacitor voltage balance of modular multilevel converters with phase disposition PWM," 2016 IEEE Applied Power Electronics Conference and Exposition (APEC), Long Beach, CA, 2016, pp. 1450-1455.
- [99] H. Yang and M. Saeedifard, "A Capacitor Voltage Balancing Strategy With Minimized AC Circulating Current for the DC–DC Modular Multilevel Converter," in *IEEE Transactions on Industrial Electronics*, vol. 64, no. 2, pp. 956-965, Feb. 2017.
- [100] S. Rohner, S. Bernet, M. Hiller and R. Sommer, "Modulation, Losses, and Semiconductor Requirements of Modular Multilevel Converters," in *IEEE Transactions on Industrial Electronics*, vol. 57, no. 8, pp. 2633-2642, Aug. 2010.
- [101] Hong-Seok Song and Kwanghee Nam, "Dual current control scheme for PWM converter under unbalanced input voltage conditions," in *IEEE Transactions on Industrial Electronics*, vol. 46, no. 5, pp. 953-959, Oct. 1999.
- [102] Lie Xu, B. R. Andersen and P. Cartwright, "VSC transmission operating under unbalanced AC conditions - analysis and control design," in *IEEE Transactions on Power Delivery*, vol. 20, no. 1, pp. 427-434, Jan. 2005.

- [103] A. Yazdani and R. Iravani, "A unified dynamic model and control for the voltagesourced converter under unbalanced grid conditions," in *IEEE Transactions on Power Delivery*, vol. 21, no. 3, pp. 1620-1629, July 2006.
- [104] M. Guan and Z. Xu, "Modeling and Control of a Modular Multilevel Converter-Based HVDC System Under Unbalanced Grid Conditions," in *IEEE Transactions* on *Power Electronics*, vol. 27, no. 12, pp. 4858-4867, Dec. 2012.
- [105] A. Antonopoulos, L. Angquist, H. P. Nee, "On dynamics and voltage control of the modular multilevel converter", *Proc. Eur. Conf. Power Electron. Appl.*, pp. 1-10, 2009.
- [106] Qingrui Tu, Zheng Xu, H. Huang and Jing Zhang, "Parameter design principle of the arm inductor in modular multilevel converter based HVDC," 2010 International Conference on Power System Technology, Hangzhou, 2010, pp. 1-6.
- [107] Q. Tu, Z. Xu and L. Xu, "Reduced Switching-Frequency Modulation and Circulating Current Suppression for Modular Multilevel Converters," in *IEEE Transactions on Power Delivery*, vol. 26, no. 3, pp. 2009-2017, July 2011.
- [108] S. Li, X. Wang, Z. Yao, T. Li and Z. Peng, "Circulating Current Suppressing Strategy for MMC-HVDC Based on Nonideal Proportional Resonant Controllers Under Unbalanced Grid Conditions," in *IEEE Transactions on Power Electronics*, vol. 30, no. 1, pp. 387-397, Jan. 2015, doi: 10.1109/TPEL.2014.2329059.
- [109] L. Angquist, A. Antonopoulos, D. Siemaszko, K. Ilves, M. Vasiladiotis and H. Nee, "Open-Loop Control of Modular Multilevel Converters Using Estimation of Stored Energy," in *IEEE Transactions on Industry Applications*, vol. 47, no. 6, pp. 2516-2524, Nov.-Dec. 2011.
- [110] A. Antonopoulos, L. Ängquist, L. Harnefors, K. Ilves and H. Nee, "Global Asymptotic Stability of Modular Multilevel Converters," in *IEEE Transactions* on *Industrial Electronics*, vol. 61, no. 2, pp. 603-612, Feb. 2014.
- [111] R. Lizana, M. A. Perez, S. Bernet, J. R. Espinoza and J. Rodriguez, "Control of Arm Capacitor Voltages in Modular Multilevel Converters," in *IEEE Transactions on Power Electronics*, vol. 31, no. 2, pp. 1774-1784, Feb. 2016.
- [112] L. Yong, C. Rehtanz, S. Ruberg, L. Longfu and C. Yijia, "Assessment and Choice of Input Signals for Multiple HVDC and FACTS Wide-Area Damping Controllers," *Power Systems, IEEE Transactions on*, vol. 27, pp. 1969-1977, 2012.
- [113] X. Wang, M. Carrasco, F. Mancilla-David and D. Connors, "Accelerating detailed simulations of an HVDC system based on modular multilevel converters in a multi-core environment," in *North American Power Symposium (NAPS)*, 2015, 2015, pp. 1-6.
- [114] S. Liu, Z. Xu, W. Hua, G. Tang and Y. Xue, "Electromechanical Transient Modeling of Modular Multilevel Converter Based Multi-Terminal HVDC Systems," *IEEE Transactions on Power Systems*, vol. 29, pp. 72-83, 2014.
- [115] A. Beddard, M. Barnes and R. Preece, "Comparison of Detailed Modeling Techniques for MMC Employed on VSC-HVDC Schemes," in IEEE Transactions on Power Delivery, vol. 30, no. 2, pp. 579-589, April 2015, doi: 10.1109/TPWRD.2014.2325065.

- [116] V. Najmi, M. N. Nazir and R. Burgos, "A new modeling approach for Modular Multilevel Converter (MMC) in D-Q frame," 2015 IEEE Applied Power Electronics Conference and Exposition (APEC), Charlotte, NC, 2015, pp. 2710-2717, doi: 10.1109/APEC.2015.7104734.
- [117] S. D. A. Fletcher, P. J. Norman, K. Fong, S. J. Galloway and G. M. Burt, "High-Speed Differential Protection for Smart DC Distribution Systems," in IEEE Transactions on Smart Grid, vol. 5, no. 5, pp. 2610-2617, Sept. 2014, doi: 10.1109/TSG.2014.2306064.
- [118] A. Nami, et al., "Modular Multilevel Converters for HVDC Applications: Review on Converter Cells and Functionalities," *IEEE Transactions on Power Electronics*, vol. 30, pp. 18-36, 2015.
- [119] R. Zeng, L. Xu, L. Yao and B. W. Williams, "Design and Operation of a Hybrid Modular Multilevel Converter," *Power Electronics, IEEE Transactions on*, vol. 30, pp. 1137-1146, 2015.
- [120] R. Li, J. Wu, L. Yao, Y. Li and B. Williams, "Hybrid modular multilevel converter with reduced three-level cells in HVDC transmission system," in 2016 IEEE 8th International Power Electronics and Motion Control Conference (IPEMC-ECCE Asia), 2016, pp. 708-712.
- [121] H. Barnklau, *et al.*, "Derivation of an equivalent submodule per arm for modular multilevel converters," in *Power Electronics and Motion Control Conference* (*EPE/PEMC*), 2012 15th International, 2012, pp. LS2a.2-1-LS2a.2-5.
- [122] N. Ahmed, *et al.*, "A Computationally Efficient Continuous Model for the Modular Multilevel Converter," *Emerging and Selected Topics in Power Electronics, IEEE Journal of,* vol. PP, pp. 1-1, 2014.
- [123] D. Guo, *et al.*, "Detailed quantitative comparison of half-bridge modular multilevel converter modelling methods," presented at the The 14th IET International Conference on AC and DC Power Transmission (ACDC 2018), China, 2018.
- [124] F. C. Lee and Y. Yu, "Input-Filter Design for Switching Regulators," in *IEEE Transactions on Aerospace and Electronic Systems*, vol. AES-15, no. 5, pp. 627-634, Sept. 1979.
- [125] M. Cespedes and J. Sun, "Renewable Energy Systems Instability Involving Grid-Parallel Inverters," 2009 Twenty-Fourth Annual IEEE Applied Power Electronics Conference and Exposition, Washington, DC, 2009, pp. 1971-1977.
- [126] M. Cespedes and J. Sun, "Impedance Modeling and Analysis of Grid-Connected Voltage-Source Converters," in *IEEE Transactions on Power Electronics*, vol. 29, no. 3, pp. 1254-1261, March 2014.
- [127] G. Amico, A. Egea-Àlvarez, P. Brogan and S. Zhang, "Small-Signal Converter Admittance in the pn-Frame: Systematic Derivation and Analysis of the Cross-Coupling Terms," in *IEEE Transactions on Energy Conversion*, vol. 34, no. 4, pp. 1829-1838, Dec. 2019.
- [128] X. Jun. A. Dysko. "UK transmission system modelling and validation for dynamic studies", *4th IEEE/PES ISGT Europe (ISGT EUROPE)*, 2013.

[129] CIGRE WG C4.502, "Power System Technical Performance Issues Related to the Application of Long HVAC Cables", Oct. 2013.

Appendix: List of publications and reports

The list of publications based on this thesis is as follows:

 D. Guo, M. Rahman, G. P. Adam, L. Xu, A. Emhemed, G. Burt, Y. Audichya, "Detailed quantitative comparison of half-bridge modular multilevel converter modelling methods," in *The Journal of Engineering*, vol. 2019, no. 16, pp. 1292-1298, 3 2019.

Abstract:

This paper presents a detailed comparison of different modelling methods of the half-bridge modular multilevel converter (HB-MMC), namely, switching function, Thevenin equivalent, and averaged, considering both MMC implementations (large and reduced number of cells). The theoretical basis that underpins each modelling method are discussed. Offline PSCAD simulations are used to validate user-defined switching function and averaged MMC models against the Thevenin equivalent model provided in PSCAD library for accuracy, considering steadystate and DC fault conditions. Furthermore, the RTDS based real-time simulation results of the user-defined HB-MMC switching function model are validated against the above mentioned offline models, considering steady-state and DC short circuit fault operations. Simulation speed and efficiency of different offline HB-MMC models being studied here are compared. From comprehensive corroboration of different HB-MMC models presented here, it has been found that the averaged, switching function and Thevenin equivalent models produce practically identical results during steady-state and DC faults. In detailed offline and real-time simulation studies where fundamental and harmonic dynamics are of interest, switching function model is found to be faster and computational efficient compared to the Thevenin equivalent model.

 D. Guo, M. Rahman, G. P. Adam, L. Xu, A. Emhemed, G. Burt, Y. Audichya, "Interoperability of different voltage source converter topologies in HVDC grids," 15th IET International Conference on AC and DC Power Transmission (ACDC 2019), Coventry, UK, 2019, pp. 1-6.

Abstract:

This paper presents a detailed study of DC grid operation using a range of userdefined offline and real-time HVDC converter models which were rigorously validated against offline and real-time benchmarks. Provided that these models are destined for use in real-time hardware in the loop simulation and a wide range of offline system studies, this paper assesses their suitability for studying complex DC grids that consist of multiple voltage source converters which differ in their control range and fault ride-through capabilities. Detailed quantitative studies show that the offline and real-time DC grid models produce well matched results and provide efficient approaches to investigate DC grid operation during normal condition and AC and DC faults.

 R. Li, L. Xu and D. Guo, "Accelerated switching function model of hybrid MMCs for HVDC system simulation," in *IET Power Electronics*, vol. 10, no. 15, pp. 2199-2207, 15 12 2017.

Abstract:

An accelerated switching function model (SFM) of the hybrid modular multilevel converter comprising both full-bridge (FB) and half-bridge (HB) submodules (SMs) in each arm is presented for HVDC system simulation, where auxiliary circuits are adopted to represent all possible current paths during normal and fault conditions. The proposed SFM can represent the negative voltage generating capability of the FB SMs and the equivalent switching functions in the blocking states of the FB and HB SMs are also introduced in the proposed model to accurately replicate the potential charging of the SM capacitors, yielding improved simulation accuracy compared to other alternatives. In addition to the faster simulation speed, the proposed model accurately reproduces the converter behaviour during various operating conditions, including normal operation, AC

fault, DC fault and so on. The proposed SFMs are assessed in MATLAB/Simulink environment using both down- and full-scale HVDC links and the simulation results confirm the validity of the proposed model in terms of model accuracy and improved simulation speed.

- M. Rahman, D. Guo, G. Adam and A. Emhemed, "Converter and GB network modelling Report I: Development and Validation of Offline and Real-time Userdefined Models of Alternative MMC Configurations," April 2018, the National HVDC Centre [Online]. Available: <u>http://www.hvdccentre.com/open-sourceconverters/</u>, [Accessed 29 March. 2020].
- D. Guo, M. Rahman, G. Adam and A. Emhemed, "Converter and GB network modelling Report II: Validation of Real-time User-defined MMC Models," Agust 2018, the National HVDC Centre [Online]. Available: http://www.hvdccentre.com/open-source-converters/, [Accessed 29 March. 2020].
- D. Guo, M. Rahman, G. Adam and A. Emhemed, "Converter and GB network modelling Report III: Offline DC grid model development," September 2018, the National HVDC Centre [Online]. Available: <u>http://www.hvdccentre.com/opensource-converters/</u>, [Accessed 29 March. 2020].
- D. Guo, M. Rahman, G. Adam and A. Emhemed, "Converter and GB network modelling Report IV: Development and Validation of Offline and Real-time Userdefined Models of Alternative MMC Configurations," September 2018, the National HVDC Centre [Online]. Available: <u>http://www.hvdccentre.com/opensource-converters/</u>, [Accessed 29 March. 2020].
- D. Guo, M. Rahman, G. Adam and A. Emhemed, "Converter and GB network modelling Report V: DC Grid with User-defined Converter Models: Validation of Real-Time Model in RTDS against Offline Equivalents in PSCAD/EMTDC Environment," October 2018, the National HVDC Centre [Online]. Available: <u>http://www.hvdccentre.com/open-source-converters/</u>, [Accessed 29 March. 2020].

- D. Guo, Y. Chen, A. Egea and G. Amico, "Stability Assessment and Mitigation HVDC Converter Interactions Report I: Development and Validation of MMC Converter Impedance Models," October 2019, the National HVDC Centre.
- D. Guo, Y. Chen and L. Xu, "Stability Assessment and Mitigation HVDC Converter Interactions Report II: Development of Typical AC Network Configuration for Converter Interaction Study," Feburary 2020, the National HVDC Centre.